
CONSOLIDATED 
ANNUAL REPORT 
2020

SEV.EN ENERGY AG



Table Of Contents

3  Group Introduction

4 Consolidated Management report

8  Information on Sustainable Development

10  Definition and Calculation of Indicators 

Unspecified in IFRS

11  Consolidated Financial Statements 

as at 31 December 2020

109  Auditor’s Report

2Sev.en Energy AG Consolidated annual report of Sev.en Energy AG for the year ended 31 December 2020 (in thousands of EUR)



Group 
Introduction

Sev.en Energy is a growing international 

energy group which sees its key 

strength in ownership and efficient and 

environmentally sustainable operation 

of conventional power generation and 

mining assets. We are part of the critical 

energy infrastructure, our objective is to 

provide reliable electricity supply and to 

support the stability of the energy grid. 

We strongly believe that conventional 

energy will play a key role in the 

transition of energy systems towards 

renewable energy and we are ready to 

support this transition.

The Sev.en Energy group (the “Sev.en 

Energy Group” or “Group”) is organized 

around three main activities including 

(i) lignite mining, (ii) production of 

heat and electricity and (iii) energy 

commodities trading including coal and 

emission allowances in Europe-wide 

commodity markets., which is performed 

by Sev.en Commodities AG the trading 

company of the Group. Sev.en 

Commodities AG is a member of the 

European Federation of Energy Traders 

(EFET) and owns all necessary licenses 

and registrations for trade with energy 

commodities.

In the Czech Republic, we operate 

combined heat and power plants 

(CHP) of Teplárna Kladno s.r.o. and 

Teplárna Zlín s.r.o., and two lignite 

fired power plants in Chvaletice and 

Počerady (Elektrárna Chvaletice a.s. 

and Elektrárna Počerady, a.s. 

(The Počerady plant was acquired 

as of 31 December 2020). In 2020, 

the extensive modernisation of the 

Chvaletice power plant continued. 

The refurbishment is aimed at reducing 

emissions and meeting the strict 

European environmental protection 

standards. Also, the installation of a new 

facility for reducing nitrogen emissions 

was successfully completed in the plant 

in Zlín. Our most modern facility is the 

CHP plant in Kladno, which was put into 

operation between 2000 and 2013. The 

plant complies with the strict Czech 

environmental limits as well as with the 

new EU regulations effective from 2021. 

In Kladno we operate three units using 

a fuel mix with a proportion of biomass, 

and two flexible gas turbines. A fuel mix 

with a proportion of biomass and biogas 

is also used at the Zlín CHP plant.

In the lignite mining segment, the 

Group operates two mining companies 

Severní energetická a.s. and Vršanská 

uhelná a.s.. Vršanská uhelná a.s. 

operates in the location of Vršany, in 

the central part of the North Bohemian 

Brown Coal Basin and has the largest 

extractable lignite reserves in the 

Czech Republic. Severní energetická a.s. 

operates the mining site Československé 

armády (ČSA), including the coal 

crushing plant and the Komořany 

Coal Processing Plant. The ČSA mine 

has reserves of the highest quality 

extractable lignite in the Czech Republic. 

Důl Kohinoor a.s., a deep coal mine 

finished mining of residual reserves on 

the side slopes of the ČSA mine in 2020.

We believe the renewal and creation of 

land resources in the area affected by 

industrial activity is a natural part of 

our work and the Group’s commitment. 

We focus on restoration of mining areas 

in the North Bohemian region. The aim 

of the reclamation is to create a new, 

multifunctional landscape, respecting 

future needs of the region.

The Sev.en Energy Group has a long 

standing reputation of a good and stable 

employer. Our main HR priorities include 

occupational health and safety, fair 

remuneration and corporate ethics. 

In 2020 we continued to maintain a very 

low accident frequency rate. Teplárna 

Kladno s.r.o. reached a new record 

of 16 years without any serious job-

related accidents. The Group has not 

received any complaints regarding any 

human rights violations, discrimination, 

corruption or unethical behaviour from 

any of the Group companies.
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Consolidated 
Management 
Report

Principal activities and nature of the Group operations 

Major activities of the Group include lignite mining, heat and electricity production and energy commodities trading The Group 

also invests into metallurgical coal mining and energy production companies outside the Czech Republic.

The direct owner of the Group is TILIA FOUNDATION.

Review of current position, future developments and financial performance of the Grouṕ s business

The Group’s development, financial results and market position as presented in the consolidated financial statements below 

prove the Group’s growing strength. In 2020, the Group achieved consolidated revenues of MEUR 694, generated profit before tax 

of MEUR 38 and Net Income of MEUR 24. The results of 2020 were only partially affected by the Covid-19 pandemic, mainly due 

to the successful hedging strategy of pre-selling electricity and purchasing emission allowances for generation for several years 

ahead. Due to the active and timely execution of the Group’s strategy as per the key financial and performance indicators for 

2020, the financials, once adjusted for one-off events, were relatively comparable to the previous financial year.

Key financial metrics of the Group as presented in the Consolidated Financial Statements and other sections of the Consolidated 

Annual Report are presented in the table below:

Financial indicator – in TEUR 2020 2019

Revenue 693,949 548,552

EBITDA 187,991 209,658

Adjusted Net Income 58,248 80,345

Operating profit / (loss)* 49,562 249,462

Profit / (loss) for the period* 23,788 199,775

* The 2019 results were significantly influenced by the one-off gain from bargain purchase of TEUR 107,861 relating to the Teplárna Kladno plant. 

For the definitions of non-IFRS indicators see definitions on pages 10.
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Principal risks 
and uncertainties

The preparation of consolidated 

financial statements in conformity 

with IFRS standards requires the use of 

certain critical accounting estimates 

and requires Management to exercise 

its judgement in the process of applying 

the Grouṕ s accounting policies. It 

also requires the use of assumptions 

that affect the reported amounts of 

assets and liabilities and disclosure of 

contingent assets and liabilities at the 

date of the financial statements and 

the reported amounts of revenues and 

expenses during the reporting period. 

Although these estimates are based 

on Management ś best knowledge 

of current events and actions, actual 

results may ultimately differ from those 

estimates.

Estimates and judgements are 

continually evaluated and are based on 

historical experience and other factors, 

including expectations of future events 

that are believed to be reasonable 

under the circumstances. The Group 

is exposed to a variety of risks through 

its daily operations. The risk strategy 

supports proper balancing between 

risk and expected return. Individual 

thresholds are continuously monitored 

and reported. The Group established 

distinct responsibilities for each line, 

ensuring an appropriate segregation of 

duties. Any breaches of valid policies or 

mandates must be reported on a daily 

basis. 

The estimates and assumptions that 

have a significant risk of causing 

a material adjustment to the carrying 

amounts of assets and liabilities within 

the next financial year are described 

below:

• Market risk

The value of open commodity position 

can change anytime due to fluctuating 

market conditions. Main key factors are 

fluctuating commodity prices, variable 

electricity production and consumption 

levels, development of foreign exchange 

rates. Protection against all those risks 

stated above is managed via specific 

mandates and limits set up for each 

individual trading level and type of 

transaction. The Group also developed 

a monitoring process with several 

warning levels and stop-loss limits to 

ensure timely action is taken.

• Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss 

resulting from a counterparty failing 

to meet contractual obligations. Each 

counterparty’s financial position is 

reviewed through KYC (Know Your 

Customer) initial process before 

any contract is signed. Credit lines 

are determined for each individual 

counterparty and additional security tools 

are in some cases used (bank guarantees, 

parent Group guarantees etc.).

The Group did not face any significant 

insolvency or any other payment issues 

in 2020.

• Liquidity risk

This risk is primarily understood to 

happen in case the Group would not 

be able to meet its liabilities towards 

the market organizer or towards its 

counterparts. The Group is maintaining 

sufficient cash and other highly liquid 

current assets and by having available 

an adequate amount of committed credit 

facilities. The Group also monitors and 

predicts the amount of cash needed for 

its daily business processes, especially 

for its trading activities and the daily 

clearing of the positions traded on the 

energy and commodity exchanges. 
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A specific strategy has been adopted in 

2020 to balance our hedging positions 

in power and emissions, so that the 

positions on the exchanges offset each 

other thus minimizing cash margin calls.

• Hedging strategy

Hedging strategy is based on the clean 

power spread hedging – i.e. sales of 

electricity and purchase of EUAs. The 

hedging rules are aiming to maximize 

profitability, i.e. to lock in production 

for next 1-2 years when the spread is in 

highly profitable ranges. In response to 

the breakout of the Covid-19 pandemic 

in winter 2020 almost 100% of the 

expected electricity production of 

2021 has been hedged in spring 2020. 

Also a significant amount of hedge is 

maintained for years 2022 and 2023. 

Key developments in 2020 

Sev.en Energy Group has acquired a new 

lignite-fired power plant Elektárna 

Počerady as of 31 December 2020 

(a 1000 MW lignite power station 

sourcing coal from Group’s Vršany 

coal mine). This was a key contribution 

to further vertical integration of the 

Group, the Počerady power plant is the 

largest customer for lignite from the 

Vršany mine. The acquirer of Elektrárna 

Počerady a.s. was Vršanská uhelná a.s. 

This acquisition significantly increases 

the operational flexibility of Sev.en 

Energy Group as it adds another 

5 power plant blocs with an output of 

200 MW each to the Group’s installed 

total capacity and enables Group 

to optimize its electricity output to 

benefit from hourly fluctuations in 

electricity prices. The acquisition price 

was TEUR 95,256 payable in November 

2023 and TEUR 25,150 payable in June 

2021 (in nominal terms), for more details 

please refer to the attached financial 

statements.

As of 31 December 2020 a coal sale 

agreement between Vršanská uhelná a.s. 

and ČEZ has been terminated and 

instead an agreement was concluded 

between Sev.en Commodities AG and 

ČEZ on the sale of electricity (net of 

emission allowances) for the 3 year 

period ending 31 December 2023. 

On 18 May 2020 several companies 

within the Group concluded an 

amendment to the agreement with 

a financing bank on a Credit Line which 

increased current credit line of MEUR 110 

by additional MEUR 20. On 19 June 2020 

a Group company concluded a new 

credit agreement with a financing bank 

in the amount of MCZK 415 (MEUR 16). 

During 2020 the demand for electricity 

and other commodities and their prices 

fluctuated significantly, driven by the 

Covid-19 pandemic. The Group had 

adopted strict measures to be able to 

maintain a reliable supply of electricity 

and heat in all circumstances, while 

maximally protecting employees. Due 

to the multi-year hedging strategy the 

Group was not significantly impacted 

and was able to adjust production and 

operations accordingly. 
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Expectations for near future

In December 2020 the commission 

designated by the Czech government 

recommended a phaseout of electricity 

generation from coal by the Czech 

Republic by 2038, the same year as 

Germany. The Czech government 

has taken this recommendation into 

consideration in 2021 but no binding 

regulations or other steps have been 

implemented. The Group is analysing 

the potential timing of transitioning 

to different fuel mixtures in the power 

plants and CHP plants it operates.

The Group holds lignite mining licenses 

in the two northern Bohemian mines until 

the complete exhaustion of the lignite 

seams. At the current rate of mining 

one of the mine will be fully depleted in 

approximately 2025 and the other mine 

in approximately 2055.

Starting 2021 the Group will undertake 

modernisation program of the newly 

acquired Počerady power plant, in 

addition to further capital expenditure 

into the other heat and power plants of 

the Group to comply with the current 

and future environmental regulations.

The Group is monitoring the 

development of the ongoing Covid-19 

pandemic and its impact on the 

commodity markets and supply chains. 

The risk management strategy of the 

Group is being continuously adapted to 

reflect opportunities and potential risks 

in terms of coal and electricity demand 

and the price of emission allowances 

and other inputs and supply chain 

disruptions. 

The Group will continue to 

implement relevant measures 

to protect its employees and to 

ensure the Group’s operation. The 

Group’s management believes that the 

potential impact has no bearing on the 

Group’s ability to continue as a going 

concern.

Financial Results

The Grouṕ s financial performance 

indicators for the year are set out on 

previous pages and in the consolidated 

financial statements.

Board of Directors and 
Employees

As of 31 December 2020 there were 

3,489 employees within the individual 

companies of the Group and 5 members 

of SEAG’s Board of Directors. Out of 

the total number of employees 651 

were women and 2,838 were men. 

There were no significant changes in 

the responsibilities and remuneration 

among the 5 members of the Board of 

Directors. 35 employees are executives 

and statutory representatives, 849 are 

administrative staff and technical-

managerial specialists and the balance 

are manual workers (manufacturing, 

maintenance, logistics etc.). 
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Information on Sustainable 
Development

The Group follows the basic principle 

of strict compliance with legislation 

and other applicable regulations in all 

areas of its business, in particular with 

regard to the environment, occupational 

safety, protection of human rights and 

preventing discrimination.

Sev.en Energy is fully aware of the 

significance of its industrial activity 

and its effect on the regions where it 

operates. Care for the environment 

in these regions is one of the 

Group’s priorities, focusing primarily 

on the prevention or minimisation 

of negative impacts. In all areas of 

environmental protection, the Group 

consistently observes applicable 

legal regulations and the conditions 

stipulated in relevant obtained permits. 

Compliance with the conditions of 

operation specified for individual air 

pollution sources, water management 

and waste disposal facilities is monitored 

on a regular basis. Measurements 

of emissions are carried out within 

statutory timelines by laboratories 

certified by the Czech Ministry of the 

Environment. In 2020, the Sev.en 

Energy Group operated all its facilities 

in accordance with applicable 

environmental legislation, the conditions 

stipulated in obtained permits, and 

operational rules. No penalty was 

imposed on the Group companies in 2020.

The Group’s most significant 

environmental commitment is the 

restoration of areas after brown coal 

mining in the Most region. Each year, 

new areas are completed and put into 

use. We make every effort to ensure 

that the new ecosystems created by the 

Group’s restoration and remediation 

activities naturally relate to the existing 

ones, combining the environmentally 

significant parts of the new landscapes 

into a functional whole with the aim 

to preserve the biodiversity of natural 

ecosystems and all their useful functions.

Various biotopes and areas suitable for 

concrete species are created, even in 

temporary remediation areas. Suitable 

areas are also selected for natural 

succession, providing favourable 

conditions for existing wildlife and plants, 

including endangered species. Similarly, 

creation of close-to-nature cultures is 

also allowed, as long as they meet the 

conditions stipulated by general nature 

protection rules for the creation of local 

systems of environmental stability. In 

2020, the Group joined the We Plant the 

Future initiative, planting 294 349 trees 

on the restored areas of the Vršany and 

ČSA quarries.

The goal is to create an ecologically 

stable landscape, naturally relating 

to the existing territorial system and 

promoting local biodiversity.

Sev.en Energy Group companies remain 

important employers and partners in the 

regions where they operate. The Group 

considers employee care a fundamental 

value and a basis for its development. 

The Group’s management is well aware 

that its activity and long-term prosperity 

requires a capable, loyal and motivated 

workforce, and therefore it uses every 

opportunity to offer its people attractive 

working conditions despite difficult 

conditions on the market.

The Group’s approach is based on 

management’s direct contact with 

employees in operations, and an 

emphasis on occupational safety, 

employee training, employees’ 

participation in managing the 

Company, collective bargaining, 

and the keeping of interesting social 

benefits. Furthermore, meetings of 

the Company’s management with 
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employees are organised, mainly 

to inform them about the expected 

future development. Due to specific 

conditions in 2020 and the impact of 

the governmental measures relating 

to the Covid-19 pandemic, meetings 

of Company's management with 

employees were largely arranged using 

social media. New contactless elements 

were introduced into the communication 

with employees. This corporate culture 

is a prerequisite for ensuring a sufficient 

number of qualified staff at all levels – 

now and in the future.

The Group is an equal opportunity 

employer. In all Group companies, 

women and men have equal conditions 

in terms of remuneration. Jobs are 

filled and remuneration is determined 

based strictly on individual professional 

qualifications and results. The Group 

companies received no complaints 

about any human rights infringements, 

discrimination, corruption or unethical 

behaviour in the Group.

The main documents governing in detail 

the relationship between management 

and employees are the collective 

bargaining agreement, the Work Rules, 

and the Code of Ethics.

The cornerstone of regional co-operation 

lies in long-term partnerships with the 

regions and municipalities of Most, 

Kladno, Pardubice and Zlín. These 

relationships are based on the mutual 

sharing of information and transparency. 

Sev.en Energy Group communicates with 

individual stakeholders through regular 

meetings, consultations, discussions 

at professional workshops and 

conferences, through its membership 

in industry associations and platforms, 

as well as through the mass and social 

media, websites and trade unions. In the 

field of education, collaboration takes 

place mainly by supporting projects 

of elementary and secondary schools 

and universities. The public may also 

approach the Group companies with 

their questions, complaints or ideas, 

either through official communication 

channels, or by directly asking the 

authorised employees.

As part of its partnership programmes, 

the Group contributes to solving the 

problems of the individual regions and 

addressing their needs. On a regular 

basis, the Group supports education 

and development, as well as social, 

charitable, sports and leisure activities, 

focusing mainly on children and young 

people. In 2020, the Group supported 

technical education. For instance, it 

cooperated on the Biouhel project of the 

Czech University of Life Sciences. The 

Group also contributed to after-school 

activities with a technical focus, such 

as technical clubs or holiday camps. 

In 2020, the Group became a general 

partner of the independent Educator 

initiative, whose aim is to support the 

adaptation of the Czech education 

system, its institutions and student life 

to the reality and possibilities of the 21st 

century. Further, the Group supports 

sports activities, such as junior ice 

hockey, and is a general partner of 

the Black Angels female handball club 

from Most. The Group supported the 

development of electromobility through 

the Sev.en Energy for Bikers project, 

in which it built a network of charging 

stations for electric bikes. It supported 

cultural life and became the main 

partner for the Praha září and Praha 

žije hudbou festivals. Through financial 

donations to municipalities and cities 

in the regions where it operates, the 

Group also supported further leisure 

activities, public events, investments in 

the modernisation and development of 

public space, and activities relating to 

safety and crime prevention. During the 

first wave of the Covid-19 pandemic, the 

Group donated protective equipment 

and respirators to doctors, emergency 

workers and homes for the elderly in the 

regions where the Group operates. It 

also donated ventilators to hospitals in 

the region.
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Definition and Calculation 
of Indicators Unspecified in IFRS

In accordance with ESMA guidelines, the Group provides 

detailed information on indicators that are not reported as 

standard in IFRS reports or the components of which are not 

directly available from standardized reports and notes to the 

financial statements. Such indicators represent supplementary 

information in respect of financial data, providing report users 

with additional information to assess the financial position and 

performance of the Group. In general, these indicators are also 

commonly used in other commercial companies, not only in the 

energy sector.

EBITDA

This is a supporting indicator, intended primarily for investors, 

creditors and financing banks, which allows the analysis of 

profitability compared to peer companies and the industry 

before the effects of financing and capital expenditures. 

EBITDA is calculated as:

•  Operating profit / (loss)

• +/− Depreciation and amortisation

•  +/− Impairment loss on goodwill and other assets 

• +/− Impairment loss on receivables

• − Gain on bargain purchase

•  +/− Share on profit / (loss) of equity 

accounted investees, net of tax

Most of the components of EBITDA are directly shown in 

financial statements. Components of calculations that are not 

included in the financial statements are usually shown directly 

in a company’s books. The indicators are calculated as follows: 

EBITDA – in TEUR 2020 2019

Operating profit / (loss) 49,562 249,462

Depreciation and amortisation 82,040 61,476

Impairment loss on goodwill 

and other assets
42,948 366

Impairment loss on receivables (7,796) (529)

Gain on bargain purchase* (2,173) (107,861)

Share on profit / (loss) of equity 

accounted investees, net of tax
23,410 6,744

EBITDA 187,991 209,658

* The 2019 bargain purchase of TEUR 107,861 relates to the acquisition 
of the Teplárna Kladno plant.

Adjusted Net Income

This is a supporting indicator, intended primarily for investors, 

creditors and financing banks, which allows interpreting 

achieved financial results with the exclusion of extraordinary, 

usually nonrecurring effects that are generally unrelated to 

ordinary financial performance and value creation in a given 

period.

Net Adjusted Income is calculated as:

• Profit / (loss) for the period

• +/− Impairment loss on goodwill and other assets 

• +/− Impairment loss on receivables

• − Gain on bargain purchase

•  +/− other extraordinary effects that are generally unrelated 

to ordinary financial performance in a given year and value 

creation in a given period

• +/− effects of the above on Tax expense

Adjusted Net Income 
calculation – in TEUR

2020 2019

Profit / (loss) for the period 23,788 199,775

Impairment loss on goodwill 

and other assets
42,948 366

Impairment loss on receivables (7,796) (529)

Gain on bargain purchase* (2,173) (107,861)

Other extraordinary effects** -- (11,507)

Tax expense of items above 1,481 101

Adjusted Net Income 58,248 80,345

* The 2019 bargain purchase of TEUR 107,861 relates to the acquisition 
of the Teplárna Kladno plant.

** Represents change in fair value of contingent consideration for the 
acquisition of 50% share in InterGen N.V., the consideration was cash-
settled during 2020. 
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year ended 
31 December 2020 
In thousands of EUR (“TEUR”) 

  
 

Note  
2020 2019* 

restated 
       
Revenue  7 693,949 548,552 
      
Cost of commodities sold  7 (195,907)  (89,867)  
Materials and consumables  7 (95,956)  (52,000) 
Gains and losses from derivatives  11 10,606 45,375 
Services  7 (83,623)  (98,780) 
Personnel expenses  10 (90,786)  (85,028) 
Other employee benefits  10, 23 (42) (509) 
Depreciation and amortisation  14, 15 (82,040)  (61,476) 
Gain on bargain purchase  2 2,173 107,861 
Changes in estimates relating to Provisions for 
restoration and renewal 

 25 21,206 27,624 

Impairment loss on goodwill and other assets  9 (42,948) (366) 
Impairment loss on receivables  9 7,796 529 
Other operating expenses  8 (124,115) (110,715) 
Other operating income  8 29,249 18,262 
Operating profit / (loss)   49,562 249,462 
      
Finance income  12 22,655 19,871 
Finance costs  12 (57,389) (54,194) 
Net finance income / (costs)   (34,734) (34,323)  
      
Gain / (loss) on disposal of subsidiaries and associates  2 (4) -- 
Share on profit / (loss) of equity accounted investees, 
net of tax 

 16 23,410 6,744 

Profit / (loss) before income tax   38,234 221,883 
      
Tax expense  13 (14,446)  (22,108) 
Profit / (loss) for the period   23,788 199,775 
      
Other comprehensive income     
Items that are or may be reclassified subsequently to 
profit or loss:     

Equity investments at FVOCI – net change in fair value  21 -- 469 
Foreign currency translation differences  21 (15,411) 6,109 
Net change in fair value of cash-flow hedges - foreign 
exchange derivatives, after tax  21 -- 29 

Net change in fair value of cash-flow hedges - electricity 
and emission rights, after tax  21 2,447 10,406 

Equity-accounted investees – share of OCI  16, 21 3,410 22,410 
Other comprehensive income / (loss) for the period, 
net of income tax   (9,554) 39,423 

Total comprehensive income / (loss) for the period   14,234 239,198 
     
Profit / (loss) attributable to owners of the Company   23,788 199,775 
Profit / (loss) for the period   23,788 199,775 
      

Total comprehensive income attributable to owners of 
the Company 

  14,234 239,198 

Total comprehensive income / (loss) for the period   14,234 239,198 
     

* The comparative information is restated on account of changes in presentation. Refer to Note 3(f). 

The notes presented on pages 20 to 108 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.  
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Consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2020 
In thousands of EUR (“TEUR”) 

 

Note 31 December 2020 31 December 2019* 
restated 

Total Assets  2,200,239 2,056,322 
Non-current assets  1,834,244 1,721,479 
Property, plant and equipment 14 841,442 741,109 
Goodwill 15 419,283 476,593 
Intangible assets 15 68,944 81,342 
Equity-accounted investees 16  270,123 260,333 
Other investments, including derivatives 17 113,783 40,278 
Restricted cash 22 102,799 104,791 
Trade and other receivables  19 3,444 5,763 
Deferred tax assets 13 14,426 11,270 
     
Current assets  365,995 334,843 
Inventories 18 49,344 49,748 
Trade and other receivables 19 217,036 138,029 
Other investments, including derivatives 17 18,077 24,427 
Current income tax assets  7,919 937 
Cash and cash equivalents 20 73,619 121,702 
    
Total equity and liabilities  2,200,239 2,056,322 

Total equity  778,727 763,775 

Total equity attributable to owners of the Company  778,727 763,775 

Share capital 21 51 51 
Capital reserves 21 1,496,520 1,524,520 
Revaluation and hedging reserve 21 30,712 20,588 
Translation reserve 21 (42,854)  (23,176) 
Retained earnings 21 (705,702) (758,208) 
     
Total Liabilities  1,421,512 1,292,547 
Non-current liabilities  1,035,057 955,092 
Interest-bearing financial liabilities 27 496,060 504,257 
Other financial instruments, including derivatives 28 1,148 771 
Employee benefits 23 5,847 3,107 
Trade and other payables 26 93,686 4,825 
Lease liabilities 31 89,837 93,504 
Provisions for restoration and renewal 25 273,972 286,808 
Other provisions 24 2,790 2,726 
Deferred tax liabilities 13 71,717 59,094 
    
Current liabilities  386,455 337,455 
Trade and other payables 26 193,815 174,997 
Payables to employees  6,849 6,229 
Interest-bearing financial liabilities 27 133,977 121,184 
Other financial instruments, including derivatives 28 29,550 12,622 
Provisions for restoration and renewal 25 12,968 8,713 
Other provisions 24 777 479 
Lease liabilities 31 5,279 5,201 
Current income tax liabilities  3,240 8,030 

* The comparative information is restated on account of changes in presentation. Refer to Note 3(f). 
The notes presented on pages 20 to 108 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year ended 31 December 2020 
In thousands of EUR (“TEUR”) 
 

 

 

 

2019 Note Share capital 
Revaluation 

reserve Hedging reserve 
Capital 

reserves 
Translation 

reserve 
Retained 
earnings Total equity 

Balance as at 1 January 2019  51 (469) (2,610) 1,524,520 (38,932) (957,948) 524,612 
Adjustment on initial application of IFRS 16, net 

of tax  -- -- -- -- -- (35) (35) 
Restated balance at 1 January 2019  51 (469) (2,610) 1,524,520 (38,932) (957,983) 524,577 
Profit / (loss) for the period  -- -- -- -- -- 199,775 199,775 
Equity investments at FVOCI – net change in fair 
value 21 -- 469 -- -- -- -- 469 
Foreign currency translation differences 21 -- -- -- -- 6,109 -- 6,109 
Net change in fair value of cash-flow hedges - 
foreign exchange derivatives, net of tax 21 -- -- 29 -- -- -- 29 
Net change in fair value of cash-flow hedges - 
futures (electricity), net of tax 21 -- -- 10,406  -- -- -- 10,406 
Share on other comprehensive income of equity-
accounted investees 16, 21 -- -- 12,763 -- 9,647 -- 22,410 
Other comprehensive income  -- 469 23,198 -- 15,756 -- 39,423 
Total comprehensive income for the period  -- 469 23,198  -- 15,756 199,775 239,198 
Dividends paid 21 -- -- -- -- -- -- -- 
Total transactions with owners of the Company  -- -- -- -- -- -- -- 
Transfer to / (from) reserves 21 -- -- -- -- -- -- -- 

Balance as at 31 December 2019  51 -- 20,588 1,524,520 (23,176) (758,208)  763,755 
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2020 Note Share capital 
Revaluation and 
Hedging reserve 

Capital reserves Translation 
reserve 

Retained 
earnings Total equity 

Balance as at 1 January 2020  51 20,588 1 524 520 (23,176) (758,208) 763,775 
Profit / (loss) for the period  -- -- -- -- 23,788 23,788 
Foreign currency translation differences 21 -- -- -- (15,411) -- (15,411) 
Net change in fair value of cash-flow hedges - 
futures (electricity), net of tax 21 -- 2,447 -- -- -- 2,447 
Share on other comprehensive income of equity-
accounted investees 16, 21 -- 7,677 -- (4,267) -- 3,410 
Other comprehensive income  -- 10,124 -- (19,678) -- (9,554) 
Total comprehensive income for the period  -- 10,124 -- (19,678) 23,788 14,234 
Common control transaction – transfer of Sev.en 

Epsilon 2c -- -- -- -- 718 718 

Total transactions with owners of the Company  -- -- -- -- 718 718 
Transfer to / (from) reserves 21 -- -- (28,000) -- 28,000 -- 

Balance as at 31 December 2020  51 30,712 1,496,520 (42,854) (705,702) 778,727 
 

The notes presented on pages 20 to 108 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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Consolidated statement of cash flows for the year ended 31 December 2020 
In thousands of EUR (“TEUR”) Note 

2020 
2019* 

restated 

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES    
Profit / (loss) for the period  23,788 199,775 

Adjustments for:    

 Income tax expense 13 14,446 22,108 

 Share of profit of associates, net of tax 16 (23,410) (6,744) 

 Interest expense, net 12 19,086 13,778 

 Depreciation and amortisation 14, 15 82,040 61,476 

 Foreign exchange (gains)/losses, net 12 (276) 9,137 

 Changes in estimates relating to Provisions for restoration and renewal 25 (21,206) (27,624) 

 
Changes in provision for restoration and renewal recorded in net 
finance income or cost 

12, 25 13,482 18,016 

 Employee benefits 23 42 509 

 Gain on sale of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 8 (1,030) (527) 

 
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries, special purpose entities, joint-
ventures, associates and NCI 

2 4 -- 

 Impairment losses on goodwill 9, 15 41,828 -- 

 
(Reversal of)/ Impairment losses on property, plant and equipment and 
intangible assets 

9,14,15 785 405 

 Impairment losses / (Reversal of) impairment losses on provided loans  9 (7,795) (216) 

 
Impairment losses / (Reversal of) impairment losses on trade 
receivables, write-offs 

9 (1) (313) 

 
Impairment losses / (Reversal of) impairment losses on inventories, 
write-offs 

9 335 (39) 

 (Gain)/Loss on disposal of inventories 8 (982) (478) 

 (Gain)/Loss on disposal of financial assets  -- 518 

 Net change in fair value of financial assets at FVTPL 12 (288) (449) 

 Net change in fair value of derivatives 11 (10,606) (45,375) 

 Change in fair value of deferred consideration 12 (426) 547 

 Change in fair value of contingent consideration asset 12 653 (11,507) 

Gain on bargain purchase 2 (2,173) (107,861) 
    

 Operating profit before changes in working capital and provisions  128,296 125,136 

Increase / (decrease) in employee benefits   (419) (533) 

Increase / (decrease) in provisions  (2,335) (10,007) 

(Increase) / decrease in inventories   5,291 (6,037) 

(Increase) / decrease in receivables  (63,380) 83,366 

Increase / (decrease) in payables  (8,167) (38,420) 

(Increase) / decrease in restricted cash  148 4,537 

(Increase) / decrease in emission allowances  (4,600) 4,824 

Proceeds from derivatives  36,228 48,469 

Cash generated from / (used in) operations  91,062 211,335 

    
Interest paid  (13,583) (5,833) 
Interest paid for lease liabilities  (3,377) (498) 

Income taxes paid  (22,651) (36,506) 

Net cash generated from / (used in) operating activities  51,451 168,498 
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CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES    
Proceeds from the sale of property, plant and equipment and intangible 
assets 

 4,834 3,222 

Proceeds from disposal of subsidiaries, net of cash disposed of 2 (20,856) -- 

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets  (66,268) (41,733) 

Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired 2 5,877 (78,524) 

Acquisition of equity accounted investees 2 -- (235,765) 

Acquisition related cost 2 -- (940) 

Loans provided 17 (88,686) (4,639) 

Proceeds from repayment of provided loans  48,576 36,647 

Proceeds from other investments  (8,313) 20,217 

Interest received  1,724 2,963 

Dividends received 16 16,976 183 

Net cash generated from / (used in) investing activities  (106,136) (298,369) 

    

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES  

Proceeds from loans  27 112,071 376,545 

Repayments of loans 27 (200,493) (236,252) 

Proceeds from bonds issued 27 97,451 -- 

Repayment of finance lease liabilities 31 (1,480) (5,057) 

Net cash generated from / (used in) financing activities  7,549 135,236  

    

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  (47,136) 5,365 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year  121,702 115,295 

Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash held  (947) 1,042 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year  73,619 121,702 

* The comparative information is restated on account of changes in presentation. Refer to Note 3(f). 

The notes presented on pages 20 to 108 form an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the financial statements

1. REPORTING ENTITY

Sev.en Energy AG (“the Company”) is a company domiciled in the Liechtenstein. The address of the Company’s registered 

office is Zollstrasse 82, 9494 Schaan, registration number FL-0002.577.705-3. 

a) Establishment of the Company and primary activities of the Group

Sev.en Energy AG was registered on 12 March 2018. TILIA FOUNDATION, as the sole shareholder of Sev.en Energy AG, 

contributed all its shares in Teglerion Limited to Sev.en Energy AG as of 20 December 2018. As a consequence of this 

transaction, Sev.en Energy AG has been acting as new parent company of the Group. 

The major activities of the Group are brown coal mining and electrical energy production in the Czech Republic and trading in 

electricity on European commodity exchanges. The Group also invests into energy companies outside the Czech Republic.

b) Ownership structure of the Company as at 31 December 2020

Ownership structure % Registered office

TILIA FOUNDATION 100
Heiligkreuz 6, 9490 Vaduz, Liechtenstein, Reg. 

No.:FL-0002.543.048-7

c) Members of Board of Directors and Supervisory Board of Company as at 31 December 2020:

Board of Directors

Position Name

President Luboš Pavlas

Member Jiří Bartl

Member Dr. Markus Michael Summer

Member Zoltán Kiss

Member Alan Svoboda

There were no changes to the Board of Directors in 2020. 

Always two members of the Board of Directors can at all times act on behalf of the Company.
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2. IDENTIFICATION OF THE GROUP

a) Subsidiaries

Name of the company
Country 

of incorporation
Consolidation 

method

Ownership interest

31/12/2020 31/12/2019

Sev.en Commodities AG Liechtenstein Full 100.00% 100.00%

Sev.en Delta AG in liquidation 14) Liechtenstein Full 100.00% 100.00%

Sev.en Lambda Anstalt 1) Liechtenstein Full 100.00% --

Indoverse (Czech) Coal Investments Ltd. Cyprus Full 100.00% 100.00%

Haltixar Limited Cyprus Full 100.00% 100.00%

Teglerion Limited Cyprus Full 100.00% 100.00%

Satoranix Limited Cyprus Full 100.00% 100.00%

Coal Services a.s. Czech Republic Full 100.00% 100.00%

HG Správa a.s. Czech Republic Full 100.00% 100.00%

Infotea s.r.o. Czech Republic Full 100.00% 100.00%

PREHNISTEN s.r.o. 12) Czech Republic Full -- 100.00%

REKULTIVACE a.s. Czech Republic Full 100.00% 100.00%

RENOGUM a.s. 13) Czech Republic Full -- 100.00%

Servis Leasing a.s. Czech Republic Full 100.00% 100.00%

Rental Servis a.s. Czech Republic Full 100.00% 100.00%

Vršanská uhelná a.s. Czech Republic Full 100.00% 100.00%

Severní energetická a.s. 2) Czech Republic Full 100.00% 100.00%

Důl Kohinoor a.s. 2) Czech Republic Full -- 100.00%

Elektrárna Chvaletice a.s. 

(formerly Sev.en EC, a.s.)
Czech Republic Full 100.00% 100.00%

Sev.en Engineering s.r.o. Czech Republic Full 100.00% 100.00%

Sev.en Services s.r.o. Czech Republic Full 100.00% 100.00%

Sev.en Gamma a.s. Czech Republic Full 100.00% 100.00%

Sev.en Zeta a.s. 3) Czech Republic Full 100.00% 100.00%

Sev.en Epsilon a.s. 4) Czech Republic Full -- 100.00%

Sev.en Innovations a.s. 5) Czech Republic Full 100.00% 100.00%

Teplárna Kladno s.r.o. 6) Czech Republic Full 100.00% 100.00%

Teplárna Zlín s.r.o. 7) Czech Republic Full 100.00% 100.00%

Remlan s.r.o. 8) Czech Republic Full 100.00% 100.00%

Elektrárna Počerady, a.s. 9) Czech Republic Full 100.00% --

Sev.en Sigma Ltd. 10) Great Britain Full 100.00% 100.00%

SKL Power Ltd. 11) Great Britain Full -- 100.00%

1)  Sev.en Lambda Anstalt was established on 30 July 2020.

2)  Důl Kohinoor a.s. (the company ceasing to exist) was merged into Severní energetická a.s. (the successor company) with 

effective date of 1 January 2020. The merger was recorded in Commercial Register as at 1 August 2020. The merger has no 

effect on consolidated financial statements of the Group as at 31 December 2020.

3) Sev.en Zeta a.s. was established on 18 February 2019.

4)  Sev.en Epsilon a.s. was established on 18 February 2019. On 25 November 2020, this entity was distributed to the shareholder 

of Sev.en Energy AG as a “distribution in kind”.

5) Sev.en Innovations a.s. was established on 14 June 2019.

6) Teplárna Kladno s.r.o. was acquired through business combination on 2 September 2019.

7) Teplárna Zlín s.r.o. was established on 30 December 2019.

8) Remlan s.r.o. was acquired on 13 November 2019.

21Sev.en Energy AG Consolidated annual report of Sev.en Energy AG for the year ended 31 December 2020 (in thousands of EUR)



9) Elektrárna Počerady, a.s. was acquired from ČEZ, a.s. on 31 December 2020.

10) Sev.en Sigma Ltd. was established on 28 March 2019.

11) SKL Power Ltd. was established on 18 November 2019 and liquidated on 7 April 2020.

12)  PREHNISTEN s.r.o. entered into dissolution process as at 1 July 2020. The dissolution was finalized and the entity was 

deleted from the Commercial Register as at 21 December 2020.

13)  RENOGUM a.s. entered into dissolution process as at 1 January 2020. The dissolution was finalized and the entity was 

deleted from the Commercial Register as at 13 July 2020.

14) Sev.en Delta AG (formerly Sev.en Energy International AG) entered liquidation on 2 October 2020

b) Associates and joint-ventures

Name of the company
Country 

of incorporation
Consolidation 

method

Ownership interest

31/12/2020 31/12/2019

InterGen N.V. 1) The Netherlands Equity 50.00% 50.00%

Výzkumný ústav pro hnědé uhlí a.s. Czech Republic Equity 44.58% 44.58%

1) InterGen N.V. was acquired through business combination on 19 June 2019.

c) Changes in the Group

 i) Acquisitions and disposals in 2020

Acquisition of Elektrárna Počerady, a.s. through business combination

Sev.en Energy Group has acquired a new lignite power station in Počerady, Czech Republic, on 31 December 2020 (a 1000 MW 

lignite power station sourcing coal from group’s Vršany coal mine). This was a key development bringing vertical integration 

into the Group as the Počerady power station is the largest customer for coal from the Vršany mine and the largest 

lignite power plant in the Czech Republic. The direct acquirer of Elektrárna Počerady, a.s. was Vršanská uhelná a.s. Net 

identifiable assets and liabilities acquired were recognized at fair values which represented the Group‘s best estimate of 

the value. Recognised gain on bargain purchase resulting from the acquisition was treated as tax-exempt income. The 

acquisition related costs were TEUR 395 and are presented within Services in the Statement of comprehensive income. Total 

consideration consisted of: 

•  liability in nominal value of TEUR 95,256 payable to ČEZ, a.s. as at 30 November 2023 (refer also to Note 26 Trade 

and other payables);

• liabilities in nominal value of TEUR 25,150 payable to ČEZ, a.s. in 2021 (refer also to Note 26 Trade and other payables);

• unwinding discount of TEUR (7,066) related to consideration liabilities (refer also to Note 26 Trade and other payables);

•  liabilities of ČEZ, a.s. due to Elektrárna Počerady, a.s. in nominal amount of TEUR 223,078, of which TEUR 171,461 were 

assumed by Vršanská uhelná a.s. as of 31 December 2020 (and are therefore not presented in the consolidated statement 

of financial position of Sev.en Energy AG as they represent an intercompany balance) with the remaining TEUR 51,617 in 

nominal amount assumed by Vršanská uhelná a.s. on 31 May 2021. 

The Group disclosed no revenues and profit attributable to Elektrárna Počerady, a.s. since the acquisition date as the 

acquisition date was 31 December 2020. Vršanská uhelná a.s. has an obligation to assume the debt of ČEZ, a.s. to Elektrárna 

Počerady, a.s. but this assumption is a subsequent event in 2021, for this reason Vršanská uhelná a.s. has recorded a current 

payable to ČEZ, a.s. as of 31 December 2020 in the amount of TEUR 51,617 and Elektrárna Počerady, a.s. has recorded a current 

receivable of TEUR 51,617 behind ČEZ, a.s. 

Had the acquisition occurred as of 1 January 2020 instead of 31 December 2020 the net profit of the Group would have 

been approximately TEUR 8,604 lower (figure approximates the effect of business combination accounting and fair value 

adjustments for the period between 1 January 2020 and the actual acquisition date, the extrapolated impact of these 

adjustments is a net expense of TEUR 2,483 due to depreciation of fair value adjustments). The revenues of the Group for the 

year 2020 would have been TEUR 228,063 higher had the acquisition taken place on 1 January 2020. 
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The effects of the acquisition are provided in the following table:

In thousands of EUR Carrying amount Fair value adjustment Total

Property, plant and equipment 37,365 79,829 117,194

Intangible assets 278 191 469

Restricted cash 1,480 -- 1,480

Inventories 10,555 (5,401) 5,154

Trade and other receivables 237,158 -- 237,158

Current income tax asset 5,058 -- 5,058

Cash and cash equivalents 5,877 -- 5,877

Provision for restoration and renewal (11,122) -- (11,122)

Other provisions (37) -- (37)

Employee benefits (3,173) -- (3,173)

Payables to employees (463) -- (463)

Trade payables and other liabilities (6,982) -- (6,982)

Lease liabilities (1,197) -- (1,197)

Deferred tax liability (34) (10,823) (10,857)

Total 274,763 63,796 338,559

Non-controlling interest -- -- --

Net identifiable assets and liabilities 274,763 63,796 338,559

Purchase price, of which:

  Satisfied in cash --

  Liability – nominal value (120,407)

  Liability – unwinding discount 7,066

  Other – take-over of debt (223,078)

Total consideration transferred 336,386

Gain on bargain purchase 2,173

Cash acquired 5,877

Net cash inflow/(outflow) 5,877

Foundation of subsidiaries in 2020

To support its activities in the future, the Group founded also Sev.en Lambda Anstalt in 2020.
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Disposal of Sev.en Epsilon a.s. through common control transaction

In 2020, the Group transferred Sev.en Epsilon a.s. out of the consolidated Group. The transaction was treated as common 

control transaction under the control of the sole shareholder with the net result of the transfer presented in equity. Until the 

25 November 2020 transfer of Sev.en Epsilon a.s. all transactions between the Group and Sev.en Epsilon a.s. (primarily provided 

loans and interest income) were treated as intercompany transactions and eliminated.

The effects of the disposal are provided in the following table:

In thousands of EUR Total

Other investments 21,004

Cash and cash equivalents 20,619

Interest-bearing financial liabilities (42,338)

Total (715)

Non-controlling interest --

Net identifiable assets and liabilities (715)

Transfer price, satisfied in cash 3

Total consideration transferred 3

Effect resulting from common control transaction - recorded directly in equity 718

Cash disposed of (20,619)

Net cash inflow/(outflow) (20,616)

Dissolution of subsidiaries in 2020

In 2020, the following entities were dissolved: PREHNISTEN s.r.o., RENOGUM a.s. and SKL Power Ltd. The Group recognized 

a loss of TEUR (4) and net cash outflow of TEUR (240) resulting from the dissolutions.
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 ii) Acquisitions and disposals in 2019

Acquisition of Teplárna Kladno s.r.o. through business combination

On 31 August 2019, the Group accounted for an acquisition of 100.00% share in Teplárna Kladno s.r.o. The entity runs two coal-

fired power and heat plants in Czech Republic. Net identifiable assets and liabilities acquired were recognized at fair values 

which represented the Group‘s best estimate of the value. Recognised gain on bargain purchase resulting from the acquisition 

was treated as tax-exempt income. The acquisition related costs were TEUR 130 and are presented within Services in the 

Statement of comprehensive income. Total consideration consisted of a cash payment of TEUR 86,725 and was paid upon 

acquisition date. The amount of revenues attributable to Teplárna Kladno s.r.o. since the acquisition date were TEUR 55,624 

and the profit recorded since the acquisition date was TEUR 2,616. The effects of the acquisition through business combination 

are provided in the following table:

In thousands of EUR Carrying amount Fair value adjustment Total

Property, plant and equipment 386,903 -- 386,903

Intangible assets 234 -- 234

Other investments, including derivatives -- -- --

Restricted cash -- -- --

Deferred tax assets 17,498 -- 17,498

Current tax assets -- -- --

Inventories 19,531 -- 19,531

Trade and other receivables 12,002 -- 12,002

Cash and cash equivalents 8,187 -- 8,187

Provision for restoration and renewal (5,524) -- (5,524)

Other provisions (2,073) -- (2,073)

Deferred tax liability (48,743) -- (48,743)

Loans and borrowings (169,000) -- (169,000)

Interest-bearing financial liabilities -- -- --

Employee benefits -- -- --

Payables to employees (544) -- (544)

Current tax liabilities -- -- --

Trade payables and other liabilities (23,961) -- (23,961)

Total --

Non-controlling interest -- -- --

Net identifiable assets and liabilities 194,510 -- 194,510

Purchase price, satisfied in cash (86,725)

Purchase price, liability --

Purchase price, other --

Total consideration transferred (86,725)

Gain on bargain purchase 107,785

Cash acquired 8,187

Net cash inflow/(outflow) (78,538)
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The gain on bargain purchase of TEUR 107,785 was recognized within operating profit in the row “Gain on bargain purchase”. 

The reason for the bargain purchase is due to the seller attempting to quickly divest fossil fuel related assets and quickly 

obtain cash.

Had the acquisition occurred as of 1 January 2019 instead of 31 August 2019 the revenues of the Group would have been 

MEUR 103 higher and the net profit of the Group would have been MEUR 2 higher (figure excludes effect of business 

combination accounting and fair value adjustments on the period between 1 January 2019 and the actual acquisition date as 

it is impracticable to determine these). 

Acquisition of Remlan s.r.o. through business combination

On 13 November 2019, the Group accounted for an acquisition of 100.00% share in Remlan s.r.o. Net identifiable assets and 

liabilities acquired were recognized at fair values which represented the Group‘s best estimate of the value. Recognised gain 

on bargain purchase resulting from the acquisition was treated as tax-exempt income. The acquisition related costs were 

TEUR 0. The amount of revenues attributable to Remlan s.r.o. since the acquisition date were TEUR 0 and the profit recorded 

since the acquisition date was TEUR 0. The effects of the acquisition are provided in the following table:

In thousands of EUR Carrying amount Fair value adjustment Total

Trade and other receivables 42,788 -- 42,788

Cash and cash equivalents 14 -- 14

Trade payables and other liabilities (26) -- (26)

Total 42,776 -- 42,776

Non-controlling interest -- -- --

Net identifiable assets and liabilities 42,776 -- 42,776

Purchase price, satisfied in cash --

Purchase price, liability (Note 26) (42,700)

Purchase price, other --

Total consideration transferred (42,700)

Gain on bargain purchase 76

Cash acquired 14

Net cash inflow/(outflow) 14
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Acquisition of associates and joint-ventures

On 19 June 2019, the Group acquired a 50.00% share in InterGen N.V. The purchase price amounted to TEUR 235,765 and the 

acquisition related costs included in carrying value of the equity-accounted investee amounted to TEUR 940. The effects of 

the acquisition of equity-accounted investee is provided in the following table:

In thousands of EUR InterGen N.V.

Value of share on net assets of associate or joint-venture acquired 239,480

Purchase price, satisfied in cash 235,765

Purchase price, liability --

Acquisition related cost included in carrying value 940

Contingent consideration asset (7,121)

Purchase price, other --

Total consideration transferred 229,584

Gain on bargain purchase charged to Share on profit 

of equity-accounted investees
9,896

Net cash inflow/(outflow) (235,765)

The contingent consideration asset included within the consideration calculation of MEUR 7.1 (MGBP 6.3) represents an 

indemnification by the sellers for a contingent liability within InterGen N.V., the initially recognized amount of the asset 

represents 40% of the maximum obtainable indemnification under the acquisition agreement as this corresponds to the 

acquisition date probability of the contingent liability having to be settled. 

As of 31 December 2019 InterGen N.V. recognized a liability of MGBP 37.3. As a result of this the Group remeasured the 

indemnification asset to the full amount of MGBP 15.8 (MEUR 18.1). Payment was received by the Group on 21 April 2020 in full. 

The gain on bargain purchase of TEUR 9,896 was recognized within the statement of comprehensive income row “Share on 

profit / (loss) of equity accounted investees, net of tax”. The reason for the bargain purchase is due to the seller divesting fossil 

fuel related assets.

Had the acquisition occurred as of 1 January 2019 instead of 19 June 2019 the net profit of the Group would have been 

approximately MEUR 18 higher (figure excludes effect of business combination accounting and fair value adjustments on the 

period between 1 January 2019 and the actual acquisition date as it is impracticable to determine these). 

The 50% ownership share in InterGen N.V. represents a joint-venture with the Group jointly exercising control over InterGen N.V. 

with other shareholders.

Foundation of subsidiaries in 2019

To support its activities in the future, the Group founded also Sev.en Zeta a.s., Sev.en Epsilon a.s., Sev.en Innovations a.s., 

Teplárna Zlín s.r.o., Sev.en Sigma Ltd. and SKL Power Ltd. in 2019.

27Sev.en Energy AG Consolidated annual report of Sev.en Energy AG for the year ended 31 December 2020 (in thousands of EUR)



3 BASIS OF PREPARATION

a) Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 

(IFRSs), including International Accounting Standards (IASs), promulgated by the International Accounting Standards Board 

(IASB) and interpretations issued by the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) of IASB as 

endorsed by the European Union and the additional requirements pursuant to Article 17a of the Ordinance to the Liechtenstein 

Persons and Companies Act (PGR). 

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the parent Company and its subsidiaries 

(together referred as “the Group”) as at 31 December 2020.

The consolidated financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 30 August 2021.

b) Management’s statement of going concern

The Group’s operating business model is sustainable and generally generates positive operating profits. In December 2020 the 

commission designated by the Czech government recommended a phaseout of electricity generation from coal by the Czech 

Republic by 2038, the same year as Germany. The Czech government has taken this recommendation into consideration in 

2021 but no binding regulations or other steps have been implemented. The Group holds lignite mining licenses in the two 

northern Bohemian mines until the complete exhaustion of the lignite seams. At the current rate of mining one of the mine 

will be fully depleted in approximately 2025 and the other mine in approximately 2055. The coal fire power plants and CHP 

plants owned by the Group hold valid operating licenses. The Group is analysing the possibility of a transition to a different 

fuel mixture and associated capital expenditures as well as closely monitoring the development of the regulatory and market 

environment and the initiatives of peer companies. Given the current and projected energy generating capacity of the Czech 

Republic and existing projects under development the Group’s plants are indispensable for the stability of the Czech energy 

grid for the foreseeable future. 

In view of the above no indicators for events or conditions exist that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s / 

Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. Management has assessed that it is appropriate to prepare the 

Group’s financial statements on a going concern basis. 

c) Basis of measurement

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going-concern basis using the historical cost method except 

for the following material items in the statement of financial position, which are measured at fair value:

 • Derivative financial instruments 

 • Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income

 • Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

 • Other employee benefits

The accounting policies described in the following paragraphs have been consistently applied by the Group entities and 

between accounting periods.

d) Functional and presentation currency

The consolidated financial statements are presented in the Euros (EUR). Functional currency is the Euro (EUR) for 

Sev.en Energy AG, Sev.en Commodities AG, Sev.en Delta AG, Sev.en Gamma a.s., Sev.en Epsilon a.s. (part of the Group only till 

November 2020), Sev.en Zeta a.s., Sev.en Innovations a.s., Teplárna Kladno s.r.o., Teplárna Zlín s.r.o. and Sev.en Lambda Anstalt, 

the British Pound (GBP) for Sev.en Sigma Ltd. and the Czech crown (CZK) for other Czech companies and Cyprian entities. All 

financial information presented in EUR has been rounded to the nearest thousands, unless otherwise indicated.

The following exchange rates have been used for the purpose of consolidation:

1 January 2019 2019 31 December 2019 2020 31 December 2020

GBP/EUR 0.894 0.877 0.851 0.889 0.899

CZK/EUR 25.725 25.672 25.410 26.444 26.245
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e) Use of estimations and judgements

The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that 

affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual 

results may differ from these estimates. 

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in 

the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected.

Information about critical judgements in applying accounting policies and about estimates and underlying assumptions that 

have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements is included in the following notes:

 •  Note 2 (c): Accounting for business combinations and recognition of goodwill/gain on bargain purchase: Fair value of 

the consideration transferred (including contingent consideration) and fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities 

assumed, measured on a provisional basis.

 •  Note 13: Recognition of deferred tax assets: availability of future taxable profits against which tax losses carried forward 

can be used.

 •  Notes 14 and 15: Estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets.

 •  Note 15: Impairment testing of goodwill: key assumptions underlying recoverable amounts: The recoverable amount of 

each non-financial asset or cash-generating unit (‘CGU’) is determined as the higher of the value-in-use and fair value 

less costs to sell, in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy – 4 (i)(ii). Determination of the recoverable amount 

of an asset or CGU based on a discounted cash flow model requires the use of estimates and assumptions. Changes in 

the estimates and assumptions impact the recoverable amount of the asset or CGU, and accordingly could result in an 

adjustment to the carrying amount of that asset or CGU.

 •  Notes 17, 19, 20 and 30: Financial instruments: key assumptions in determining credit risks and measurement of 

impairment loss.

 •  Note 17: Expected Credit Losses: key assumption are the Lifetime Expected Credit Losses of provided loans, probability 

of default, asset recoverability rates and determination whether the loans are Purchased or Originated Credit Impaired 

(“POCI”).

 •  Note 17: Measurement of contingent consideration asset: key assumptions in determining present value of contingent 

consideration asset.

 •  Note 28: Measurement of deferred consideration: key assumptions in determining present value of deferred 

consideration.

 •  Note 23: Measurement of other employee benefits: key actuarial assumptions: The Group’s accounting policy for 

employee benefits requires management to make estimates and assumptions about the discount rate, future 

remuneration changes, changes in benefits, life expectancy, retirement age, number of employees and expected 

remaining periods of service of employees. Changes in these estimates and assumptions could have a material impact 

on the carrying value of the employee benefit liability. Refer to Note 23 for details of the key assumptions.

 •  Notes 24 and 25: Recognition and measurement of provisions for restoration and renewal: Provisions for restoration 

and renewal are determined as the estimated quantity of product in an area of interests that can be expected to be 

profitably extracted, processed and sold under current and foreseeable conditions. Calculation of provisions includes 

estimates and assumptions about range of geological, technical and economic factors. Changes in the estimates that 

underlie the calculation of renewal provisions would also impact the assessment of recoverability of property, plant and 

equipment at the same time.

 •  Note 31: Leases: estimated borrowing rate used for the discounting of right-of-use asset and lease liabilities.

f) Comparative financial information and changes in classification

The comparative information is restated due to changes in presentation of certain transactions, specifically:

 i) Reclassification of derivatives profit and loss result

  The reason for the change in presentation is to reflect the industry practise of showing these core business activities within 

operating profit. Commodity trading is one of the key business activities of the Group. The change has been adopted from 

1 January 2020 and comparative information has been adjusted accordingly:

 The change in presentation of derivatives result from finance income to operating income is as follows:

 •  decrease of finance income by TEUR 49,268 and finance costs by TEUR 3,893 and presenting it net in operating profit 

section of the Statement of comprehensive income on a new row Gains and losses from derivatives in the amount of 

TEUR 45,375.
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Consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2019 

 
As previously 

reported Reclassification As restated 
Total assets 2,056,322 -- 2,056,322 
Non-current assets 1,721,479 -- 1,721,479 
Property, plant and equipment 741,109 -- 741,109 

Goodwill 476,593 -- 476,593 
Intangible assets 81,342 -- 81,342 
Equity-accounted investees 260,333 -- 260,333 
Other investments, including derivatives 40,278 -- 40,278 
Restricted cash 104,791 -- 104,791 
Trade and other receivables  5,763 -- 5,763 
Deferred tax assets 11,270 -- 11,270 

    
Current assets 334,843 -- 334,843 
Inventories 49,748 -- 49,748 
Trade and other receivables 138,029 -- 138,029 
Other investments, including derivatives 24,427 -- 24,427 
Current income tax assets 937 -- 937 
Cash and cash equivalents 121,702 -- 121,702 
    
Total equity and liabilities 2,056,322 -- 2,056,322 
Total equity 763,775 -- 763,775 
Total equity attributable to owners of the Company 763,775 -- 763,775 
Share capital 51 -- 51 
Capital reserves 1,524,520 -- 1,524,520 
Revaluation and hedging reserve 20,588  20,588 
Translation reserve (23,176) -- (23,176) 
Retained earnings (758,208) -- (758,208) 
 

Total liabilities 1,292,547 -- 1 292 547 

Non-current liabilities 955,092 -- 955,092 

Interest-bearing financial liabilities 597,761 (93,504) 504,257 
Other financial instruments, including derivatives 771 -- 771 
Employee benefits 3,107 -- 3,107 
Trade and other payables 4,825 -- 4,825 
Provisions for restoration and renewal 286,808 -- 286,808 
Other provisions 2,726 -- 2,726 
Deferred tax liabilities 59,094 -- 59,094 
Lease liabilities -- 93,504 93,504 
    
Current liabilities 337,455 -- 337,455 

Trade and other payables 174,997 -- 174,997 

Payables to employees 6,229 -- 6,229 
Interest-bearing financial liabilities 126,385 (5,201) 121,184 
Other financial instruments, including derivatives 12,622 -- 12,622 
Provisions for restoration and renewal 8,713 -- 8,713 
Other provisions 479 -- 479 
Current income tax liabilities 8,030 -- 8,030 
Lease liabilities -- 5,201 5,201 
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the period ended 31 December 2019 

 
As previously 

reported Reclassification As restated 
Revenue 548 552 -- 548 552 
Electricity purchases (89,867) -- (89,867) 
Materials and consumables (52,000) -- (52,000) 
Gains and losses from derivatives -- 45,375 45,375 
Services (98,780) -- (98,780) 
Personnel expenses (85,028) -- (85,028) 
Other employee benefits (509) -- (509) 
Depreciation and amortisation (61,476) -- (61,476) 
Gain on bargain purchase 107,861 -- 107,861 
Changes in estimates relating to Provisions for restoration and 
renewal 27,624 -- 27,624 
Impairment loss on goodwill and other assets (366)  (366) 
Impairment loss on receivables 529  529 
Other operating expenses (110,715) -- (110,715) 
Other operating income 18,262 -- 18,262 
Operating profit  204,087 45,375 249,462 
    
Finance income 69,139 (49,268) 19,871 
Finance costs (58,087) 3,893 (54,194) 
Net finance income  11,052 (45,375) (34,323) 
    
Gain / (loss) on disposal of subsidiaries and associates -- -- -- 
Share on profit / (loss) of equity accounted investees, net of 
tax 

6,744 -- 6,744 

Profit before income tax 221,883 -- 221,883 
    
Income tax expense (22,108) -- (22,108) 
Profit for the period 199,775 -- 199,775 
    
Other comprehensive income    
Items that are or may be reclassified subsequently to 
profit or loss:    
Equity investments at FVOCI – net change in fair value 469 -- 469 
Foreign currency translation differences 6,109 -- 6,109 
Net change in fair value of cash-flow hedges - foreign 
exchange derivatives, after tax 29 -- 29 
Net change in fair value of cash-flow hedges – electricity and 
emission rights, after tax 10,406 -- 10,406 
Equity-accounted investees – share of OCI 22,410 -- 22,410 
Other comprehensive income, net of income tax 39,423 -- 39,423 
    
Total comprehensive income 239,198 -- 239,198 
    
Profit attributable to owners of the Company 199,775 -- 199,775 
Profit 199,775 -- 199,775 
     
Total comprehensive income attributable to owners of the 
Company 

239,198 -- 239,198 

Total comprehensive income 239,198 -- 239,198 
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Consolidated statement of cash flows for the year ended 31 December 2019 
 

As previously 
reported Reclassification As restated 

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES    
Profit / (loss) for the period 199,775 -- 199,775 
Adjustments for:    

 Income tax expense 22,108 -- 22,108 

 Share of profit of associates, net of tax (6,744) -- (6,744) 

 Interest expense, net 13,778 -- 13,778 

 Depreciation and amortisation 61,476 -- 61,476 

 Foreign exchange (gains)/losses, net 9,137 -- 9,137 

 Changes in estimates relating to Provisions for restoration and renewal (27,624) -- (27,624) 

 
Changes in provision for restoration and renewal recorded in net 
finance income or cost 

18,016 -- 18,016 

 Employee benefits 509 -- 509 

 Gain on sale of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets (527) -- (527) 

 
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries, special purpose entities, joint-
ventures, associates and NCI 

-- -- -- 

 Impairment losses on goodwill -- -- -- 

 
(Reversal of)/ Impairment losses on property, plant and equipment and 
intangible assets 

405 -- 405 

 Impairment losses / (Reversal of) impairment losses on provided loans  (216) -- (216) 

 
Impairment losses / (Reversal of) impairment losses on trade 
receivables, write-offs 

(313) -- (313) 

 
Impairment losses / (Reversal of) impairment losses on inventories, 
write-offs 

(39) -- (39) 

 (Gain)/Loss on disposal of inventories (478) -- (478) 

 (Gain)/Loss on disposal of financial assets 518 -- 518 

 Net change in fair value of financial assets at FVTPL (449) -- (449) 

 Net change in fair value of derivatives (45,375) -- (45,375) 

 Change in fair value of deferred consideration 547 -- 547 

 Change in fair value of contingent consideration asset (11,507) -- (11,507) 

 Gain on bargain purchase (107,861) -- (107,861) 
    

 Operating profit before changes in working capital and 
provisions 125,136 -- 125,136 

Increase / (decrease) in employee benefits  (533) -- (533) 

Increase / (decrease) in provisions (10,007) -- (10,007) 

(Increase) / decrease in inventories  (6,037) -- (6,037) 

(Increase) / decrease in receivables 83,366 -- 83,366 

Increase / (decrease) in payables (38,420) -- (38,420) 

(Increase) / decrease in restricted cash 4,537 -- 4,537 

(Increase) / decrease in emission allowances 4,824 -- 4,824 

Proceeds from derivatives -- 48,469 48,469 

Cash generated from / (used in) operations 162,866 48,469 211,335 
    
Interest paid (6,331) 498 (5,833) 
Interest paid for lease liabilities -- (498) (498) 
Income taxes paid (36,506) -- (36,506) 

Net cash generated from / (used in) operating activities 120,029 48,469 168,498 
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CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES    

Proceeds from the sale of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 3,222 -- 3,222 

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets (41,733) -- (41,733) 

Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired (78,524) -- (78,524) 

Acquisition of equity accounted investees (235,765) -- (235,765) 

Acquisition related cost (940) -- (940) 

Loans provided (4,639) -- (4,639) 

Proceeds from repayment of provided loans 36,647 -- 36,647 

Proceeds from other investments, including derivatives 68,686 (48,469) 20,217 

Interest received 2,963 -- 2,963 

Effect of common control transaction -- -- -- 

Dividends received 183 -- 183 

Net cash generated from / (used in) investing activities (249,900) (48,469) (298,369) 

    

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES  

Proceeds from loans  376,545 -- 376,545 

Repayments of loans (236,252) -- (236,252) 

Repayment of lease liabilities (5,057) -- (5,057) 

Dividends paid -- -- -- 

Net cash generated from / (used in) financing activities 135,236 -- 135,236 

    

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 5,365 -- 5,365 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 115,295 -- 115,295 

Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash held 1,042 -- 1,042 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 121,702 -- 121,702 

 
Simultaneously, the notes relating to the significant entries in current and comparative periods were also updated. 
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 The change in presentation of derivatives result within cash flow statement is as follows:

 •  decrease of cash flow from investing activities by TEUR 48,469 and presenting it within Cash generated from 

operation.

 ii) Reclassification of lease liabilities 

  The reason for the use of separate line items from 1 January 2020 is to more clearly show these specific liabilities on 

the face of the financial statements, this is driven by the balance of the liability significantly increasing compared to 

31 December 2019.

  The change in presentation of liabilities arising from leases from interest-bearing financial liabilities to lease liabilities has 

been reflected in comparative information as follows:

 •  Decrease of current interest-bearing financial liabilities by TEUR 5,201, increase of current lease liabilities by 

TEUR 5,201, decrease of non-current interest-bearing financial liabilities by TEUR 93,504, increase of non-current 

lease liabilities by TEUR 93,504. As of 1 January 2019 the result of the reclassification was a decrease of current 

interest-bearing financial liabilities by TEUR 5,186, increase of current lease liabilities by TEUR 5,186, decrease of non-

current interest-bearing financial liabilities by TEUR 95,136, increase of non-current lease liabilities by TEUR 95,136.

  Both these reclassifications and changes of presentations did not have any impact on the profit reported for the year 

ended 31 December 2019 nor the equity reported as at 31 December 2019. 
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4 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these consolidated financial 

statements, and have been applied consistently by Group entities. 

a) Basis of consolidation

 i) Accounting for acquisition of subsidiaries 

  a. Business combinations

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method as at the acquisition date, which is the date on which 

control is transferred to the Group. The Group controls the entity when it is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from 

its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity.

The Group measures goodwill at the acquisition date as:

• the fair value of the consideration transferred; plus

• the recognised amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree; plus

• if the business combination is achieved in stages, the fair value of the pre-existing equity interest in the acquiree; less

• the net recognised amount (generally fair value) of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed.

When the excess is negative, a bargain purchase gain is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The consideration transferred does not include amounts related to the settlement of pre-existing relationships. Such amounts 

are generally recognised in profit or loss.

Transaction costs, other than those associated with the issue of debt or equity securities, that the Group incurs in connection 

with a business combination are expensed as incurred.

Any contingent consideration payable is measured at fair value at the acquisition date. If the contingent consideration is 

classified as equity, then it is not remeasured and settlement is accounted for within equity. Otherwise, subsequent changes in 

the fair value of the contingent consideration are recognised in profit or loss.

  b. Acquisitions of subsidiaries under common control

Acquisition under common control which is a combination in which all the combining entities or businesses are ultimately 

controlled by the same party or parties both before and after the acquisition, and that control is not transitory. Such 

acquisitions are excluded from the scope of IFRS 3. The assets and liabilities acquired are recognised at the carrying amounts 

of the acquiree (i.e. value at cost as at the date of acquisition less accumulated depreciation and/or potential impairment). The 

difference between fair value of consideration transferred in the acquisition and net assets acquired is recognised directly in 

equity.

 ii) Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed to, or has rights to, variable 

returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity. The 

financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date on which control 

commences until the date on which control ceases.

 iii) Loss of control

On the loss of control, the Group derecognises the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary, any non-controlling interests and the 

other components of equity related to the subsidiary. Any surplus or deficit arising on the loss of control is recognised in profit 

or loss. If the Group retains any interest in the previous subsidiary, then such interest is measured at fair value at the date that 

control is lost. Subsequently it is accounted for as an equity-accounted investee or as an available-for-sale financial asset 

depending on the level of influence retained.

 iv) Interest in equity-accounted investees

The Group's interests in equity-accounted investees represent interests in associates and joint-ventures.

Associates are entities in which the Group has significant influence, but not control or joint control, over the financial and 

operating policies. Joint-ventures are entities in which the Group has joint control over the financial and operating policies. 
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Interest in associates and joint-ventures are accounted for under the equity method and are initially recognised at cost, which 

includes transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, the consolidated financial statements include the Group’s share 

of the total profit or loss and other comprehensive income of equity-accounted investees, until the date on which significant 

influence or joint control ceases. 

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds the carrying amount of the associate, the carrying amount is reduced to nil and 

recognition of further losses is discontinued, except to the extent that the Group has incurred obligations in respect of or has 

made payments on behalf of the associate or joint venture.

 v) Transactions eliminated on consolidation

Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised income and expenses arising from intra-group transactions, are 

eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements. 

Unrealised gains arising from transactions with equity-accounted investees are eliminated against the investment to the 

extent of the Group’s interest in the investee. Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains, but only to 

the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

 vi) Unification of accounting policies

The accounting policies and procedures applied by the consolidated entities in their financial statements were unified in the 

consolidation, and are consistent with the accounting policies applied by the parent company.

b) Foreign currency

 i) Foreign currency transactions 

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the functional currency of the Group at the exchange rate at the date 

of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date are retranslated 

to the functional currency at the CNB (Czech National Bank) official exchange rates. Non-monetary assets and liabilities 

denominated in foreign currencies that are measured at fair value are retranslated to the functional currency at the exchange 

rate at the date that the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in 

a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Foreign exchange differences arising 

on translation are recognised in profit or loss, except for foreign currency differences arising from the translation of the 

following item, which is recognised in other comprehensive income:

•  equity investments at FVOCI (except on impairment, in which case foreign currency differences that have been recognised 

in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss).

 ii) Translation to presentation currency – foreign operations 

The assets and liabilities, including goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on consolidation, are translated from functional 

currency into EUR at foreign exchange rate at the reporting date. The income and expenses are translated from functional 

currency into EUR using an average foreign exchange rate determined from the exchange rates valid in the reporting period.

Foreign exchange differences arising on translation are recognised in other comprehensive income and presented in the 

translation reserve in equity. The relevant proportion of the translation difference is allocated to non-controlling interests if 

applicable. At disposals relevant part of translation reserve is reclassified to profit or loss.

c) Financial instruments

 i) Non-derivative financial assets 

The Group initially recognises receivables and deposits on the date that they are originated. All other financial assets 

(including assets designated at fair value through profit or loss - FVTPL) are recognised initially on the trade date at which the 

Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. 

A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable without a significant financing component) is initially measured at fair value 

plus, for an item not at fair value through profit and loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable to its acquisition or 

issue. A trade receivable without a significant financing component is initially measured at the transaction price. 

On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as measured at amortised cost or FVTPL. Financial assets are not 

reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition unless the Group changes its business model for managing financial assets, 

in which case all affected financial assets are reclassified on the first day of the first reporting period following the change in 

the business model. 
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The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or it transfers 

the rights to receive the contractual cash flows on the financial asset in a transaction in which substantially all the risks and 

rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred. Any interest in transferred financial assets that is created or 

retained by the Group is recognised as a separate asset or liability.

Offsetting

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial position when, and only 

when, there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or 

to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 

Financial assets – Business model assessment 

The Group makes an assessment of the objective of the business model in which a financial asset is held at a portfolio level 

because this best reflects the way the business is managed and information is provided to management.

Transfers of financial assets to third parties in transactions that do not qualify for derecognition are not considered sales for 

its purpose, consistent with the Grouṕ s continuing recognition of the assets. Financial assets that are held for trading or are 

managed and whose performance is evaluated on a fair value basis are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets – Assessment whether contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest

For the purposes of this assessment, ṕrincipaĺ  is defined as the fair value of the financial asset on initial recognition. 

Ínterest´ is defined as consideration for the time value of money and for the credit risk associated with the principal 

amount outstanding during a particular period of the time and for other basic lending risks and costs (e.g. liquidity risk and 

administrative costs) as well as profit margin.

In assessment whether the contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest, the Group considers the 

contractual terms of the instrument. This includes assessing whether the financial asset contains a contractual term that 

could change the timing of amount of contractual cash flows such that is would not meet this condition. In making this 

assessment, the Group considers:

• contingent events that would change the amount or timing of cash flows;

• terms that may adjust the contractual coupon rate, including variable-rate features;

• prepayment and extension features; and

• terms that limit the Grouṕ s claim to cash flows from specified assets (e.g. non-recourse features). 

A prepayment feature is consistent with the solely payments of principal and interest criterion if the prepayment amount 

substantially represents unpaid amounts of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding, which may include 

reasonable additional compensation for early termination of the contract. Additionally, for a financial asset acquired at 

a discount or premium to its contractual par amount, a feature that permits or requires prepayment at an amount that 

substantially represents the contractual par amount plus accrued (but unpaid) contractual interest (which may also include 

reasonable additional compensation for early termination) is treated as consistent which this criterion if the fair value of the 

prepayment feature is insignificant at initial recognition. 

 a) Financial assets measured at amortised costs

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following conditions and is not designated as at FVTPL: 

•  it is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows; and

•  its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the 

principal amount outstanding. 

Financial assets measured at amortised costs comprise trade and other receivables and cash and cash equivalents. Such 

assets are recognised initially at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition 

they are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment losses.

 b) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

All financial assets not classified as measured at amortised costs as described above are measured at FVTPL. On initial 

recognition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset that otherwise meets the requirements to be measured at 

amortised cost as at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch that would otherwise arise.
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 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are measured at fair value. Net gains and losses, including any interest or 

dividend income, are recognised in profit or loss.

 c) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash and bank balances. 

 ii) Non-derivative financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are classified as measured at amortised cost. Interest expense and foreign exchange gains and losses are 

recognised in profit or loss. 

The Group derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged, cancelled or expire. On 

derecognition of a financial liability, the difference between the carrying amount extinguished ant the consideration paid 

(including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed) is recognised in profit or loss. 

Financial liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial position when, and only when, the 

Group has a legal right to offset the amounts and intends either to settle on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the 

liability simultaneously.

 iii) Derivative financial instruments 

The Group holds derivative financial instruments to hedge its foreign currency risk exposures and its exposure to risk of 

fluctuation in prices of commodities. 

Derivatives are recognised initially at fair value. Subsequent to initial recognition, derivatives are measured at fair value, and 

changes therein are generally recognised in profit and loss and/or in hedging reserve based on the following classification:

  a. Derivatives held for trading

Changes in the fair value of derivatives held for trading are recognized immediately in profit or loss.

  b. Derivatives classified as hedging instruments

The Group designated certain derivatives as hedging instruments to hedge the variability in cash flows associated with highly 

probable forecast transactions arising from changes in foreign exchange rates and from changes in prices of commodities.

On initial designation of the derivative as a hedging instrument, the Group formally documents the relationship between 

the hedging instrument and hedged item, including the risk management objectives and strategy in undertaking the hedge 

transaction and the hedged risk, together with the methods that will be used to assess the effectiveness of the hedging 

relationship. The Group also documents the economic relationship between the hedged item and the hedging instrument, 

including whether the changes in cash flows of the hedged item and hedging instrument are expected to offset each other. 

The Group makes an assessment, both at the inception of the hedge relationship as well as on an ongoing basis, of whether 

the hedging instruments are expected to be highly effective in offsetting the changes in the fair value or cash flows of the 

respective hedged items attributable to the hedged risk. The Group likewise assesses whether the effect of credit risk does not 

dominate the value changes that result from that economic relationship, whether the hedge ratio is within reasonable range 

and whether the economic relationship persists during the period and as of the date of the financial statements. For a cash 

flow hedge of a forecast transaction, the transaction should be highly probable to occur and should present an exposure to 

variations in cash flows that ultimately could affect reported profit or loss. 

Cash flow hedges 

When a derivative is designated as a cash flow hedging instrument in a hedge of the variability in cash flows attributable to 

a particular risk associated with a recognised asset or liability or a highly probable forecast transaction that could affect 

profit or loss, the effective portion of changes in the fair value of the derivative that is recognised in other comprehensive 

income is limited to the cumulative change in fair value of the hedged item, determined on a present value basis, from 

inception of the hedge. Any ineffective portion of changes in the fair value of the derivative is recognised immediately in profit 

or loss. 

The Group uses forward contracts to hedge against the risk of changes in FX rates and electricity and emission rights futures 

and forwards to hedge against changes in prices of those commodities.

The Group designates only the change in fair value of the spot element of forward exchange contracts as the hedging 

instrument in cash flow hedging relationship. The change in fair value of the forward element of forward exchange contracts 

(“forward points”) is separately accounted for as a cost of hedging and recognised in a costs of hedging reserve within equity. 

38Sev.en Energy AG Consolidated annual report of Sev.en Energy AG for the year ended 31 December 2020 (in thousands of EUR)



When the hedging instrument is traded on a commodity exchange the clearing center of the exchange calculates the changes 

in the fair value of the hedging instrument and on a daily basis either requires payment to cover decreases in value or makes 

a payment to the Group for increases in value of the hedging instrument. As a result changes in the fair value of hedging 

instrument reflected in the hedging reserve within equity do not have a corresponding receivable or payable within the 

statement of financial position.

When the hedged item is a non-financial asset, the amount accumulated in equity is retained in other comprehensive income 

and reclassified to profit or loss in the same period or periods during which the non-financial item affects profit or loss. In other 

cases as well, the amount accumulated in equity is reclassified to profit or loss in the same period that the hedged item affects 

profit or loss. 

If the hedging instrument no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, expires or is sold, terminated or exercised, then 

hedge accounting is discontinued prospectively. When hedge accounting for cash flow hedges is discontinued, the amount 

that has been accumulated in the hedging reserve remains in equity until, for a hedge of a transaction resulting in the 

recognition of a non-financial item, it is included in the non-financial item ś cost on its initial recognition or, for other cash flow 

hedges, it is reclassified to profit of loss in the same period or periods as the hedged expected future cash flows affect profit or 

loss. 

If the hedged future cash flows are no longer expected to occur, then the amounts that have been accumulated in the hedging 

reserve and the cost of hedging reserve are immediately reclassified to profit or loss. 

  c. Own-use exemption

The Group applies the “own use exemption” to contracts that were entered into for the purpose of the receipt or delivery of 

a non-financial item in accordance with the Group‘s expected purchase, sale or usage requirements. 

Contracts classified as „own use“ are not considered by the Group as derivative instruments and are not accounted for prior 

to the physical delivery of the relevant underlying asset. 

The “own use” classification is primarily applied to contracts for the purchase of inputs for production (coal, emission 

allowances) and for specific sale contracts produced electricity and coal the fulfil “own use exemption”.

d) Share capital

 i) Ordinary shares

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of ordinary shares and share 

options are recognised as a deduction from equity, net of any tax effects.

 ii) Other capital contributions

Other capital contributions represent additions to equity by shareholders out of the share capital (without issue of new shares).

e) Property, plant and equipment

 i) Recognition and measurement

Items of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment 

losses. Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. The cost of self-constructed 

assets includes the cost of materials and direct labour, any other costs directly attributable to bringing the assets to a working 

condition for their intended use, the costs of dismantling and removing the items and restoring the site on which they are 

located, and borrowing costs on qualifying assets. 

 ii) Subsequent costs

The cost of replacing a part of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised in the carrying amount of the item if it 

is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the part will flow to the Group, and its cost can be measured 

reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. The costs of the day-to-day servicing of property, plant 

and equipment are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

 iii) Depreciation

Depreciation is calculated over the depreciable amount, which is the cost of an asset, or other amount substituted for cost, 

less its residual value. Depreciation is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of each 

part of an item of property, plant and equipment, since this most closely reflects the expected pattern of consumption of the 

future economic benefits embodied in the asset.
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Leased assets are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and their useful lives unless it is reasonably certain that the 

Group will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term. Land is not depreciated.

The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative periods are as follows:

 • vehicles, computers    3–5 years

 • machinery and equipment   5–15 years

 • rolls, excavators   10-15 years

 • rails, sewerage   20–30 years

 • buildings   20–50 years

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each financial year-end and adjusted if appropriate.

f) Intangible assets and goodwill

 i) Goodwill

For measurement of goodwill at initial recognition, see note 4 (a)(i). 

Subsequent measurement

Goodwill is measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses. In respect of equity-accounted investees, the carrying 

amount of goodwill is included in the carrying amount of the investment, and an impairment loss on such an investment is not 

allocated to any asset, including goodwill, that forms part of the carrying amount of the equity-accounted investee.

 ii) Emission allowances

Emission allowances are accounted for as intangible assets as they are purchased and held primarily for the consumption 

within the Group. Emission allowances are also received from a government. 

Emission allowances purchased are measured at acquisition cost and emission allowances received at fair value upon their 

initial recognition/receipt. 

Subsequently, emission allowances are measured at cost less impairment and charged to the profit or loss upon their 

consumption or sale. The cost of emission allowances is based on the first-in-first-out acquisition cost principle.

Emission allowances received are accounted for as intangible assets and deferred income at their initial recognition. 

Subsequently, their settlement is recognized in profit or loss on a systematic basis over the compliance period, regardless of 

whether the allowances received continue to be held by the entity.

In case there are not sufficient emission allowances to cover the consumption within the Group, the accrual is created at the 

best estimate by the Group and presented as estimated payable within Trade and other payables at the year end. 
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 iii) Research and development

Expenditure on research activities, undertaken with the prospect of gaining new scientific or technical knowledge and 

understanding, is recognised in profit or loss as incurred. 

Development activities involve a plan or design for the production of new or substantially improved products and processes. 

Development expenditure is capitalised only if development costs can be measured reliably, the product or process is 

technically and commercially feasible, future economic benefits are probable, and the Group intends to and has sufficient 

resources to complete development and to use or sell the asset. The expenditure capitalised includes the cost of materials, 

direct labour, overhead costs that are directly attributable to preparing the asset for its intended use, and capitalised 

borrowing costs on qualifying assets. Other development expenditure is recognised in profit or loss as incurred. 

Capitalised development expenditure is measured at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment 

losses.

 iv) Other intangible assets

Other intangible assets that are acquired by the Group and have finite useful lives are measured at cost less accumulated 

amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. Other intangible assets include mining rights and customer contract 

recognized as a result of business combination and external technical studies, reports and documentation.

 v) Subsequent expenditure

Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it increases the future economic benefits embodied in the specific asset 

to which it relates. All other expenditure, including expenditure on internally generated goodwill and brands, is recognised in 

profit or loss as incurred.

 vi) Amortisation

Amortisation is calculated based on the cost of the asset, or other amount substituted for cost, less its residual value. 

Amortisation is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of intangible assets (two 

to five years), other than goodwill, from the date that they are available for use, since this most closely reflects the expected 

pattern of consumption of the future economic benefits embodied in the asset. 

 vii) Exploration for and Evaluation of Mineral Resources

Expenses on exploration for and evaluation of mineral resources are capitalized as mining licenses or property, plant and 

equipment as appropriate. These expenses are only tested for impairment not to exceed the recoverable amount. Impairment 

test is carried out in line with accounting policy.

g) Leased assets

At inception of contract, the Group assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the 

contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. To assess 

whether a contract conveys the rights to control the use of identified asset, the Group uses the definition of a lease in IFRS 16. 

This policy is applied to contracts entered into, on or after 1 January 2019. 

At commencement or on modification of a contract that contains a lease component, the Group allocates the consideration 

in the contract to each lease component on the basis of its relative stand-alone prices. However, for the leases of property the 

Company has elected not to separate non-lease components, as they were not material, and account for the lease and non-

lease components as a single lease component.

The Group recognizes a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement date. The right-of-use asset is 

initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the liability adjusted for any lease payments made at or 

before the commencement date, plus any initial direct costs incurred and an estimate of costs to dismantle or remove the 

underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset or the site on which it is located, less any lease incentives received. 
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The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method from the commencement date to the end 

of the lease term, unless the lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset to the Group by the end of the lease term or the 

cost of the right-of-use asset reflects that the Group will exercise a purchase option. In that case the right-of-use asset will 

be depreciated over the useful life of the underlying asset, which is determined on the same basis as those of property and 

equipment. In addition, the right-of-use asset is periodically reduced by impairment losses, if any, and adjusted for certain 

remeasurements of the lease liability. 

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the commencement 

date, discounted using the Grouṕ s incremental borrowing rate. 

The Group determines its incremental borrowing rate by obtaining interest rates from external financing sources and makes 

certain adjustments to reflect the terms of the lease and type of the asset leased. 

The lease liability is measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. It is remeasured when there is a change 

in future lease payments arising from a change in an index or rate. 

When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount of the right-of-

use asset, or is recorded in profit or loss in the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero. 

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not meet the definition of investment property in ṕroperty, plant and 

equipment´ and lease liabilities in ínterest-bearing financial liabilitieś  in the statement of financial position. 

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for leases of low-value assets and short-term 

leases, including cars. The Group recognises the lease payments associated with these leases as an expense on a straight-line 

basis over the lease term. 

h) Inventories

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The cost of inventories includes expenditure incurred in 

acquiring the inventories, production or conversion costs and other costs incurred in bringing them to their existing location 

and condition. In the case of manufactured inventories and work in progress, cost includes an appropriate share of production 

overheads based on normal operating capacity. 

 i) Coal 

The cost of inventories of coal is based on the weighted average acquisition cost principle. 

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs of completion 

and selling expenses.

i) Impairment

 i) Non-derivative financial assets 

The Group uses for the recognition and measurement of impairment losses of financial assets measured at amortised costs 

the “expected credit loss” model (ECLs).

The Group measures loss allowance in the amount of 12-month ECL for the assets whose credit risk has not increased 

significantly since initial recognition and in the amount of lifetime ECL for the assets whose credit risk has increased 

significantly since initial recognition. For trade receivables The Group applies the simplified approach and always measures 

the ECL for these assets in the amount of lifetime ECL, using the provisioning matrix approach. 
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Lifetime ECLs are the ECLs that result from all possible default events over the expected life of a financial instrument. Any 

non-payment upon maturity is considered a default event as this is a market practise. The maximum period considered 

when estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual period over which the Group is exposed to credit risk. Any modification to 

the contractual cash flows from a contractual instrument are assessed individually to determine whether credit risk on the 

relevant instrument has increased. 

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit losses are measured as the present value of cash shortfalls 

(i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the entity in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the 

Company expects to receive). ECLs are discounted at the effective interest rate of the financial asset.

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since initial recognition and when 

estimating ECLs, the Group considers reasonable and supportable information that is relevant and available without undue 

cost or effort. This included both quantitative and qualitative information and analysis, based on the Grouṕ s historical 

experience and informed credit assessment and including forward-looking information. The Group considers that the credit 

risk has increased significantly at the latest if the financial asset is 30 days past due. The forward-looking information includes 

both internal assessments as well as macroeconomic information and publications by reputable external parties.

In determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset is low management considers if the borrower has a strong capacity 

to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near term and adverse changes in economic and business conditions in 

the longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations. 

Management does not consider financial instruments to have low credit risk when they are regarded as having a low risk of 

loss simply because of the value of collateral and the financial instrument without that collateral would not be considered 

low credit risk. Financial instruments are also not considered to have low credit risk simply because they have a lower risk of 

default than the Group’s other financial instruments or relative to the credit risk of the jurisdiction within which the Group 

operates. To the extent the Group receives collateral the ECL calculations will represent the maximum credit exposure before 

the collateral is taken into account and relevant disclosures will be made as required.

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether financial assets carried at amortised costs are credit-impaired. 

A financial asset is credit-impaired if one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows 

of the financial asset have occurred. The financial asset is considered credit-impaired at the latest if it is at least 90 days past 

due.

Based on all these characteristics, The Group classifies financial assets into 3 Stages:

 • Stage 1 - assets whose credit risk has not increased significantly since initial recognition,

 • Stage 2 - assets whose credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition,

 • Stage 3 - credit-impaired financial assets.

ECL is calculated based on the formula:

ECL = PD * LGD * EAD * Dt, where:

PD is Probability of Default (12 Months for Stage 1 and Lifetime for Stage 2 and 3). PD is estimated from the external rating 

of the counterparty, implied by the borrowing rate and corresponding yields of externally rated debt securities. For Stage 3 

financial assets, PD is 1 as these assets are credit-impaired.
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LGD is the loss given default, based on information provided by external credit rating agencies for individual external credit 

rating steps.

EAD is the gross carrying amount of the financial asset at the reporting date, adjusted for accrued interest and repayment 

schedule in the period of ECL assessment (12 Months or Lifetime).

Dt is the discount factor, based on the original effective interest rate of the financial asset.

The loss allowance is adjusted for forward-looking information. Forward-looking information is incorporated based on 

the recent and forecasted development of major macroeconomic indicators (GDP growth rate, Unemployment, Dwellings 

price index, Inflation, Non-Performing Loans and Default Rates), depending on whether the information is expected to have 

a positive or negative impact. 

Loss allowances for financial assets measured at amortised cost are deducted from the gross carrying amount of the assets. 

For individual customers, the Group has a policy to recognize an impairment loss allowance of 20% of the gross carrying 

amount when the financial asset is more than 3 months past due, of 50% if it is more than 6 months past due and of 100% if it is 

more than 12 months past due. The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off when the Group has no reasonable 

expectations of recovering a financial asset in its entirety or a portion thereof. However, the receivable shall remain in the 

Group’s statement of financial position even after 12 months of non-payment if it is probable that the receivable will be sold in 

a near future, or significant recoveries are expected. In such case, the receivable outstanding amount shall be derecognised at 

the moment of the sale or later as soon as no significant recoveries are expected.

For the financial assets that are not overdue, the Group assess the risks associated with the relevant financial assets based on 

actual credit loss experience over past years. Loss rates are calculated based on the probability of a receivable progressing 

through successive stages of delinquency to write-off. 

 ii) Non-financial assets 

The carrying amounts of the Group’s non-financial assets, other than deferred tax assets (see accounting policy Income tax), 

are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, 

then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. 

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs to sell. In assessing value in 

use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current 

market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. For the purpose of impairment testing, 

assets are companied together into the smallest Company of assets that generates cash inflows from continuing use that are 

largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets.

Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. 

For assets, an impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying 

amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.
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j) Employee benefits

The Group provides the following long-term benefits to its employees:

Miners’ loyalty allowance – in accordance with Act No. 62/1983 Coll. and Government Directive No. 67/1983 Coll. implementing 

the Act, the Group provides miners’ loyalty allowance to its employees.

Ill health severance pay – employees whose employment is terminated by the employer on the grounds given in Section 52(d) 

of the Labour Code or by mutual agreement for the same reasons are entitled to ill health severance pay; these employees are 

entitled to 12 times their average monthly earnings, as per Section 67(1) of the Labour Code.

Other benefits – loyalty bonus, anniversary bonus, special miners’ contribution, in-kind contribution, medical procedures, 

severance pay on dismissal for organisational reasons and on old-age or full-disability retirement.

The value of the obligation from employee benefits is estimated using actuarial models, i.e. the projected unit credit method, 

applying realistic economic and demographic assumptions. The liability thus calculated is discounted to its present value. 

The discount rate is determined as the yield on government bonds that have terms to maturity approximating those of the 

liabilities from employee benefits.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised as an expense when the Group is committed demonstrably, without a realistic possibility 

of withdrawal, to a formal detailed plan to either terminate employment before the normal retirement date, or to provide 

termination benefits as a result of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy. Termination benefits for voluntary 

redundancies are recognised as an expense if the Group has made an offer of voluntary redundancy, it is probable that the 

offer will be accepted, and the number of acceptances can be estimated reliably. If benefits are payable more than 12 months 

after the reporting period, then they are discounted to their present value.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed as the related service 

is provided. A liability is recognised for the amount expected to be paid under short-term cash bonus or profit-sharing plans 

if the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service provided by the 

employee, and the obligation can be estimated reliably.

k) Provisions

A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event, the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation that can be 

estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. Provisions 

are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of 

the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability. The unwinding of the discount is recognised as finance cost.

 i) Provision for emission allowances 

In the case of emission allowances the Group creates a provision when the amount of required emission allowances to cover 

the emissions of greenhouse gasses exceeds the sum of the amount of allowances held at year end less the amount of 

compensation for emission allowances paid or accrued for by the Group toward third parties. The provision corresponds to 

the amount of required emission allowances multiplied by the market price of allowances as of the reporting date less cost for 

emission allowances whose shortfall has already been included within costs at year end. To the extent that a portion of the 

required amount of emission allowances is covered by forward purchase agreements concluded by the Group the market price 

of allowances is applied only the required amount of allowances for which the price is not contractually fixed. 
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 ii) Provision for restoration and renewal

An obligation to incur restoration, rehabilitation and environmental costs arises when environmental disturbance arises 

through the development or ongoing production of a mining property and the Group is liable for environmental damage 

caused by mining activities.

These future costs generally include restoration and remediation of land and disturbed areas, mine closure costs, including 

the dismantling and demolition of infrastructure and the removal of residual materials, and mining damage costs.

Determining the cost of mine restoration and renewal during mining activities in accordance with the Group’s accounting 

policy requires the use of significant estimates and assumptions, including the appropriate discount rate, the timing of cash 

flows, expected life of the relevant mine, the application of relevant environmental legislation, and the future expected costs of 

mine restoration and renewal. Restoration and rehabilitation is expected to be finished in the year 2068. 

Changes in the estimates and assumptions used to determine the cost of mine restoration and renewal could have a material 

impact on the carrying value of the restoration and renewal provision. The provision is recognised as the net present value 

of the estimated outflow of economic resources to settle the obligation. The provision recognised for the mine is reviewed at 

each reporting date and updated based on facts and circumstances available at that time. Changes in estimates related to 

the mining area (e.g. increase (decrease) of future mining area, finished restorations) are reported as other operating costs 

(income). Changes in prices or discount rate are reported in finance costs (income). 

 iii) Warranties

A provision for warranties is recognised when the underlying products or services are sold. The provision is based on historical 

warranty data and a weighting of all possible outcomes against their associated probabilities.

 iv) Restructuring

A provision for restructuring is recognised when the Group has approved a detailed and formal restructuring plan, and the 

restructuring either has commenced or has been announced publicly. Future operating losses are not provided for.

 v) Litigations and claims

Settlement of a lawsuit represents an individual potential obligation. Determining the best estimate either involves expected 

value calculations, where possible outcomes, stated based on a legal study, are weighted by their likely probabilities or it is the 

single most likely outcome, adjusted as appropriate to consider risk and uncertainty.

 vi) Onerous contracts

A provision for onerous contracts is recognised when the expected benefits to be derived by the Group from a contract are 

lower than the unavoidable cost of meeting its obligations under the contract. The provision is measured at the present value 

of the lower of the expected cost of terminating the contract and the expected net cost of continuing with the contract. Before 

a provision is established, the Group recognises any impairment loss on the assets associated with that contract.
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l) Revenue

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a contract with a customer. The Group recognises revenue when 

it transfers control over a good or service to a customer.

For sales of electricity and coal payment terms are in line with industry practices without any significant financing components 

and without variable consideration. The performance obligation from contracts with customers is satisfied at a point in time 

without transaction price needing to be allocated to multiple components with different timing. No significant judgments are 

required to identify the point in time to determine when the customer obtains control of promised goods / services as this is 

clearly stated in the contracts with customers and corresponds to standard industry practices. The Group does not have any 

significant costs to obtain or fulfil contracts with customers.

 i) Sale of electricity

The Group focuses mainly on electricity production and sale and trading with electricity on energy exchanges. Revenue from 

sold electricity is recognised at the moment of actual electricity delivery.

 ii) Sale of coal

The Group also focuses on coal extraction and sale to various power stations, chemical plants and other customers in Czech 

Republic. Revenue from the sale of coal is recognised when the coal is delivered and have been accepted by customers, 

either at their premises or at the place of loading, depending on the point of transfer of substantially all risks and rewards 

of ownership. For contracts that permit the customer to return an item, revenue is recognised to the extent that it is highly 

probable that a significant reversal in the amount of revenue recognised will not occur. Therefore, the amount of revenue 

recognised is adjusted for expected returns, which are estimated based on historical data. In these circumstances, a refund 

liability and a right to recover returned goods asset are recognised. The right to recover returned goods asset is measured at 

the former carrying amount of the inventory less any expected costs to recover goods. The Company reviews its estimate to 

expected returns at each reporting date and updates the amounts of the asset and liability accordingly.

The timing of the transfers of risks and rewards varies depending on the individual terms of the contract of sale.

 iii) Services

The services provided by the Group are mainly the transportation of coal and other revenues including mainly revenues from 

engineering services, revenues from renovation and land reclamation and rental revenues. Revenue from services rendered 

is recognised in profit or loss in proportion to the stage of completion of the transaction at the reporting date. Payment terms 

are in line with industry practices without any significant financing components and without variable consideration. The stage 

of completion is assessed by reference to surveys of work performed.

Operating lease effects from lessor’s point of view charged to profit are presented within the revenues in case of rental 

revenues resulting from core business of the Group company Servis Leasing a.s. Other operating leases provided as 

supplemental activities of Vršanská uhelná a.s. are presented within other operating income.

 iv) Construction contracts

Contract revenue includes the initial amount agreed in the contract plus any variations in contract work, claims and incentive 

payments, to the extent that it is probable that they will result in revenue and can be measured reliably. As soon as the 

outcome of a construction contract can be estimated reliably, contract revenue is recognised in profit or loss in proportion to 

the stage of completion of the contract. Contract expenses are recognised as incurred unless they create an asset related to 

future contract activity. The stage of completion is assessed by reference to surveys of work performed. When the outcome 

of a construction contract cannot be estimated reliably, contract revenue is recognised only to the extent of contract costs 

incurred that are likely to be recoverable. An expected loss on a contract is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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m) Finance income and finance costs

Finance income comprises interest income on funds invested, dividend income, gains on the disposal of available-for-

sale financial assets, changes in the fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, and gains on hedging 

instruments that are recognised in profit or loss. Interest income is recognised as it accrues in profit or loss, using the effective 

interest method. Dividend income is recognised in profit or loss on the date that the Group’s right to receive payment is 

established, which in the case of quoted securities is the ex-dividend date. 

Finance costs comprise interest expense on loans borrowings, unwinding of the discount on provisions, changes in the fair 

value of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, impairment losses recognised on financial assets, and losses on 

hedging instruments that are recognised in profit or loss. Borrowing costs that are not directly attributable to the acquisition, 

construction or production of a qualifying asset are recognised in profit or loss using the effective interest method. 

Foreign currency gains and losses are reported on a net basis as either finance income or finance cost depending on whether 

the foreign currency movements are in a net gain or net loss position.

n) Income tax

Tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Current tax and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss except to the 

extent that it relates to a business combination, or items recognised directly in equity or in other comprehensive income.

Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year, using tax rates enacted or 

substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.
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Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for 

financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not recognised for: 

 •  temporary differences on the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a business combination 

and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss;

 •  temporary differences related to investments in subsidiaries and jointly controlled entities to the extent that it is probable 

that they will not reverse in the foreseeable future; and 

 •  taxable temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of goodwill. 

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary differences when they reverse, based 

on the laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities and assets, and 

they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable entity, or on different tax entities, but they 

intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be realised simultaneously.

A deferred tax asset is recognised for unused tax losses, tax credits and deductible temporary differences, to the extent 

that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they can be utilised. Future taxable profits are 

determined based on the reversal of relevant taxable temporary differences. If the amount of taxable temporary differences 

is insufficient to recognise a deferred tax asset in full, then future taxable profits, adjusted for reversals of existing temporary 

differences, are considered, based on the business plan for individual subsidiaries in the Group. Deferred tax assets are 

reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be 

realised; such reductions are reversed when the probability of future taxable profits improves.

Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at each reporting date and recognised to the extent that it has become 

probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they can be used.
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5 NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS 

a) New standards, amendments and interpretations approved by the EU but not yet effective

The Company is assessing the impact of following new standards or amendments:

–  Amendments to IFRS 16 Leases Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions beyond 30 June 2021 (Amendment to IFRS 16) (effective 

from 1 April 2021)

–  Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements: Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current (effective 

1 January 2023)

–  Amendments to IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before Intended Use (effective 1 January 2022)

–  Amendments to IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets: Onerous Contracts - Cost of Fulfilling 

a Contract (effective 1 January 2022)

–  Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2018–2020 (effective 1 January 2022) 

–  Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28: Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture 

(available for optional adoption/effective date deferred indefinitely)

Where transition provisions in adopted IFRS gave an entity the choice of whether to apply new standards prospectively or 

retrospectively, the Company elected to apply the Standards prospectively from the date of transition.

Based on assessments undertaken to date, the Company does not expected the adoption of these standards to have 

a material impact on the financial statements. 

The actual impacts of adopting the standards as at 1 January 2020 may change because the new accounting policies are 

subject to change until the Company presents its first financial statements that include the date of initial application.
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6 DETERMINATION OF FAIR VALUES 

Several of the Group’s accounting policies and disclosures require the determination of fair value, for both financial and non-

financial assets and liabilities. Fair values have been determined for measurement and/or disclosure purposes based on the 

following methods. When applicable, further information about the assumptions made in determining fair values is disclosed in 

the notes specific to that asset or liability.

The Group applies IFRS 13 as a source of fair value measurement guidance. It defines fair value, establishes a framework for 

measuring fair value and sets out disclosure requirements for fair value measurements. It also requires disclosure of fair value 

measurements by level of the following fair value measurement hierarchy:

 •  Level 1: Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;

 •  Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly 

(i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices);

 •  Level 3: Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data.

For valuation of derivative financial instruments, the Group uses level 1 of fair value measurement hierarchy for Exchange 

traded products and level 2 of fair value measurement hierarchy for OTC contracts. The Group uses quotations from 

commodity exchange for determining fair value of commodity contracts and bank valuation for foreign exchange products.

Fair values of financial assets at FVTPL are determined using level 2 of fair value measurement hierarchy. Directly available 

inputs from official institutions are used in the fair value measurement. 

Fair values of financial assets and liabilities not measured at fair value are determined using level 3 of fair value measurement 

hierarchy except for fair values of cash and cash equivalents that is determined using level 1 of fair value measurement 

hierarchy. Carrying values of financial assets and liabilities not measured at fair value (except for finance lease liabilities and 

deferred consideration receivables) are a reasonable approximation of their fair value and therefore are not shown separately 

in Notes, except the following tables on pages 52 and 53.

There were no transfers between levels of fair value measurement hierarchy during current year 2020 and during previous 

year 2019. 
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Balance 31 
December 2020

Carrying value Fair value

Financial assets 
measured 
at fair value

Fair value 
– hedging 

instruments

FVTPL 
– others

FVOCI 
– equity 

securities

Financial 
assets at 

amortized 
costs

Other 
financial 
liabilities

Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Equity securities -- -- 1,318 -- -- 1,318 -- -- 1,318 1,318

Derivative 

instruments at 

FVTPL

-- 788 -- -- -- 788 -- 788 -- 788

Financial assets 

at FVTPL
-- 138 -- -- -- 138 -- 138 -- 138

Financial assets not measured at fair value

Trade and other 

receivables 1)
-- -- -- 183,303 -- 183,303 -- -- 183,303 183,303

Provided loans -- -- -- 113,786 -- 113,786 -- -- 113,786 113,786

Lease receivables -- -- -- 331 -- 331 -- -- 331 331

Debt instruments 

at amortized cost 

+ government 

bonds

-- -- -- 15,499 -- 15,499 -- -- 15,499 15,499

Cash and cash 

equivalents and 

Restricted cash

-- -- -- 176,418 -- 176,418 176,418 -- -- 176,418

Financial liabilities measured at fair value

Financial liabilities 

at FVTPL
-- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- --

Derivative 

instruments at 

FVTPL

-- 11,381 -- -- -- 11,381 -- 11,381 -- 11,381

Derivative 

instruments for 

hedging

19,317 -- -- -- -- 19,317 -- 19,317 -- 19,317

Financial liabilities not measured at fair value

Bank loans -- -- -- -- 181,124 181,124 -- -- 181,124 181,124

Bonds issued -- -- -- -- 98,271 98,271 -- -- 98,271 98,271

Loans from 

related parties
-- -- -- -- 182,362 182,362 -- -- 182,362 182,362

Loans from third 

parties
-- -- -- -- 168,280 168,280 -- -- 168,280 168,280

Finance lease 

liabilities
-- -- -- -- 95,116 95,116 -- -- 94,524 94,524

Trade and other 

payables 2)
-- -- -- -- 278,830 278,830 -- -- 278,830 278,830

 1) Excluding non-financial assets (other tax receivables, prepaid expenses and advances paid) 
 2) Excluding non-financial liabilities (other tax payables, advances received and deferred revenues)
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Balance 31 
December 2019

Carrying value Fair value

Financial assets 
measured 
at fair value

Fair value 
– hedging 

instruments

FVTPL 
– others

FVOCI 
– equity 

securities

Financial 
assets at 

amortized 
costs

Other 
financial 
liabilities

Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Equity securities 16 -- -- 1,362 -- -- 1,362 -- -- 1,362 1,362

Derivative 

instruments at 

FVTPL

16, 28 -- 5,433 -- -- -- 5,433 -- 5,433 -- 5,433

Financial assets at 

FVTPL
16 -- 18,629 -- -- -- 18,629 -- 18,629 -- 18,629

Financial assets not measured at fair value

Trade and other 

receivables 1)
18 -- -- -- 108,627 -- 108,627 -- -- 108,627 108,627

Provided loans 16 -- -- -- 30,471 -- 30,471 -- -- 30,471 30,471

Lease receivables 16, 30 -- -- -- 743 -- 743 -- -- 743 743

Financial assets at 

amortized cost – 

government bonds

16, 21 -- -- -- 8,067 -- 8,067 -- -- 8,067 8,067

Cash and cash 

equivalents and 

Restricted cash

19,21 -- -- -- 226,493 -- 226,493 226,493 -- -- 226,493

Financial liabilities measured at fair value

Financial liabilities 

at FVTPL
27 -- 3,672 -- -- -- 3,672 -- 3,672 -- 3,672

Derivative 

instruments at 

FVTPL

27, 28 -- 9,721 -- -- -- 9,721 -- 9,721 -- 9,721

Derivative 

instruments for 

hedging

27, 28 -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- --

Financial liabilities not measured at fair value

Bank loans 26 -- -- -- -- 175,990 175,990 -- -- 175,990 175,990

Loans from related 

parties
26 -- -- -- -- 201,783 201,783 -- -- 201,783 201,783

Loans from third 

parties 
26 -- -- -- -- 247,668 247,668 -- -- 247,668 247,668

Finance lease 

liabilities
26, 30 -- -- -- -- 98,705 98,705 -- -- 98,081 98,081

Trade and other 

payables 2)
25 -- -- -- -- 162,778 162,778 -- -- 162,778 162,778

 1) Excluding non-financial assets (other tax receivables, prepaid expenses and advances paid)
 2) Excluding non-financial liabilities (other tax payables, advances received and deferred revenues)
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a) Non-derivative financial assets

The fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive 

income and financial assets at amortized cost is based on their quoted market price at the reporting date without any 

deduction for transaction costs. If a quoted market price is not available, the fair value of the instrument is estimated by 

management using pricing models or discounted cash flow techniques.

Where discounted cash flow techniques are used, estimated future cash flows are based on management’s best estimates 

and the discount rate is a market-related rate at the reporting date for an instrument with similar terms and conditions. Where 

pricing models are used, inputs are based on market-related measures at the reporting date.

The fair value of financial assets at amortized cost is determined for disclosure purposes only.

b) Non-derivative financial liabilities

Fair value, which is determined for disclosure purposes, is calculated based on the present value of future principal and 

interest cash flows, discounted at the market rate of interest at the reporting date. For leases the market rate of interest is 

determined by reference to similar lease agreements.

c) Derivatives

The fair value of forward exchange contracts and commodity futures is based on their listed market price, if available. If 

a listed market price is not available, then fair value is estimated by discounting the difference between the contractual 

forward price and the current forward price for the residual maturity of the contract using a risk-free interest rate (based on 

government bonds).

Fair values reflect the credit risk of the instrument and include adjustments to take account of the credit risk of the Group and 

counter-party when appropriate.
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7 REVENUE AND EXPENSES

2020 2019

Revenue from sale of energy 495,019 341,236

Revenue from sale of coal 150,602 185,534

Revenue from sale of heat 26,856 9,540

Revenue from sale of gas 1,563 593

Revenues from transportation 11,918 5,448

Other revenue 7,991 6,201

Total revenues 693,949 548,552

Other revenues include mainly revenues from engineering and construction operations, revenues from renovation and land 

reclamation and rental revenues of the Group entity Servis Leasing a.s. Revenues from sale of heat and gas are attributable to 

Teplárna Kladno s.r.o. acquired through business combination in 2019 (refer to Note 2 (c) (ii)).

2020 2019

Electricity purchases 195,043 89,867

Purchases of gas 864 --

Materials and consumables 95,956 52,000

Services 83,623 98,780

Electricity purchases are costs of electricity purchased by the electricity traders, in 2020 and attributable mainly 

to Sev.en Commodities AG (2020: TEUR 195,043 and 2019: TEUR 89,521). Depending on market prices of electricity 

Sev.en Commodities AG either purchases electricity on the commodity market to satisfy its contractual commitments to 

deliver electricity or use the production capacity of Group powerplants to produce the requirement amount of electricity. 

Increase in electricity purchases in 2020 compared to 2019 is due to market development of prices whereby it was more 

advantageous for the Group to produce electricity rather than purchase it from other producers with different cost structures. 

Materials and consumables represents mainly consumption of material in the extraction of coal and production of electricity 

and heat. In 2020 the majority of the costs were incurred by Teplárna Kladno s.r.o. in total amount of TEUR 61,308, by 

Severní energetická a.s. in total amount of TEUR 16,379 and by Coal Services a.s. of TEUR 14,191. In 2019 the majority of the 

costs were incurred by Teplárna Kladno s.r.o. in total amount of TEUR 26,829 and by Severní energetická a.s. in total amount of 

TEUR 18,734. The reason for the increase in costs of Teplárna Kladno s.r.o. is due to its acquisition on 31 August 2019 and thus 

shorter comparative period for 2019. 

In 2020, the decrease in Services is mainly attributable to decrease in Services of Vršanská uhelná a.s. (the Services decreased 

from TEUR 46,990 in 2019 to TEUR 27,307 in 2020 and primarily consist of engineering and reclamation works). 
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8 OTHER OPERATING INCOME AND EXPENSES

a) Other operating income

2020 2019

Combustion by-products and materials 1) 5,135 4,873

Rentals 2) 494 1,916

Net gain on sale of material 982 485

Net gain on sale of property, plant and equipment 2,159 918

Net gain on sale of emission allowances (Note 15) 3) 13,878 859

Economic, HR and IT services 346 69

Fines and penalties for breach for contract 4) 95 4,110

Allocation of emission allowances (Note 15) 5) 6,118 92

Other operating income 6) 42 4,940

Total 29,249 18,262

1)  Represents sales of ash, slag, gypsum and other by-products from powerplants.

2)  Rentals included in other operating income resulted from supplemental activities of Vršanská uhelná a.s.

3)  Due to reduced electricity demand in 2020, the Group had a surplus of emission allowances which were sold at a profit.

4)  The 2019 income from penalties primarily represents compensation from a guaranteeing bank of TEUR 3,688, see Note 34 

for details. The bank appealed the court decision to pay the compensation and the compensation was returned in 2020.

5)  The increase in 2020 is primarily due to Teplárna Kladno s.r.o. (“TK”) which has a significant allocation of free emission 

allowances (as it produces a significant amount of heat for households unlike the Chvaletice power plant), the 2019 allocation 

of emission allowances preceded the acquisition of TK by the Group and represented an income of the seller of TK. 

6)  In 2019, a portion of other operating income were one-off items such as insurance claims and compensations for legal fees 

and other damages.
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b) Other operating expenses

2020 2019

Other tax expenses (8,905) (11,341)

Loss on sale of material -- (7)

Loss on sale of property, plant and equipment and 

intangibles
(1,129) (391)

Consumption of emission allowances (Note 15) (101,462) (42,739)

Estimated value of emission allowances to cover 

the expected consumption in current reporting 

period (Note 26)

-- (49,487)

Other operating expenses (12,619) (6,750)

Total (124,115) (110,715)

Other tax expenses include mineral extraction tax, road tax and property tax. 

Consumption of emission allowances is recorded based on the estimated volume of emissions produced in the current 

accounting period by Sev.en EC, a.s., Teplárna Kladno s.r.o. and Teplárna Zlín s.r.o.

Other operating expenses include insurance premiums for property and persons, write-offs of receivables, compensation for 

work accidents and gifts and donations. 

2020 2019

Statutory audit (606) (277)

Other non-audit expenses -- (7)

Total (606) (284)
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9 IMPAIRMENT LOSS

Impairment loss on goodwill and other assets Note 2020 2019

Impairment loss on goodwill 1) 15 (41,828) --

(Impairment loss) / Reversal of impairment loss on intangibles 2) 15 5 1,680

(Impairment loss) / Reversal of impairment loss on property, plant 

and equipment 3) + 4)
14 (790) (2,085)

(Impairment loss) / Reversal of impairment loss on inventory 18 (335) 39

Total (42,948) (366)

1)  As a result of impairment testing of goodwill in 2020, the Group recognized additional impairment loss on goodwill of 

TEUR (41,828). For details of impairment testing refer to Note 15.

2)  As a result of impairment testing of goodwill in 2019, a portion of impairment that was prior to 2018 allocated to mining rights 

and customer contracts of Severní energetická a.s. and Sev.en EC, a.s. was reversed in the amount of TUER 1,680.

3)  In 2020, the Group recognized impairment of TEUR (831), primarily to tangible assets under construction of Sev.en EC, a.s. 

and released a portion of impairment of TEUR 41.

4)  In 2019, the Group recognized impairment of TEUR (5,494), primarily to tangible assets under construction of Sev.en EC, a.s. 

and released a portion of impairment that had been recognized prior to 2018 in the amount of TEUR 3,409 as a result of 

impairment testing of goodwill in 2019 (refer to Note 14 for details).

Impairment loss on receivables and loans Note 2020 2019

(Impairment loss) / Reversal of impairment loss on receivables 30 (c) (v) 1 313

(Impairment loss) / Reversal of impairment loss on loans 5) 30 (c) (v) (771) 216

(Impairment loss) / Impairment gain on loans purchased or 

originated as credit impaired 6)
30 (c) (v) 8,566 --

Total 7,796 529

5)  In 2020, net impairment loss on loans comprised impairment loss of TEUR (777) on loans provided to third parties and 

reversal of impairment loss of TEUR 6 on loans provided to related parties. In 2019, net reversal of impairment loss of TEUR 71 

is attributable to loans provided to third parties and net reversal of impairment loss of TEUR 145 to loans to related parties.

6)  In 2020, the Group recognized impairment gain of TEUR 8,566 on loans to related parties Purchased or Originated as Credit 

Impaired during 2020. The debtor has undergone bankruptcy proceedings that concluded before the end of 2019, due to 

the very significant improvement in commodity prices the financial outlook of the debtor has improved and a portion of the 

initial undiscounted lifetime expected credit losses of TUSD 38,940 (TEUR 35,030) were reversed as of 31 December 2020, 

see Note 17 for further details. 
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10 PERSONNEL EXPENSES

2020 2019

Wages and salaries (65,360) (60,799)

Compulsory social security contributions (23,398) (22,639)

Other personnel expenses (2,028) (1,590)

Personnel expenses (90,786) (85,028)

Expenses related to employee benefits (42) (509)

Total (90,828) (85,537)

11 GAINS AND LOSSES FROM DERIVATIVES

2020
2019* 

restated

Commodity derivatives 1) 14,500 39,706

FX derivative instruments 2) (3,894) 5,669

Net gain / (loss) recognised 10,606 45,375

 * The comparative information is restated on account of correction of change in presentation. Refer to Note 3(f).

1)  Commodity derivatives represent gains and losses from revaluation of commodity exchange traded derivatives and OTC 

contracts (EE, EUA, gas) and impact of realized commodity instruments.

2)  Foreign exchange instruments represent impact of change in fair value and realized part of FX contracts.
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12 FINANCE INCOME AND FINANCE COSTS

2020
2019* 

restated

Interest income on unimpaired debt instruments (including restricted 

securities) held at amortised costs 3)
224 437

Interest income on bank deposits 3) 913 3,177

Interest income on loans and receivables 3) 5,214 3,148

Interest income on lease receivables 3) 49 72

Provision for restoration and renewal: Effect of changes in prices, 

time factor and effect of discount rate
2,351 --

Net change in fair value of financial assets at fair value through 

profit or loss (FVTPL)
289 449

Net foreign exchange gain 13,181 998

Change in fair value of contingent consideration asset 1) -- 11,507

Change in fair value of deferred consideration liability 2) 426 --

Other finance income 8 83

Finance income 22,655 19,871

Provisions for restoration and renewal: Effect of changes in prices, 

time factor and effect of discount rate (Note 24)
(15,833) (18,016)

Interest expense on loans 3) (22,067) (17,062)

Interest expense on lease liabilities 3) (3,377) (3,493)

Net change in fair value of financial assets at fair value through 

profit or loss (FVTPL)
(1) --

Net foreign exchange loss (12,905) (10,135)

Bank charges (1,298) (1,190)

Interest expense on employee benefits (Note 23) (45) (57)

Net loss on disposal of financial assets at fair value through 

profit or loss (FVTPL)
-- (518)

Change in fair value of contingent consideration asset 1) (653) --

Change in fair value of deferred consideration liability 2) -- (547)

Other finance costs (1,210) (3,176)

Finance costs (57,389) (54,194)

Net finance costs recognised in profit or loss (34,734) (34,323)

Total “Interest expense, net” disclosed in cash flow statement 3) (19,041) (13,778)

* The comparative information is restated on account of correction of change in presentation. Refer to Note 3(f).

1)  Effect from change in fair value of contingent consideration asset recognized in connection with acquisition of 50% 

share in InterGen N.V. For further information refer to Notes 2 (c) (ii) and 17.

2)  Effect from change in fair value of liability from deferred consideration resulting from purchase of Sev.en EC, a.s. 

by Severní energetická a.s. in 2013. For further information refer to Note 28.

3)  Items included in the line “Interest expense, net” of consolidated cash flow statement.
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13 CURRENT AND DEFERRED INCOME TAX

Current tax expense

2020 2019

Current period 15,972 28,189

Related to prior periods (30) (3)

Total 15,942 28,186

Deferred tax expense / (benefit)

2020 2019

Origination and reversal of temporary differences (1,656) (6,078)

Change in unrecognized deductible temporary differences 160 --

Total (1,496) (6,078)

Current tax expense 15,942 28,186

Deferred tax expense / (benefit) (1,496) (6,078)

Total income tax expense 14,446 22,108 

Deferred taxes are calculated using currently enacted tax rates expected to apply when the asset is realised or the liability 

settled. Corporate income tax rates for tax domiciles of entities in consolidated Group for fiscal years 2020 and 2019 can be 

summarized as follows:

2020 2019

Liechtenstein 12.50% 12.50%

Czech Republic 19.00% 19.00%

Cyprus 12.50% 12.50%

Deferred income tax recognised in other comprehensive income

For the year ended 31 December

2020 2019

Before 
tax

Tax 
(expense) / 

benefit

Net 
of tax

Before 
tax

Tax 
(expense) / 

benefit
Net of tax

Net change in fair value of equity securities -- -- -- 469 -- 469

Net change in fair value of cash-flow hedges – 

foreign exchange derivatives
-- -- -- 36 (7) 29

Net change in fair value of cash-flow hedges – 

electricity and emission rights
3,019 (572) 2,447 12,849 (2,443) 10,406

Foreign currency translation differences (15,411) -- (15,411) 6,109 -- 6,109

Equity-accounted investees – share of OCI 3,410 -- 3,410 22,410 -- 22,410

Total (8,982) (572) (9,554) 41,873 (2,450) 39,423
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Reconciliation of effective tax rate

2020 2020 2019 2019

Profit / (loss) for the period 23,788 199,775

Total income tax expense (14,446) (22,108)

Profit / (loss) excluding income tax 38,234 221,883

Income tax using the Company’s domestic tax rate 12.50% 4,779 12.50% 27,735

Effect of tax rates in foreign jurisdictions 7.98% 3,052 6.67% 14,809

Share of profit of equity-accounted investees 

reported net of tax
(7.65)% (2,926) (0.38)% (843)

Non-deductible expenses 27.16% 10,384 2.11% 4,686

Tax-exempt income (3.81)% (1,458) (11.35)% (25,182)

Tax incentives and tax credits (0.53)% (202) (0.06)% (138)

Recognition of previously unrecognised tax losses 0.00% -- 0.00% --

Current year losses for which no deferred tax asset 

was recognised
2.99% 1,142 0.35% 782

Income tax adjustments for prior periods -- 0.00% --

Change in unrecognised temporary differences 0.22% 85 0.04% 92

Other (1.07)% (410) 0.08% 167

Effective tax rate 37.78% 14,446 9.96% 22,108 

Recognised deferred tax assets and liabilities

Assets Liabilities Net

2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019

Property, plant and equipment 

and intangible assets
1,050 239 (95,112) (80,389) (94,062) (80,150)

Provided loans 55 45 (1,278) (154) (1,223) (109)

Inventories 2,901 749 -- -- 2,901 749

Receivables 716 843 -- -- 716 843

Lease liabilities 17,646 18,498 -- -- 17,646 18,498

Employee benefits 1,110 562 -- (29) 1,110 533

Provisions 16,199 13,145 -- (1,270) 16,199 11,875

Tax losses carried forward 1,918 1,808 -- -- 1,918 1,808

Hedging derivatives -- -- (2,409) (1,837) (2,409) (1,837)

Other temporary differences 65 -- (152) (34) (87) (34)

Deferred tax asset/(liability) 41,660 35,889 (98,951) (83,713) (57,291) (47,824)

Set-off of tax (27,234) (24,619) 27,234 24,619 -- --

Net deferred tax asset/(liability) 14,426 11,270 (71,717) (59,094) (57,291) (47,824)
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The Group expects the legal entities that recognized a deferred tax asset as of 31 December 2020 from current tax losses of 

TEUR 1,918 (2019: TEUR 1,808) to have sufficient taxable profits in the future to utilize these deferred tax assets before their 

expiration. This assessment is based on historic experience and current financial forecasts for these legal entities. 

Movements in temporary differences during the year

1 January 
2020

Recognised 
in profit or 

loss

Recognised 
in other 

comprehensive 
income

Recognized 
directly in 

equity – 
application 

of IFRS 16

Acquired 
in business 

combinations

Translation 
differences

31 December 
2020

Property, plant and 

equipment and 

intangible assets

(80,150) 160 -- -- (15,474) 1,402 (94,062)

Provided loans (109) (1,115) -- -- -- 1 (1,223)

Inventories 749 631 -- -- 1,528 (7) 2,901

Receivables 843 (140) -- -- 39 (26) 716

Lease liabilities 18,498 (260) -- -- -- (592) 17,646

Employee benefits 533 (389) -- -- 569 397 1,110

Provisions 11,875 2,228 -- -- 2,347 (251) 16,199

Tax losses carried 

forward
1,808 352 -- -- 217 (459) 1,918

Hedging derivatives (1,837) -- (572) -- -- -- (2,409)

Other temporary 

differences
(34) 29 -- -- (83) 1 (87)

Total (47,824) 1,496 (572) -- (10,857) 466 (57,291)

1 January 
2019

Recognised 
in profit or 

loss

Recognised 
in other 

comprehensive 
income

Recognized 
directly in 

equity – 
application 

of IFRS 16

Acquired 
in business 

combinations

Translation 
differences

31 December 
2019

Property, plant and 

equipment and 

intangible assets

(46,391) 2,051 -- 8 (35,101) (717) (80,150)

Provided loans 71 29 -- -- -- (209) (109)

Inventories 301 (1,442) -- -- 1,886 4 749

Receivables 659 130 -- -- 45 9 843

Lease liabilities 18,164 (275) -- -- -- 609 18,498

Employee benefits 517 9 -- -- -- 7 533

Provisions 6,162 3,770 -- -- 1,828 115 11,875

Tax losses carried 

forward
-- 937 -- -- 872 (1) 1,808

Hedging derivatives 613 -- (2,450) -- -- -- (1,837)

Other temporary 

differences
(128) 869 -- -- (775) -- (34)

Total (20,032) 6,078 (2,450) 8 (31,245) (183) (47,824)
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Unrecognised deferred tax assets

2020 2019

Trade and other receivables 2,503 2,498

Tax losses carried-forward 8,569 7,661

Other temporary differences -- --

Total 11,072 10,159

Unrecognised deferred tax assets resulting from tax losses carried forward are attributable mainly to tax losses 

of Sev.en Energy AG, Satoranix Limited, Teglerion Limited, Haltixar Limited, Indoverse (Czech) Coal Investments Ltd., 

Elektrárna Počerady a.s., Sev.en Gamma a.s., Sev.en Zeta a.s. and Elektrárna Chvaletice a.s. Tax losses in the Czech Republic 

will expire in within the period from 2021 (tax losses from 2016) to 2025 (tax losses from 2020).

Sev.en Energy AG is incorporated in Liechtenstein. The current income tax system in Liechtenstein does not impose any 

withholding taxes on dividends, though specific anti-avoidance rules are in place concerning passive income and low taxation 

countries.
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14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Right-of-use 
asset

Land and 
buildings

Plant and 
equipment

Coal mining 
deposits

Leased 
property 
related to 

coal mining 

Other 
tangible 

fixed 
assets

Tangible 
assets under 
construction

Total

Acquisition cost

Balance 
1 January 2019 -- 248,491 301,670 76,159 13,089 1,545 30,564 671,518

Recognition of right-
of use asset on initial 
application of IFRS 16

2,885 -- (2,069) -- -- -- -- 816

Adjusted balance 
as at 1 January 2019 2,885 248,491 299,601 76,159 13,089 1,545 30,564 672,334

Additions -- 4,131 26,325 -- -- 827 10,001 41,284

Acquisitions through 
business combinations 756 134,399 248,238 -- -- -- 3,510 386,903

Disposals -- (2,629) (3,568) -- -- (55) -- (6,252)

Transfers -- 5,257 12,813 -- -- 8 (18,078) --

Effects of movements in 
foreign exchange rate 38 1,998 (140) 944 162 24 294 3,320

Balance 
31 December 2019 3,679 391,647 583,269 77,103 13,251 2,349 26,291 1,097,589

Balance 
1 January 2020 3,679 391,647 583,269 77,103 13,251 2,349 26,291 1,097,589

Additions -- 4,989 15,540 -- -- 526 44,644 65,699

Acquisitions through 
business combinations 1,153 68,261 47,580 -- -- 15 185 117,194

Disposals -- (552) (9,168) -- -- (53) (9,627) (19,400)

Transfers -- 1,195 6,065 -- -- -- (7,260) --

Effects of movements in 
foreign exchange rate (31) (4,596) 2,428 (2,453) (422) (62) (492) (5,628)

Balance 
31 December 2020 4,801 460,944 645,714 74,650 12,829 2,775 53,741 1,255,454

Depreciation and impairment losses

Balance 
1 January 2019 -- (92,643) (184,501) (17,396) (3,782) (1,023) (14,476) (313,821)

Recognition of right-
of use asset on initial 
application of IFRS 16

(153) -- 1,010 -- -- -- -- 857

Adjusted balance 
as at 1 January 2019 (153) (92,643) (183,491) (17,396) (3,782) (1,023) (14,476) (312,964)

Depreciation for the 
year (522) (14,039) (28,956) (1,853) (449) (250) -- (46,069)

(Impairment loss) / 
Reversal of impairment 
loss (Note 9)

-- 1,425 1,020 226 88 -- (4,844) (2,085)

Disposals -- 318 3,190 -- -- 55 -- 3,563

Effects of movements in 
foreign exchange rate (8) (102) 1,711 (232) (51) (14) (229) 1,075

Balance 
31 December 2019 (683) (105,041) (206,526) (19,255) (4,194) (1,232) (19,549) (356,480)

Balance 
1 January 2020 (683) (105,041) (206,526) (19,255) (4,194) (1,232) (19,549) (356,480)

Depreciation for the 
year (658) (21,143) (40,484) (3,215) (891) (393) -- (66,784)

(Impairment loss) / 
Reversal of impairment 
loss (Note 9)

-- 37 (51) -- -- -- (776) (790)

Disposals -- 376 7,358 -- -- 53 7,827 15,614

Transfers -- (8,225) 707 -- -- -- 7,540 22

Effects of movements in 
foreign exchange rate (24) (398) (6,656) 588 127 36 733 (5,594)

Balance 
31 December 2020 (1,365) (134,394) (245,652) (21,882) (4,958) (1,536) (4,225) (414,012)
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Carrying amounts

At 1 January 2019 -- 155,848 117,169 58,763 9,307 522 16,088 357,697

Recognition of right-
of-use asset on initial 
application of IFRS 16

2,732 -- (1,059) -- -- -- -- 1,673

Adjusted balance as 
at 1 January 2019

2,732 155,848 116,110 58,763 9,307 522 16,088 359,370

At 31 December 2019 2,996 286,606 376,743 57,848 9,057 1,117 6,742 741,109

At 1 January 2020 2,996 286,606 376,743 57,848 9,057 1,117 6,742 741,109

At 31 December 2020 3,436 326,550 400,062 52,768 7,871 1,239 49,516 841,442

Coal mining deposits and leased property related to coal mining were acquired through finance lease from Palivový kombinát 

Ústí, státní podnik. Lease contracts of Vršanská uhelná a.s. and Coal Services a.s. terminate as at 31 December 2068, lease 

contracts of Severní energetická a.s. terminate as at 31 December 2032. The lease term covers both the duration of the mining 

activity as well as the performance of land reclamation activities. Coal mining deposits and leased property related to coal 

mining of Vršanská uhelná a.s. and Coal Services a.s. will be depreciated till 31 December 2055, coal mining deposits and 

leased property related to coal mining of Severní energetická a.s. will be depreciated till 31 December 2025.

Acquisition through business combination in 2020 resulted from acquisition of Elektrárna Počerady, a.s. (refer to Note 2 (c) (i)).

Acquisition through business combination in 2019 resulted from acquisition of Teplárna Kladno s.r.o. (refer to Note 2 (c) (ii)).

Major additions to property, plant and equipment (including technical improvements) in 2020 relate mainly to the installation 

of improved filters to the Chvaletice as well as infrastructure reconstruction, technological improvement to mining buildings, 

powerplant blocks and powerplant technologies.

Major additions to property, plant and equipment (including technical improvements) in 2019 were road reconstruction, mining 

buildings, powerplant blocks and powerplant technologies.

Major disposals of property, plant and equipment in 2020 and 2019 comprise mainly vehicles with a significant disposal in 2020 

also being the unfinished electrostatic filters in the Chvaletice plant. 

2020 Impairment test

As a result of impairment testing of goodwill related to CGU Sev.en Commodities AG, Vršanská uhelná a.s., Severní energetická a.s. 

and Sev.en EC, a.s. (the CGU represents coal mines, power plant and related trading activities contained in four legal entities) 

as of 31 December 2019, the Group did not change the part of impairment loss recognized to coal mining deposits, property 

under finance lease, buildings, plant and equipment, assets under construction and also other intangible assets in 2017 and 

partly reversed in 2019. Refer also to Notes 9 and 15 for further details and parameters used in impairment testing.

Teplárna Kladno s.r.o. and Teplárna Zlín s.r.o. are considered separate CGU as of 31 December 2020 and tested for impairment 

separately (neither CGU has any allocated goodwill or any other significant intangible assets). 

The impairment test as of 31 December 2020 for Teplárna Kladno s.r.o. was based on financial projection for the years  

2021-2040 (the planned de-commissioning of the planned). The calculation assumed a 2% p.a. inflation rate, a pre-tax WACC 

of 7,41% and one of the key premises was a projected increase in biomass as a fuel source up to 100% from 2035 (and thus not 

needing to purchase emission allowances). The impairment test did not indicate any risk of impairment as of 31 December 

2020. A change in the pre-tax discount rate by 0,5% p.a. or a decrease in annual free cash flow by 10% would not result in any 

impairment of tested assets within the financial model.

The impairment test as of 31 December 2020 for Teplárna Zlín s.r.o. was based on financial projection for the years 2021-2040 

(the planned de-commissioning of the planned). The calculation assumed a 2% p.a. inflation rate, a pre-tax WACC of 7,65% 

and one of the key premises was a projected phase-out of coal as a fuel source by 2038 (and thus not needing to purchase 

emission allowances). The impairment test did not indicate any risk of impairment as of 31 December 2020. A change in the 

pre-tax discount rate by 0,5% p.a. or a decrease in annual free cash flow by 10% would not result in any impairment of tested 

assets within the financial model.
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2019 Impairment test

As a result of impairment testing of goodwill related to CGU Sev.en Commodities AG, Vršanská uhelná a.s., Severní energetická a.s. 

and Sev.en EC, a.s. (the CGU represents coal mines, power plant and related trading activities contained in four legal entities) 

as of 31 December 2019, the Group reversed part of impairment loss recognized in 2017: reversal of impairment loss on coal 

mining deposits of TEUR 226, reversal of impairment loss on property under finance lease of TEUR 88, reversal of impairment 

loss on buildings of TEUR 1,573, reversal of impairment loss on plant and equipment of TEUR 848, reversal of impairment loss 

on assets under construction of TEUR 674 and also reversal of impairment loss on other intangible assets. Refer also to 

Notes 9 and 15 for further details and parameters used in impairment testing.

Previous impairment tests

As a result of impairment testing of goodwill related to CGU Severní energetická a.s. and Sev.en EC, a.s. (the CGU represented 

a coal mine and power plant contained in two legal entities) as of 31 December 2017, the Group recognized also impairment 

loss on coal mining deposits of TEUR 4,360, impairment loss on property under finance lease of TEUR 1,693, impairment 

loss on buildings of TEUR 30,276, impairment loss on plant and equipment of TEUR 16,327, impairment loss on assets under 

construction of TEUR 12,969 and also impairment loss on other intangible assets. Refer also to Notes 9 and 15 for further details 

and parameters used in impairment testing. 

Pledged assets and contractual commitments

In 2013 Vršanská uhelná a.s. signed a business contract containing a pledge of part of immovable assets – land of 

4,979,932 square meters, costing TEUR 7,264 (TCZK 190,647). As part of the above transaction, the entity has also signed 

a pledge agreement for its own benefit, in respect of the counterparty’s land. The entity does not intend to dispose of the 

pledged assets.

As of the date of issue of these financial statements the Group has contractual commitments for the acquisition of property, 

plant and equipment in total amount of approximately MEUR 80 (2019: MEUR 47), of which MEUR 65 (2019: MEUR 30) have been 

paid. 
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15 INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND GOODWILL

Goodwill Software

Intellectual 
property 

rights, 
licences, 
patents

Intangible 
assets under 
construction

Emission 
allowances

Other 
intangible 

assets
Total

Acquisition cost

Balance 1 January 2019 740,033 3,329 86 431 6,689 169,746 920,314

Additions -- 211 -- 238 186,392 -- 186,841

Acquisitions through business 
combination -- 233 -- -- 480 -- 713

Disposals -- (29) (19) -- (191,216) -- (191,264)

Transfers -- 184 6 (190) -- -- --

Effects of movements in foreign 
exchange rate 9,174 34 2 6 (12) 2,104 11,308

Balance 31 December 2019 749,207 3,962 75 485 2,333 171,850 927,912

Balance 1 January 2020 749 207 3,962 75 485 2,333 171,850 927,912

Additions -- 219 -- 331 180,210 19 180,779

Acquisitions through business 
combination -- 31 -- -- 438 -- 469

Disposals (1) (35) -- -- (175,610) (80) (175,726)

Transfers -- 216 -- (213) -- (3) --

Effects of movements in foreign 
exchange rate (23,836) (86) (3) (16) (126) (5,467) (29,534)

Balance 31 December 2020 725,370 4,307 72 587 7,245 166,319 903,900

Amortisation and impairment losses

Balance 1 January 2019 (269,276) (2,001) (31) -- -- (80,489) (351,797)

Amortisation for the year -- (320) (9) -- -- (15,078) (15,407)

Disposals -- 29 13 -- -- -- 42

(Impairment loss) / Reversal of 
impairment loss (Note 9) -- -- -- -- -- 1,680 1,680

Effects of movements in foreign 
exchange rate (3,338) (21) (1) -- -- (1,135) (4,495)

Balance 31 December 2019 (272,614) (2,313) (28) -- -- (95,022) (369,977)

Balance 1 January 2020 (272,614) (2,313) (28) -- -- (95,022) (369,977)

Amortisation for the year -- (390) (10) -- -- (14,856) (15,256)

Disposals -- 21 -- -- -- 76 97

(Impairment loss) / Reversal of 
impairment loss (Note 9) (41,828) 5 -- -- -- -- (41,823)

Transfers -- (22) -- -- -- -- (22)

Effects of movements in foreign 
exchange rate 8,355 38 1 -- -- 2,914 11,308

Balance 31 December 2020 (306,087) (2,661) (37) -- -- (106,888) (415,673)

Carrying amounts

At 1 January 2019 470,757 1,328 55 431 6,689 89,257 568,517

At 31 December 2019 476,593 1,649 47 485 2,333 76,828 557,935

At 1 January 2020 476,593 1,649 47 485 2,333 76,828 557,935

At 31 December 2020 419,283 1,645 35 587 7,245 59,431 488,227

68Sev.en Energy AG Consolidated annual report of Sev.en Energy AG for the year ended 31 December 2020 (in thousands of EUR)



As at 31 December 2020, other intangible assets comprise mainly mining rights in carrying value of TEUR 56,636 (comprising 

gross value of TEUR 156,257, accumulated amortisation of TEUR (70,441) and impairment loss of TEUR (29,180)) and customer 

contract of TEUR 2,776 (comprising gross value of TEUR 9,006, accumulated amortisation of TEUR (4,599) and impairment loss 

of TEUR (1,631)).

As at 31 December 2019, other intangible assets comprise mainly mining rights in carrying value of TEUR 73,008 (comprising 

gross value of TEUR 161,392, accumulated amortisation of TEUR (58,245) and impairment loss of TEUR (30,139)) and customer 

contract of TEUR 3,814 (comprising gross value of TEUR 9,302, accumulated amortisation of TEUR (3,804) and impairment loss 

of TEUR (1,684)).

Acquisition through business combination in 2020 resulted from acquisition of Elektrárna Počerady, a.s. (refer to Note 2 (c) (i)).

Acquisition through business combination in 2019 resulted from acquisition of Teplárna Kladno s.r.o. (refer to Note 2 (c) (ii)).

Emission allowances

The following table summarises movements in emission allowances in 2020 and 2019:

Note 2020 2019

Carrying value of emission allowances as at 1 January 2,333 6,689

Acquired through business combination 438 480

Allocation of emission allowances 8 6,118 92

Purchases of emission allowances 174,092 186,300

Sales of emission allowances (74,148) (148,477)

Consumption of emission allowances 8 (101,462) (42,739)

Effects of movements in foreign exchange rate (126) (12)

Carrying value of emission allowances as at 31 December 7,245 2,333

Sales price of emission allowances sold 88,026 149,336

Carrying value of emission allowances sold (74,148) (148,477)

Net gain on sale of emission allowances 8 13,878 859

Goodwill

Goodwill is calculated in functional currency CZK which is different from the presentation currency of the consolidated 

financial statements (EUR). Therefore, foreign exchange difference could arise in connection with recognition and 

measurement of goodwill. Goodwill is allocated to cash generating units (“CGU”), which is the smallest group of assets that 

includes the asset and generates cash inflows that are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets of group of 

assets.

The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs to 

sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount 

rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset or CGU. The key 

assumptions in determining value in use are the free cash flows of the CGU and the pre-tax discount rate. The values used 

are generally based on past experience and 5-year business plans of relevant Group companies, with an extrapolation over 

the remaining useful life of the key assets within the CGU (which represents industry best practise for mineral deposits and 

powerplants with a fixed useful economic life). The growth rate used for the extrapolation was 2.0% corresponding to the long-

term inflation goal stated by the Czech National Bank. For the purpose of impairment testing, assets are grouped together into 

the smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows 

of other assets or CGUs. Impairment testing is performed regularly on annual basis.
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2020 Impairment test

The aggregation of assets for identifying a CGU has not changed significantly since the previous year. Formerly 

Vršanská uhelná a.s., Sev.en Commodities AG, Severní energetická a.s. and Sev.en EC, a.s. were included within a single CGU 

(“CGU #1”). With the acquisition of Elektrárna Počerady, a.s. and its integration with the operations of the other entities of the 

Group CGU #1 includes as of 31 December 2020 also the assets of Elektrárna Počerady, a.s.

CGU #1 included goodwill with a nominal value of TEUR 461,111 as of 31 December 2020 prior to the impairment test.

The assets of InterGen N.V., Teplárna Kladno s.r.o. and Teplárna Zlín s.r.o. are as of 31 December 2020 included in three separate 

CGUs. No goodwill has been allocated to these CGUs and the Group has not identified any indications of impairment as of 

31 December 2020. As of 31 December 2019 Teplárna Zlín s.r.o. was not a separate CGU as it did not contain any significant 

assets, whereas from 1 April 2020 this CGU now includes the combined heat and power plant in Zlín (de-merged from 

Teplárna Kladno s.r.o.). For more information on the impairment test for these CGU refer to Note 14.

The impairment test as of 31 December 2020 for CGU #1 was based on the financial projections for the period 2021-2025. 

Financial data for the period 2026-2038 was partly based on projected prices of electricity and emission allowances with 

remaining costs and other income extrapolated using a 2% inflation rate. The significant change compared to the previous 

year is the presumed economic life till 2038 (the 2019 impairment test assumed 2060). This is derived from the non-binding 

recommendation of the Czech governments advisory body to discontinue electricity generation from coal by 2038 along with 

the German government’s intention to also phase out electricity generation from coal by 2038. While these targets currently 

do not have any legal or regulatory basis we consider it prudent to not project financial results past 2038 for the purpose of 

the impairment test even though none of the licenses held by the Group have this finite term (for example the two lignite mines 

in norther Bohemia have permits to operate until the complete exhaustion of all coal supplies). The value in use was calculated 

using a 10.85% pre-tax WACC. The recoverable amount of CGU #1 represented TEUR 802,988 (MCZK 21,074). As the value in use 

was less than the carrying value of all assets including goodwill allocated to CGU #1 an impairment of goodwill of TEUR 41,828 

was recorded.

As of 31 December 2020, the Group evaluated the sensitivity of impairment test assumptions for CGU #1 and the impact on 

the recognized impairment expense. An increase in the pre-tax discount rate by 0,5% in all of the years 2021-2038 would 

result in an increase of the impairment expense of TEUR 31,195. A decrease in the free cash flow in all of the years 2021-2038 

by 5% would increase the impairment expense by TEUR 49,586 as of 31 December 2020. An increase in the price of emission 

allowances by 1% in all of the years 2026-2038 would result in an increase in impairment by TEUR 20,757. A decrease in the price 

of electricity by 1% in all of the years 2026-2038 would result in an increase in impairment by TEUR 31,923. 
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2019 impairment test

The aggregation of assets for identifying a CGU has changed since the previous year. Formerly Vršanská uhelná a.s. was 

a separate CGU due to the existence of a significant cash generating stream independent from other operations of the 

Group. Due to the non-utilization of the option ČEZ, a.s. by 31 December 2019 (see the 2019 accounts subsequent events 

note) to prolong the coal supply contract with Vršanská uhelná a.s. the independent cash stream of Vršanská uhelná 

a.s. is to terminate on 31 December 2023 and subsequently the operations of Vršanská uhelná will be more significantly 

interconnected with those of other Group companies. For this reason for the 31 December 2019 impairment test the assets of 

Sev.en Commodities AG, Vršanská uhelná a.s., Severní energetická a.s. and Sev.en EC, a.s. are included within a single CGU 

(“CGU #1”) whereas previously these were two separate CGUs. CGU #1 includes goodwill with a carrying value of TEUR 476,593 

as of 31 December 2019.

The assets of InterGen N.V. and Teplárna Kladno s.r.o. as of 31 December 2019 represent two separate CGUs. No goodwill has 

been allocated to these two new CGUs and the Group has not identified any indications of impairment as of 31 December 2019.

The impairment test as of 31 December 2019 for CGU #1 was based on the financial plan for the period 2020-2029 with an 

extrapolation using a 2% growth rate till 2059 for those assets within the CGU whose economic life is expected to end by 

2060. The value in use was calculated using a 10.35% pre-tax WACC and annual growth rate of 2.00%. As of 31 December 

2018 the goodwill balance on the CGU was nil and the performance of the impairment assessment did not identify any 

indications of additional impairment. The recoverable amount of CGU #1 represented TEUR 695,971 (MCZK 17,685). As the value 

in use exceeded the carrying value and as a result a portion of impairment recorded in previous years was released as of 

31 December 2019 – TEUR 3,409 relating to property, plant and equipment and TEUR 1,680 relating to intangible assets.

As of 31 December 2019, the Group evaluated the sensitivity of impairment test assumptions for CGU #1 based on change need 

in assumption to recognize the impairment. For the impairment to be recognized, the free cash flow would have to decrease by 

0.5% or the pre-tax discount rate would have to increase to 10.41% or the annual growth rate would have to decrease to 1.9%.

As a result of impairment testing of goodwill related to CGU Sev.en Commodities AG, Vršanská uhelná a.s., Severní energetická 

a.s. and Sev.en EC, a.s. as of 31 December 2019, the Group reversed part of impairment loss recognized in 2017: reversal of 

impairment loss on mining rights of TEUR 1,591, reversal of impairment loss on customer contract of TEUR 89 and impairment 

loss on property, plant and equipment. Refer also to Notes 9 and 14 for further details.

Previous impairment tests

As a result of impairment testing of goodwill related to CGU Severní energetická a.s. and Sev.en EC, a.s. as of 31 December 2017, 

the Group recognized also impairment loss on mining rights of TEUR 30,637, impairment loss on customer contract 

of TEUR 1,712 and impairment loss on property, plant and equipment. Refer also to Notes 9 and 14 for further details.
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16 EQUITY-ACCOUNTED INVESTEES

Ownership* Carrying value
Group’s share 
of net assets

Group’s share 
of profit / (loss)

2020

Výzkumný ústav pro hnědé uhlí a.s. 1) 44.58% 1,569 1,569 109

InterGen N.V. 2) 50.00% 268,554 268,554 23,301

Total 270,123 270,123 23,410

2019

Výzkumný ústav pro hnědé uhlí a.s. 1) 44.58% 1,916 1,916 90

InterGen N.V. 2) 50.00% 258,417 258,417 6,654

Total 260,333 260,333 6,744

1)  The main activities of the entity comprise maintenance, expert, research and engineering operations related to lignite 

mining. Figures of associate are based on its financial statements as at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019. The 

operations of the entity are not significant to the overall size of the Group.

2)  InterGen N.V. is a significant energy group, whose portfolio expanded during the year to include a new gas-fired power 

station with an installed output of 300 MW in Lincolnshire, Great Britain. InterGen operates 4 gas-fired power stations in the 

UK and two of the most modern and efficient coal-fired plants in Australia. The activities of InterGen are independent of the 

other business activities of Sev.en Energy AG in Europe. 

Movements in carrying value of equity-accounted investees in 2020 and 2019 could be summarized as follows:

2020 2019

Carrying value of equity-accounted investees as at 1 January 260,333 1,752

Consideration related to acquisition of new equity-accounted investees (Note 2 (c) (i)) -- 229,584

Share on profit / (loss) of equity-accounted investees 3) 23,410 6,744

Share on other comprehensive income of equity-accounted investees 3,410 22,410

Dividends received from equity-accounted investees 4) (16,976) (183)

Effect of changes in foreign exchange rates (54) 26

Carrying value of equity-accounted investees as at 31 December 270,123 260,333

3)  In 2020, share on profit of equity-accounted investees consists of share on profit attributable to Výzkumný ústav pro hnědé 

uhlí a.s. of TEUR 95 and share on profit attributable to InterGen N.V. group of TEUR 23,315. In 2019, share on profit of equity-

accounted investees consisted of share on profit attributable to Výzkumný ústav pro hnědé uhlí a.s. of TEUR 90, share on 

loss attributable to InterGen N.V. group of TEUR (3,242) and difference between acquired share on value of net assets of 

InterGen N.V. group and related consideration of TEUR 9,896 (refer to Note 2 (c) (ii)).

4)  In 2020, the Group received dividends of TEUR 16,810 from its joint-venture InterGen N.V. and dividends of TEUR 166 from 

its associate Výzkumný ústav pro hnědé uhlí a.s. In 2019, the Group received dividends of TEUR 183 from its associate 

Výzkumný ústav pro hnědé uhlí a.s.

There was no goodwill related to equity-accounted investees Výzkumný ústav pro hnědé uhlí a.s. and InterGen N.V. The Group 

does not have any contractual relationship with the other investors in connection with this associate. The Group does not 

have any risks associated with the equity-accounted investee other than potential risk to the carrying value of the investment. 

Voting rights of the Group in the associate and joint-venture correspond to the ownership interest held.

Given that both InterGen N.V. and Výzkumný ústav pro hnědé uhlí a.s. operate within the energy sector as the Group the shares 

held in these equity-accounted investees is associated with similar risks despite a geographical separation between the 

European continent operations of Sev.en Energy AG and UK/Australia operations of InterGen N.V.
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The following table summarises the financial information for equity-accounted investees that are material to the group and 

as included in its own financial statements, adjusted for fair value adjustments at acquisition and differences in accounting 

policies.

TEUR InterGen N.V. Výzkumný ústav pro hnědé uhlí a.s.

joint-venture joint-venture associate associate

50.00% 50.00% 44.58% 44.58%

2020 2019 2020 2019

Summarised statement of financial position

Non-current assets 807,534 910,797 1,206 1,237

Current assets 308,208 433,510 3,207 3,770

Non-current liabilities (459,391) (585,405) (14) (16)

Current liabilities (119,244) (241,596) (879) (1,222)

Net assets (100%) 537,107 517,306 3,520 3,769

Group's share of net assets 268,554 258,653 1,569 1,680

Carrying amount of interest 
in equity-accounted investee

268,554 258,653 1,569 1,680

Summarised statement of comprehensive income

Revenues 363,195 336,807 2,301 2,728

Depreciation and amortisation (60,574) (29,790) (161) (160)

Interest expense (9,914) (19,369) -- --

Income tax expense (4,348) (5,567) (51) (44)

Profit / (Loss) for the year 46,629 (6,484) 214 203

Other comprehensive income 6,820 44,820 -- --

Total comprehensive income (100%) 53,449 38,336 214 203

Group's share of profit / (loss) for the year 23,315 (3,242) 95 90

Group's share of other comprehensive 

income
3,410 22,410 -- --

Group's share of total 
comprehensive income

26,725 19,168 95 90

Dividends received by the Group 16,810 -- 166 183
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17 OTHER INVESTMENTS, INCLUDING DERIVATIVES

2020 2019

Non-current investments

Debt instruments at amortised cost 7,787 --

Financial assets at amortized cost – government bonds (Note 22) 7,712 8,067

7,712 8,067

Equity securities at FVOCI 1,318 1,362

Derivative financial instruments (refer to Note 29) 554 1,849

Lease receivables (refer to Note 31) 331 484

Provided loans 96,081 28,516

113,783 40,278

Current investments

Financial assets at FVTPL 1 1

Derivative financial instruments (refer to Note 29) 234 3,584

Contingent consideration asset at FVTPL -- 18,628

Lease receivables (refer to Note 31) 137 259

Provided loans 17,705 1,955

Total current investments 18,077 24,427

As at 31 December 2020, no contingent consideration asset was disclosed as this asset was fully settled in 2020. 

As at 31 December 2019, the contingent consideration asset at fair value through profit or loss consisted of contingent 

consideration asset of TEUR 7,121 recognised in connection with acquisition of equity-accounted investees InterGen N.V. 

(refer to Note 2 (c) (ii)) and change in fair value of the asset of TEUR 11,507 (refer to Note 12) recorded in profit or loss in 2019.

The provided loans represent financial assets measured at amortised cost. Terms and conditions of outstanding loans 

as at 31 December 2020 and 2019 were as follows:

2020 2020 2019 2019

Currency
Nominal interest 

rate
Maturity 

date
Gross 
value

Carrying 
amount

Gross 
value

Carrying 
amount

Loan to third party 1 CZK N/A 30. 9. 2025 2 2 3 3

Loan to third party 2 CZK 9.0% p.a. 31. 7. 2020 -- -- 1,968 1,954

Loan to third party 3 CZK 4.25% p.a. 30. 6. 2025 20,314 -- 20,124 --

Loan to third party 4 CZK 4.25% p.a. 31. 12. 2025 -- -- 5,002 4,967

Loan to related party 1 CZK 4.15% p.a. 31. 12. 2021 -- -- 23,715 23,547

Loan to related party 2 CZK
6M PRIBOR + 

3.75%
30. 04. 2021 17,662 17,506 -- --

Loan to related party 3 CZK
6M PRIBOR + 

3.5%
31. 12. 2023 4,064 4,064 -- --

Loan to related party 4 USD
6M USD 

LIBOR+9% p.a.
01. 06. 2022 51,126 54,626 -- --

Loan to related party 4 USD

6M USD LIBOR 

+ 9.5% p.a. (floor 

11.5%) p.a.

01. 10. 2023 32,495 37,588 -- --

Total provided loans 125,663 113,786 50,812 30,471
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The Group’s exposure to credit, currency and interest rate risks related to other investments is disclosed in Note 

30. Determination of fair values is described in Note 6. Impairment losses related to other investments are disclosed in Note 30 

(c) (v). ECL information is included in Note 30 (c) (vi).

Loans to related party 2 and 3 are provided to one related party by two legal entities of the Group.

Loans to related party 4 are provided to one related party by two legal entities of the Group. The carrying amount exceeds 

the gross amount as the loans were determined to have been purchased or originated as credit impaired (see Note 9). The 

Group has determined the relevant ECL parameters such as what constitutes a default, the probability of a default and the 

recoverability of assets in the event of a default. Between the inception of the loans and 31 December 2020 the probability of 

a default has decreased due to the significant improvement in the market prices of coal which represent the key output of 

the debtor. The analysis of the ECL and default probability was based on the market prices of coal (the category and region 

specific to the debtor) as of the loan inception date and 31 December 2020. Historical trends in these coal prices were analysed 

and based on these past commodity price developments an assessment was made as to the probability of future commodity 

prices being below or in excess of the levels sustainable for the debtor given its cost structure. 

Of the total provided loan facility TUSD 4,000 (TEUR 3,260) remains unutilized as at 31 December 2020.

18 INVENTORIES

2020 2019

Raw materials 48,420 49,094

Own products 62 66

Work in progress 671 573

Advances paid for inventories 191 15

Total inventories 49,344 49,748

The Group write-downs of inventory to net realisable value amounted to TEUR 1,897 in 2020 (2019: TEUR 1,611).

19 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

2020 2019

Trade receivables from third parties (Note 30) 5) 75,285 63,156

Security deposits provided (Note 30) 1) + 2) 5,758 3,379

Deposits provided in relation to trading of derivative instruments 3) 62,107 33,824

Other receivables (Note 30) 4) 40,153 8,268

Subtotal financial assets 183,303 108,627

Other tax receivables (Note 30) 14,664 8,201

Prepaid expenses 4,963 6,892

Advances paid 17,550 20,072

Subtotal non-financial assets 37,177 35,165

Total receivables 220,480 143,792

Non-current 3,444 5,763

Current 217,036 138,029

Total receivables 220,480 143,792
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1)  As at 31 December 2020, security deposits of consist of:

 •  TEUR 1,948 provided by Sev.en Commodities AG in connection with electricity and emission allowances trade (TEUR 988 

attributable to the current receivables, TEUR 960 attributable to non-current receivables); and

 •  TEUR 3,810 provided by Elektrárna Počerady, a.s. to OTE, a.s. (disclosed as current).

2)  As at 31 December 2019, security deposits of TEUR 3,379 are provided by Sev.en Commodities AG in connection with 

electricity and emission allowances trade (TEUR 750 attributable to the current receivables, TEUR 2,629 attributable to non-

current receivables). 

3)  Collateral deposited with clearing banks held by Sev.en Commodities AG in connection with purchases and sales of 

derivatives of TEUR 62,107 (2019: TEUR 33,824).

4)  As at 31 December 2020, other receivables are mainly attributable to receivables towards ČEZ, a.s. 

in total amount of TEUR 35,768.

5)  As at 31 December 2020 the increase in trade receivables from third parties compared to previous year is mainly due to the 

acquisition of Elektrárna Počerady, a.s. and its receivable of TEUR 16,726 from ČEZ, a.s.

As at 31 December 2020, trade and other receivables are shown net of impairment loss allowance of TEUR 7,794 

(2019: TEUR 8,051).

Information about the Group’s exposure to credit and market risk is disclosed in Note 30. Determination of fair values is 

described in Note 6. Impairment losses for trade and other receivables are disclosed in Note 30 (c) (v). ECL information is 

included in Note 30 (c) (vi).

20 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

2020 2019

Cash in hand 40 50

Bank balances 73,579 121,652

Total cash and cash equivalents 73,619 121,702

Based on the assessment of ECLs for cash and cash equivalents no impairment allowance was recognised 

as at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019.

Information about the Group’s exposure to credit and market risk for cash and cash equivalents are included in Note 30. 
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21 CAPITAL AND RESERVES

a) Share capital

As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, the Group’s share capital of TEUR 51 is composed of 51,000 registered ordinary shares with 

a nominal value of EUR 1. All shares were fully paid. 

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time, and are entitled to one vote per 

share at meetings of the Company.

b) Capital reserves

As at 31 December 2019, capital reserves of TEUR 1,524,520 resulted from contribution of 150,000 registered shares of Teglerion 

Limited, a company under the laws of Cyprus, registration number HE 344725 in 2018.

On 25 November 2020, the transfer of TEUR 28,000 was made from capital reserves to retained earnings.

c) Hedging reserve

The hedging reserve comprises balance of fair value of derivative instruments used for cash flow hedges (electricity and 

emission rights) and related foreign exchange forwards. The balance of hedging reserve can be summarized as follows:

2020 2019

Open derivatives used for hedging, net of tax 10,272 7,825

Share on hedging reserve of equity-accounted investees 20,440 12,763

Hedging reserve balance as at 31 December 30,712 20,588

As at 31 December 2020, the Company disclosed open derivatives used for hedging in total amount of TEUR 12,681 before tax 

(2019: TEUR 9,662). 

The change in hedging reserve in 2020 comprises change in fair value of the following derivative instruments designated as 

hedging instruments in cash flow hedges (refer also to Note 13): 

• Foreign exchange forwards of TEUR 0 (2019: TEUR 29), net of tax; 

• Commodity contracts (electricity and emission rights) of TEUR 2,447 (2019: TEUR 10,406) net of tax. 

The change in fair value of these cash flow hedges is presented within other comprehensive income. 

d) Translation reserves

The translation reserve comprises the foreign exchange differences arising on translation that are charged to other 

comprehensive income and share on translation reserves of equity-accounting investees. 

e) Retained earnings

The negative retained earnings of the Group result from the applicable consolidation methodology, respectively the 

Group’s decision to apply the optional exemption for business combinations in accordance with IFRS 1.C1 and thus not to apply 

IFRS retrospectively to business combinations that occurred before the date of transition (i.e. 1 January 2012). Consequently, 

the consolidation of these businesses that were acquired in 2010 with the investments in those businesses, which reflected the 

(higher) purchase prices, resulted in a negative retained earnings. The negative retained earnings are therefore not the result 

of past losses of the Group. The Group’s operating business model generally generates positive operating profits and the 

Group expect this model to be sustainable for the foreseeable future, refer to Note 3b) for more details.

f) Dividends

In 2020 and 2019, the Group paid out no dividends.
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22 RESTRICTED CASH AND RESTRICTED SECURITIES

The Group is able to use restricted cash only for the purpose of legally required restoration and renewal; all payment orders 

from the restricted bank account must be confirmed by District Mining Office (Obvodní báňský úřad). The bank does not 

release any funds without the confirmation from the Obvodní báňský úřad. Purchases and sales of government bonds 

(restricted securities) follow the same restrictions.

Government bonds are classified as financial assets at amortised cost. The balances as at 31 December 2020 and 

31 December 2019 include also accrued interest related to restricted securities.

2020 2019

Restricted cash 102,799 104,791

Government bonds (Note 17) 7,712 8,067

Total restricted cash and restricted securities 110,511 112,858

23 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

The amount of the liability from employee benefits by type is as follows:

2020 2019

Miners’ loyalty allowance 1,120 1,347

Loyalty bonuses 132 135

Anniversary bonuses (50, 60 years) 222 152

Retirement – old age 3,626 628

Retirement – health reasons 29 32

Retirement – full disability 29 32

Ill health severance pay (statutory) 689 749

Special miners’ contribution -- 32

Total 5,847 3,107

Employee benefits are based on the laws and regulations for mining and collective agreements. Most benefits are paid on an 

annual basis and the amount depends on the length of employment. 

Of the 3,489 (2019: 3,222) employees of the Group 35 (2019: 30) employees are executives and statutory representatives, 

849 (2019: 767) are administrative staff and technical-managerial specialists and 2,640 (2019: 2,425) are manual workers 

(manufacturing, maintenance, logistics). 
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Change in the present value of the liability

The change in the present value of the liability from employee benefits comprises:

2020 2019

Opening balance of the liability from employee benefits 3,107 3,036

Acquisition through business combination (Note 2 (c)) 3,173 --

Current service cost 368 407

Interest cost 45 57

Employee benefits paid (419) (533)

Actuarial gains and losses (326) 102

Effects of movements in foreign exchange rate (101) 38

Closing balance of the liability from employee benefits 5,847 3,107

The year-on-year increase/decrease in the liability from employee benefits is the result of a number of diverse factors:

 • changes in staff numbers,

 • a change in the employee turnover percentage,

 • a change in average earnings, 

 • use of revised discount rate, etc.

Expense recognised in profit or loss

2020 2019

Current service cost (368) (407)

Actuarial gains and losses 326 (102)

Total employee benefits – operating expenses (42) (509)

Interest cost – financial expenses (45) (57)

Total expenses recognised in profit or loss (87) (566)

Assumptions applied in calculation of employee benefits

The following economic and demographic assumptions were used to quantify the liability from employee benefits:

Discount rate – the applied discount rates were derived from the yield curve of a risk-free yield curve of government bonds 

valid as at 31 December 2020 and as at 31 December 2019. 

The discount rate (in %)

Maturity 
(in years)

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 12 15 20

2020 0.00 0.12 0.38 0.19 0.74 0.89 0.96 1.05 1.14 1.25 1.29 1.36 1.47

2019 1.83 1.66 1.55 1.58 1.36 1.54 1.57 1.57 1.57 1.61 1.66 1.73 1.81

Mortality and disability rate – estimated mortality of the employees is in line with the population mortality tables for the 

Czech Republic from 2019 (2019: mortality tables for the Czech Republic from 2017) published by the Czech Statistical Office. 

Expected disability (probability granting disability grade 2 or 3) was determined employees based on data from the years 

2010 - 2015 issued by the Czech Social Security Administration.

Retirement age – the liability from employee benefits was quantified based on currently valid rules for calculating retirement 

age in the Czech Republic and varies between 60-65 years for men and 53-65 years for women.

Leaving the Company – the probability that an employee will leave the Company before retirement has been determined as 

3.12% per year (2019 – 5.92%). This assumption is based on the Group’s previous experience.
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Sensitivity analysis of employee benefits

Reasonably possible changes at the reporting date to one of the relevant actuarial assumptions, holding other assumptions 

constant, would have affected the defined benefit obligation by the amounts shown below. 

2020

Effect in thousands of EUR Increase Decrease

Discount rate (± 0,25%) (112) 113

Future salary growth (± 0,5) 68 (62)

Future mortality (± 0,1) (19) 19

Future fluctuation rate (± 0,25) (254) 282

Future invalidity (± 0,1) 57 (58)

2019

Effect in thousands of EUR Increase Decrease

Discount rate (± 0,25%) (31) 32

Future salary growth (± 0,5) 30 (28)

Future mortality (± 0,1) (8) 8

Future fluctuation rate (± 0,25) (186) 214

Future invalidity (± 0,1) 59 (60)

Although the analysis does not take account of the full distribution of cash flows expected under the plan, it does provide an 

approximation of the sensitivity of the assumptions shown. 
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24 PROVISIONS

Provision for 
renewals and 
restorations

Provision for 
litigations

Other 
provisions

Total

Balance 1 January 2019 306,358 125 663 307,146

Provisions made during the period 18,016 40 611 18,667

Acquisitions through business combinations 5,524 123 1,950 7,597

Provisions used during the period (10,360) -- (300) (10,660)

Provisions reversed during the period 1) (27,609) -- (13) (27,622)

Effects of movements in foreign exchange rate 3,592 1 5 3,598

Balance 31 December 2019 295,521 289 2,916 298,726

Balance 1 January 2020 295,521 289 2,916 298,726

Provisions made during the period 15,912 300 2,369 18,581

Acquisitions through business combinations 11,122 -- 37 11,159

Provisions used during the period (5,105) (122) (1,729) (6,956)

Provisions reversed during the period 2) (21,206) (251) (227) (21,684)

Effects of movements in foreign exchange rate (9,304) (4) (11) (9,319)

Balance 31 December 2020 286,960 212 3,355 290,507

Non-current 273,972 212 2,578 276,762

Current 12,968 -- 777 13,745

Total 286,940 212 3,355 290,507

1)  The reversal of the provision for renewals and restorations in 2019 can be attributable mainly to the effect of changes in 

estimates for Vršanská uhelná a.s. and Severní energetická a.s. For further information refer to details in Note 25.

2)  The reversal of the provision for renewals and restorations in 2020 can be attributable mainly to the effect of changes in 

estimates for Vršanská uhelná a.s. and Severní energetická a.s. For further information refer to details in Note 25.

Acquisition through business combination in 2020 resulted from acquisition of Elektrárna Počerady, a.s. (refer to Note 2 (c) (i)).

Acquisition through business combination in 2019 resulted from acquisition of Teplárna Kladno s.r.o. (refer to Note 2 (c) (ii)).

Renewals and restorations

The actual expenses incurred on renewal and restoration may differ significantly from the estimates as a result of changes in 

regulations or technology, an increase in personnel expenses, an increase in the cost of raw materials and equipment or in the 

time needed to complete renewal and restoration work, or a change in the rate of inflation or long-term real interest rates.

Other provisions

Other provisions consist of personnel related provisions (untaken holiday etc.), provisions for restructuring (including 

insurance) and of provisions for onerous contracts.
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25 PROVISION FOR RESTORATION AND RENEWAL

Balance 1 January 2019 306,358

of which current 10,610

Changes during 2019:

Acquisitions through business combinations (Note 2 (c) (ii)) 5,524

Effect of changes in prices and time factor (Note 12) 12,722

Provisions used during the period (10,360)

Provisions released during the period related to overburden (included in Services) 15

Effect of discount rate (Note 12) 5,294

Changes in estimates (27,624)

Effects of movements in foreign exchange rate 3,592

Balance 31 December 2019 295,521

of which current 8,713

Changes during 2020:

Acquisitions through business combinations (Note 2 (c) (i)) 11,122

Effect of changes in prices and time factor (Note 12) 8,532

Provisions used during the period (5,105)

Provisions released during the period related to overburden (included in Services) 2,430

Effect of discount rate (Note 12) 4,950

Changes in estimates (21,206)

Effects of movements in foreign exchange rate (9,304)

Balance 31 December 2020 286,940

of which current 12,968

The discount rate used for calculation of provision for restoration and renewal is a ratio of a risk-free interest rate until the year 

of planned restoration and renewal, and Czech National Bank inflation target of 2% (2019: 2%). The years of commencement of 

planned restoration and renewal are as follows: Vršanská uhelná a.s.: 2055; Severní energetická a.s.: 2025; Sev.en EC, a.s.: 2038; 

Elektrárna Počerady, a.s.: 2038. Overview of discount rates applied for calculation of provision for restoration and renewal and 

risk-free interest rates is included in the table below:

2020 2019

Discount rate 
applied

Risk-free interest 
rate

Discount rate 
applied

Risk-free interest 
rate

Vršanská uhelná a.s. 0.392% 2.400% 0.056% 2.057%

Severní energetická a.s. (0.500%) 1.490% (0.199%) 1.797%

Sev.en EC, a.s. (0.696%) 1.290% (0.297%) 1.697%

Elektrárna Počerady, a.s. 0.394% 2.400% -- --

The risk component of the discount rate used in calculation of provision for restoration and renewal was incorporated into cash flow.
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Sensitivity analysis of provision for restoration and renewal

A change of 10 basis points in the risk-free interest rate at the reporting date would have increased (decreased) profit or loss 

by the amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that all other variables remain constant.

2020 2019

+10 bps -10 bps +10 bps -10 bps

Provisions created (released) during the period: Effect of changes 

in prices and the time factor
(303) 311 (473) 483

Provisions created (released) during the period: Effect of discount rate (3,974) 4,143 (4,330) 4,457

Provisions created (released) during the period: Changes in estimates 303 (311) 10 (13)

Total profit or loss effect (3,974) 4,143 (4,793) 4,927

26 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

2020 2019

Trade and other payables due to related parties (Note 30) 1) 2) 336 21,039

Trade payables due to third parties 73,232 47,525

Estimated liability for emission allowances -- 49,997

Accrued expenses 148 909

Other payables 2) 3) 4) 5) 205,114 43,308

Subtotal financial liabilities 278,830 162,778

Other tax payables 8,415 12,573

Advances received 256 4,471

Subtotal non-financial liabilities 8,671 17,044

Total 287,501 179,822

Non-current 93,686 4,825

Current 193,815 174,997

Total 287,501 179,822

1)  As at 31 December 2020, trade and other payables due to related parties include the payable towards associate Výzkumný ústav 

hnědého uhlí a.s. in total amount TEUR 336.

2)  As at 31 December 2019, trade and other payables due to related parties and other payables include payables in total amount of 

TEUR 42,700 resulting from acquisition of 100% share in Remlan s.r.o. in 2019 (refer to Note 2 (c) (ii)), of which:

 •  other payable of TEUR 22,351 due to the former owner of the acquiree

 •  other payable of TEUR 20,349 due to related party - the shareholder of the Group corresponding with the amount paid by the 

shareholder to the former owner of Remlan s.r.o. on behalf of the acquirer.
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3)  As at 31 December 2020, other payables include consideration related to the acquisition of Elektrárna Počerady, a.s. in total 

amount of TEUR 113,222 consisting of: 

 •  liability in nominal value of TEUR 95,256 payable to ČEZ, a.s. as at 30 November 2023;

 •  liability in nominal value of TEUR 25,032 payable to ČEZ, a.s. in 2021;

 •  unwinding discount of TEUR (7,066) related to consideration liabilities, from which TEUR (6,554) represent non-current part and 

TEUR (512) represent current part. 

4)  As at 31 December 2019, other payables include also the received cash collateral (variation margin) in total amount of TEUR 1,979 

connected with purchases of emission allowances held by Sev.en Commodities AG. The Group applies the „own use“ exemption 

for these contracts (see Note 4c)) but as these contracts are exchange traded, the clearing centre settles on a daily basis 

changes in the fair value of these contracts. The above mentioned liability corresponded to the amount of cash received from the 

clearing centre.

5)  As at 31 December 2020, other payables also comprise estimated payables related to repairs and maintenance of TEUR 14,023 

(2019: TEUR 12,607) recorded by Sev.en EC, a.s. and social security and health insurance liabilities. 

27 INTEREST-BEARING FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

2020
2019 

restated*

Non-current liabilities

Non-current portion of bank loans 134,600 129,140

Non-current loans from related parties 129,442 154,100

Non-current loans from third parties 133,747 221,017

Bonds issued 1) 98,271 --

Total non-current liabilities 496,060 504,257

Current liabilities

Current portion of bank loans 46,524 46,850

Current loans from related parties 52,920 47,683

Current loans from third parties 34,533 26,651

Total current liabilities 133,977 121,184

*The comparative information is restated on account of correction of change in presentation. Refer to Note 3(f).

1)  On 20 December 2020, the Group issued the bonds denominated in CZK with the interest rate 1 M PRIBOR + 2.20% and the due 

date 31 May 2024. The related interest expense recognized in profit or loss 2020 amounted to TEUR 81. As at 31 December 2020, 

the bonds liability consists of nominal amount of TEUR 98,190 and accrued interest payable of TEUR 81.
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Terms and debt repayment schedule

2020 2020 2019* 
Restated

2019* 

Restated

Currency Nominal interest rate Maturity 
date Face value Carrying 

amount Face value Carrying 
amount

Bank loan 1 – A) CZK 1M PRIBOR + 1.8% p.a. 30. 6. 2024 3,224 3,224 7,244 4,841

Bank loan 2 – B) EUR 3M EURIBOR + 3.5% 29. 12. 2023 42,200 42,270 50,000 50,078

Bank loan 3 – B) EUR 3M PRIBOR + 3.5% 31. 12. 2023 5,000 5,008 5,000 5,008

Bank loan 4 – B) EUR 3M PRIBOR + 3.5% 31. 05. 2024 30,700 30,751 40,000 40,063

Bank loan 5 – C) EUR
3M EURIBOR + 2.85% 

or 3.25% p.a.
30. 06. 2025 32,000 32,000 40,000 38,000

Bank loan 6 – C) EUR
3M EURIBOR + 2.85% or 

3.25% p.a.
30. 06. 2025 32,000 32,000 40,000 38,000

Bank loan 7 – B) EUR
EURIBOR (floor 0%) 

+ 5% p.a.
18. 05. 2021 20,000 20,000 -- --

Bank loan 8 – D) CZK 1M PRIBOR + 3,25% p.a 25. 5. 2027 15,813 15,871 -- --

Loan from related 
parties 1**

CZK 4.22% p.a. 31. 12. 2023 38,102 12,728 39,355 36,349

Loan from related 
parties 2**

CZK 3.80% p.a. 31. 12. 2026 38,102 39,697 39,355 39,815

Loan from related 
parties 3**

CZK 4.00% p.a. 31. 12. 2027 63,060 70,730 65,132 70,442

Loan from related 
parties 4**

CZK 4.00% p.a. 31. 12. 2026 9,526 6,287 9,839 7,494

Loan from related 
parties 5**

EUR 5.00% p.a. 31. 12. 2020 -- -- 5,000 5,256

Loan from related 
parties 6**

EUR 2.75% p.a. 27. 12. 2020 -- -- 543 558

Loan from related 
parties 7**

CZK 4.25% p.a. 31. 03. 2020 -- -- 23,606 23,972

Loan from related 
parties 8**

CZK 4.60% p.a. 30. 06. 2021 33,721 30,020 17,710 17,897

Loan from related 
parties 9**

EUR 1M EURIBOR + 2.25% 31. 12. 2021*** 22,342 22,900 -- --

Loan from third 
parties 1**

CZK 1M PRIBOR + 2.2% 31. 12. 2023 -- -- 98,386 98,386

Loan from third 
parties 2**

EUR 1.60% p.a. 30. 06. 2021 9,568 1,697 9,882 9,941

Loan from third 
parties 3**

EUR 1.60% p.a. 30. 06. 2021 16,120 16,975 16,650 16,708

Loan from third 
parties 4**

CZK n/a n/a 4 4 2 2

Loan from third 
parties 5**

CZK 4.57% p.a. 01. 01. 2024 21,838 22,849 20,740 20,745

Loan from third 
parties 6**

CZK 5.22% p.a 31. 12. 2024 49,329 51,947 49,193 50,936

Loan from third 
parties 7**

CZK 5.22% p.a 31. 12. 2024 49,316 51,933 49,193 50,950

Loan from third 
parties 8**

CZK 2.30% p.a. 31. 12. 2021 37,340 15,857 -- --

Loan from third 
parties 9**

CZK 5.50% p.a. 31. 12. 2022 7,015 7,018 -- --

Bonds issued CZK 1M PRIBOR + 2.20% 31. 5. 2024 98,190 98,271 -- --

Total interest-
bearing liabilities 674,510 630,037 626,830 625,441

* The comparative information is restated on account of correction of change in presentation. Refer to Note 3(f).

** For these loans early settlement are possible based on the conditions in relevant contracts.

*** On 18 December 2020, the maturity date of the shareholder’s loan was prolonged from 31 December 2020 to 31 December 2021.
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Terms and conditions of outstanding loans were as follows:

 A)  Bank loan is secured by blank promissory note co-accepted by Vršanská uhelná a.s. and also by lien on receivables 

resulting from concluded lease agreements of Servis Leasing a.s. Amount of TEUR 3,224 (2019: TEUR 4,841) consists 

of a current part of TEUR 1,555 (2019: TEUR 2,272) and of a non-current part of TEUR 1,669 (2019: TEUR 2,569 ), which is 

currently drawn in two tranches: 

 • tranche I.: due date on 31 December 2023 (interest rate 1M PRIBOR + 1.8 % p.a.),

 • tranche II.: due date on 30 June 2020 (interest rate 1M PRIBOR + 1.8 % p.a.),

 • tranche IV.: due date on 30 June 2025 (interest rate 1M PRIBOR + 1.8 % p.a.).

  Based on the amendment to the loan contract concluded as at 29 July 2019, interest rate for newly drawn tranches 

amounts to 1M PRIBOR + 2.75 % p.a.

 B)  The bank loans 2, 3, 4 are parts of the credit agreement of up to TEUR 110,000 concluded on 16 August 2019 between 

the financing bank as the creditor, the Group entities Sev.en Commodities AG, Vršanská uhelná a.s., Coal Services a.s. 

and Elektrárna Chvaletice a.s. (formerly Sev.en EC, a.s.) as the debtors, the company Severní energetická a.s. as the 

guarantor and Sev.en Services s.r.o. as an agent. The related contracts about the pledges on property, plant and 

equipment, receivables and insurance consideration were also concluded. The loan is bearing the interest 3M EURIBOR 

+ 3.5% p.a. and is repayable on 31 December 2023. As of 31 December 2019, TEUR 15,000 of the credit framework 

remained undrawn from the overall TEUR 110,000 credit limit. On 18 May 2020 the above mentioned debtors, guarantor 

and agent concluded with the financing bank an amendment that increased the total loan limit from TEUR 110,000 to 

130,000. The Group company Elektrárna Chvaletice a.s. has drawn the incremental TEUR 20,000 of debt, presented in 

the table above ad bank loan 7. As of 31 December 2020, TEUR 15,000 of the credit framework remains undrawn from the 

overall TEUR 130,000 credit limit.

 C)  The bank loans 5, 6 are parts of one credit agreement concluded on 21 August 2019 between the financing banks as the 

creditors and the Group entity Sev.en Zeta a.s. The bank loans were subsequently transferred to Teplárna Kladno s.r.o. 

as the debtor. The loan is secured by pledges on ownership interest in Teplárna Kladno s.r.o. held by Sev.en Zeta a.s. and 

on property, plant and equipment of Teplárna Kladno s.r.o.

 D)  The bank loan 7 was concluded between the Group company Sev.en Zeta a.s. and a financing bank on 19 June 2020, 

repayable in 12 instalments with the final maturity on 25 May 2027. The loan is bearing an interest of 1M PRIBOR + 

3,5% p.a. Sev.en Energy AG as the direct parent of Sev.en Zeta a.s. issued a guarantee in favour of the financing bank 

in the amount of the loan provided, TCZK 415,000 (TEUR 15,813 as of 31 December 2020) with final maturity of the 

guarantee being 25 May 2037.

All covenants contained in agreements in respect of bank loans have been fulfilled and complied with in all material aspects. 

There were no specific covenants in respect to loans from related and third parties. 
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 The reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities during the year ended 31 December 2020 is set out below.

Loans and 
borrowings

Lease 
liabilities

Equity Total

Balance at 1 January 2020 625,441 98,705 763,775 1,487,921

Changes from financing cash flows

Drawings of loans and borrowings 112,071 -- -- 112,071

Repayments of loans and borrowings (200,493) -- -- (200,493)

Bonds issued 97,451 -- -- 97,451

Repayment of lease liabilities -- (1,480) -- (1,480)

Total changes from financing cash flows 9,029 (1,480) -- 7,549

Changes arising from obtaining or losing control of 
subsidiaries or other businesses

-- 1,197 718 1,915

The effect of changes in foreign exchange rates (12,917) (3,306) (19,678) (35,901)

Other changes

Interest expense 22,067 3,377 -- 25,444

Interest paid (13,583) (3,377) -- (16,960)

Total liability-related other changes 8,484 -- -- 8,484

Total equity-related other changes -- -- 33,912 33,912

Balance at 31 December 2020 630,037 95,116 778,727 1,503,880

 The reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities during the year ended 31 December 2019 is set out below.

Loans and 
borrowings

Lease 
liabilities

Equity Total

Balance at 1 January 2019 294 028 95,598 524,612 914,238

Changes from financing cash flows

Drawings of loans and borrowings 376,545 -- -- 376,545

Repayments of loans and borrowings (236,252) -- -- (236,252)

Repayment of lease liabilities -- (5,057) -- (5,057)

Total changes from financing cash flows 140,293 (5,057) -- 135,236

Changes arising from obtaining or losing control of 
subsidiaries or other businesses

169,000 765 -- 169,765

The effect of changes in foreign exchange rates 10,891 1,595 15,756 28,242

Other changes

Initial application of IFRS 16 -- 2,809 -- 2,809

Interest expense 17,062 3,493 -- 20,555

Interest paid (5,833) (498) -- (6,331)

Total liability-related other changes 11,229 5,804 -- 17,033

Total equity-related other changes -- -- 223,407 223,407

Balance at 31 December 2019 625,441 98,705 763,775 1,487,921
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28 OTHER FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, INCLUDING DERIVATIVES

2020 2019

Non-current financial instruments

Derivative financial instruments (refer to Note 29) 1,148 771

Total non-current investments 1,148 771

Current financial instruments

Financial liabilities at fair value -- 3,672

Derivative financial instruments (refer to Note 29) 29,550 8,950

Total current investments 29,550 12,622

As at 31 December 2019, other financial liability at fair value consisted of current liability of TEUR 3,762 from deferred consideration 

resulting from purchase of Sev.en EC, a.s. by Severní energetická a.s. in 2013. The liability was fully settled in 2020.

29 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Group uses the foreign exchange derivative forward contracts (“FX forwards”) foreign exchange options (“FX options”) and 

commodity futures and forwards to manage its exposure to currency risk and commodity market risk and also uses commodity 

derivative contracts for trading. Part of the derivative instruments are designated as hedging instruments within a cash flow hedge 

and are measured at fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”). Derivative instruments that are not measures at 

FVOCI are measured at fair value through profit and loss (“FVTPL”) and represent financial assets held for trading. 

Derivative financial instruments are net settled by clearing centers of relevant commodity exchanges that act as center 

counterparties for all market participants. This net-settlement is not considered to represent the offsetting of financial assets and 

liabilities as defined by IFRS.

In 2020 there was no forecast transaction for which hedge accounting had been used in the previous period, but which is no longer 

expected to occur.

The effects of hedge accounting on financial position and performance

As at 31 December 2020, the Group disclosed the following derivative instruments classified as non-current and current assets with 

the settlements in years 2021 – 2023:

31 December 2020 31 December 2019

FX forwards (FVTPL) -- 1,075

FX options (FVTPL) 788 3,127

Other derivative instruments - commodities (FVTPL) -- 1,231

Total 788 5,433

Non-current 554 1,849

Current 234 3,584

Total 788 5,433
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As at 31 December 2020, the Group disclosed the following derivative instruments classified as non-current and current liabilities 

with the settlements in years 2021 – 2023:

31 December 2020 31 December 2019

FX options (FVTPL) (154) (1,018)

Commodity contracts used for hedging (FVOCI) 1) (19,317) --

Other derivative instruments - commodities (FVTPL) (11,227) (8,703)

Total (30,698) (9,721)

Non-current (1,148) (771)

Current (29,550) (8,950)

Total (30,698) (9,721)

1)  As at 31 December 2020 the Group has received cash corresponding to the change in fair value of the commodity futures used 

for hedging of TEUR 31,999 (2019: TEUR 9,662), as a result the fair value is presented in the row Trade and other receivables of the 

statement of financial position (with a corresponding entry to Hedging reserve within Equity, net of deferred tax).

The Group applies the own use exemption to specific contracts for the purchase or sale of commodities as applicable. This includes 

the agreement for the purchase of emission allowances and sale of electricity entered into with ČEZ, a.s. for the period from 

1 January 2021 till 31 December 2023.

Total balance of derivative instruments as at 31 December 2020 and 2019:

31 December 2020 31 December 2019

Non-current (594) 1,078

Current (29,316) (5,057)

Total (29,910) (3,979)

Information about the Group’s exposure to credit, market and liquidity risk is included in Note 30. Information about fair value 

measurement is included in Note 6.

Critical judgements and assumptions are required in relation to derivative financial instruments. For more information refer to 

Note 3 (e).
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30 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

a) Information about risks arising from financial instruments

The Group has exposure to the following risks arising from financial instruments as described in the financial statements:

 • credit risk

 • liquidity risk

 • market risk

This disclosure presents information about the Group’s exposure to each of the above risks, the Group’s objectives, policies 

and processes for measuring and managing risk, and the Group’s management of capital.

b) Risk management framework

 i) General framework

Risk is defined by the Group as a potential deviation of real development from planned development and is measured by the 

amount of deviation and probability of the deviation arising. The basic objective of risk management of the Group is to reduce 

the potential negative impact on profit. The Group applies a risk averse approach, seeking to prevent risks or bear only a level 

of risk that is acceptable in terms of the benefits associated with the given financial instrument.

Individual risk takers monitor risks and continually, when needed, perform their evaluation with the objective of estimating the 

potential losses arising from the existence of given risks and thereby to identify the seriousness of the specified risk type. The 

Group actively manages the risks that are assessed as serious. Generally, rules for risk management are implemented directly 

in relevant work instructions that cover individual processes.

The Group carries out its business through sale of electricity to a wide range of customers. That is why market risk (commodity 

and price risk) and currency risk are among the most significant risks that the Group is exposed to.

Market risk is the risk of losses arising from changes in market conditions, namely market prices and the demand for 

commodities, products or services, and their impact on the Group’s figures. Commodity risk arises from the fact that 

movements in market or other reference prices of commodities may have negative consequences for the Group. This risk can 

originate from changes in the absolute value or changes in the structure of the price curve. The risk arising from changes in 

commodity prices is price risk. In particular, price, volumetric and electricity settlement risks are significant for the business of 

the Group. The Group uses VaR (value at risk) for monitoring and risk management purposes.

Credit risk consists in negative financial consequences if a trade, financial or other contractual partner fails to meet its 

obligations either due to unwillingness or inability. Credit risk arising from financial investments is in accordance with the 

investment strategy mentioned above, and is managed by the selection of investment instruments with good quality ratings. 

To eliminate the negative consequences of business relationships, credit risk is assessed with respect to the development of 

individual customers’ payment discipline. In the case of new customers, creditworthiness of a counter-party is assessed based 

on an analysis of financial performance and financial standing. This analysis results in a rating, based on which counter-party 

is approved. Simultaneously, when a rating is obtained, a credit exposure limit to the counter-party is established. Credit risk is 

managed mainly by monitoring payment discipline and compliance of individual counter-parties with credit exposure limits. 

Currency risk lies primarily in deviation from planned profit due to unexpected movements of foreign currency rates 

(transaction risk) or losses in relation to revaluation of assets or liabilities denominated in foreign currency (translational 

risk). Currency management processes of the Group with regard to either translation risk or transaction risk involve the strict 

separation of M&A and controlling activities. For each section of the currency risk management process, basic actions are 

defined and responsibilities of particular departments or individual employees are assigned to these actions. 
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c) Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counter-party to a financial instrument fails to meet its 

contractual obligations, and arises principally from the Group’s receivables from customers and investment securities.

A concentration of risk is mitigated as the end users of key products (electricity and coal) are not concentrated in a single 

industry, even though the Group’s direct counterparties are distributors and retailers. Likewise the concentration of risk is 

mitigated as, even though the production capacity of the Group is located in a single country, a unified market is available. As 

a result management has concluded that a concentration risk does not arise.

To the extent that future sales are secured by commodity exchange traded products credit risk is managed by the presence 

of the daily settlement mechanism of gains and losses using the variation margin that is deposited / withdrawn from the 

Group’s bank account on a daily basis.

The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. The maximum exposure to credit risk at the 

end of the reporting period was as follows.

2020 2019

Other financial investments (excluding provided loans) 18,074 34,234

Provided loans 113,786 30,471

Trade and other receivables* 183,303 108,627

Cash and cash equivalents 73,619 121,702

Restricted cash 102,799 104,791

Total 491,581 399,825

* Excluding prepaid expenses, advances paid and tax receivables.

 i) Trade and other receivables

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each customer. The Group takes 

this into consideration and choose an individual approach, while the history of mutual business relationships also plays a role. 

In the case of new customers, a cautious approach is applied. The Group has established policies under which each new 

customer is analysed individually for creditworthiness. Based on the analysis, an approach to a customer is chosen, binding 

limits and payment terms are established, and where appropriate, suitable securing of future receivables or prepayment is 

required. The Group has also established a system of monitoring and analysing customers’ payment discipline. If a shortfall in 

payments is detected, the Group responds in compliance with internally established instructions, with the objective of ensuring 

prompt collection of due receivables and preventing shortfalls of other potentially threatened receivables. The Group annually 

performs tests for impairment losses on trade receivables, other receivables and financial investments. 

As the counterparties for significant trade and other receivables are either related companies or significant stable companies 

it is not expected that counter-parties will not meet their obligations in those transactions, and therefore securing is not used 

and collateral does not need to be reflected in determining ECL.

 ii) Provided loans

The Group’s exposure to credit risk related to provided loans is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each 

debtor. The Group takes this into consideration and choose an individual approach. The Group has established policies 

under which each new debtor is analysed individually for creditworthiness. Based on the analysis, an approach to debtor is 

chosen, binding limits and payment terms are established, and where appropriate, suitable securing of future receivables or 

prepayment is required. The Group has also established a system of monitoring and analysing debtors’ payment discipline. 

If a shortfall in payments is detected, the Group responds in compliance with internally established instructions, with the 

objective of ensuring prompt collection of due loan receivables and preventing shortfalls of other potentially threatened 

receivables. The Group annually performs tests for impairment losses on loan receivables. 
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 iii) Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash

In Restricted cash, financial resources that have to be linked to current accounts for legal purposes are disclosed, in particular 

purpose-built restricted funds for drawing provisions for remediation and reclamation, repairs and landfills. Restricted cash 

comprises funds deposited in bank accounts (refer also to Note 22). Current financial investments are revaluated based on 

a liquidity test. Investments in marketable securities that are readily convertible due in 0 – 3 months are classified as Cash and 

cash equivalents.

The Group held cash and cash equivalent of TEUR 73,619 (2019: TEUR 121,702) and restricted cash equivalent of TEUR 102,799 

(2019: TEUR 104,791) as at 31 December 2020. Based on the assessment of ECLs for cash and cash equivalents no impairment 

allowance as at 31 December 2020 and as at 31 December 2019 was recognised. 

 iv) Credit risk of trade receivables pursuant to geographic regions

The maximum exposure to credit risk for trade receivables and other receivables (excluding prepaid expenses, advances paid 

and other tax receivables) at the end of the reporting period by geographic region was as follows.

2020 2019

Czech Republic 111,802 60,308

European Union 71,501 48,319

Total 183,303 108,627

 v) Impairment losses

The movement in the allowance for impairment in respect of trade and other receivables during the year was as follows:

2020 2019

Balance 1 January 8,051 8,267

Impairment loss 725 44

Reversal of impairment loss (726) (357)

Effects of movements in foreign exchange rate (256) 97

Balance 31 December 7,794 8,051

ECL for trade and other receivables for corporate customers as at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019 was calculated 

based on actual credit loss experience and the Group’s assessment. 

The movement in the allowance for impairment in respect of provided loans during the year was as follows:

2020 2019

Balance 1 January 20,341 20,305

Impairment loss 979 43 

Reversal of impairment loss (208) (259)

Impairment gain on POCI assets 1) (8,566) --

Effects of movements in foreign exchange rate (669) 252

Balance 31 December 11,877 20,341

1) The impairment gain on POCI assets recognized in 2020 is attributable to loans provided to related parties, see Notes 9 and 17 for details. 
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 vi) Classification of financial assets by credit risk

The following table presents an analysis of the credit quality of provided loans at amortised cost. It indicates whether assets 

measured at amortised cost were subject to a 12-month ECL or lifetime ECL allowance and if they were credit-impaired. 

The assets purchased or originated as credit impaired are disclosed separately. There were no transfers during the year 

from 12-month ECL to lifetime ECL category. The increase in the loss allowance (lifetime ECL) is driven by foreign exchange 

revaluations of the receivable, resulting in a corresponding increase in the allowance. None of the provided loans were past due.

31 December 2020 Stage
Gross 

carrying 
amount

Loss 
allowance

Amortised 
cost

Weighted 
average loss 

rate

Credit-
impaired

12-month ECL I 21,728 (156) 21,572 0,72% No

Lifetime ECL, not credit-impaired II -- -- -- -- No

Lifetime ECL, credit-impaired III 20,314 (20,314) -- 100.00% Yes

Lifetime ECL, purchased or 

originated as credit impaired 
POCI 83,621 8,593 92,214 n/a Yes

Total 125,663 (11,877) 113,786

31 December 2019 Stage
Gross 

carrying 
amount

Loss 
allowance

Amortised 
cost

Weighted 
average loss 

rate

Credit-
impaired

12-month ECL I 30,688 (217) 30,471 0.71% No

Lifetime ECL, not credit-impaired II -- -- -- -- No

Lifetime ECL, credit-impaired III 20,124 (20,124) -- 100.00% Yes

Total 50,812 (20,341) 30,471

The following table provides information about the exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade and other receivables (including 

security deposits provided and excluding prepaid expenses, advances paid and other tax receivables) as at 31 December 2020 

and 31 December 2019. The trade and other receivables were subject to a lifetime ECL allowance.

31 December 2020
Gross carrying 

amount
Loss 

allowance
Amortised 

cost

Weighted 
average loss 

rate

Credit-
impaired

Current (not past due) 183,520 (290) 183,230 0.16% No

Past due 1-90 days 74 (1) 73 1.00% No

Past due 91-180 days -- -- -- -- No

Past due 181-360 days -- -- -- -- Yes

More than 360 days past due 7,503 (7,503) -- 100.00% Yes

Total 191,097 (7,794) 183,303

31 December 2019
Gross carrying 

amount
Loss 

allowance
Amortised 

cost

Weighted 
average loss 

rate

Credit-
impaired

Current (not past due) 108,735 (278) 108,457 0.26% No

Past due 1-90 days 15 -- 15 1.00% No

Past due 91-180 days 194 (39) 155 20.10% No

Past due 181-360 days 2 (2) -- 100.00% Yes

More than 360 days past due 7,732 (7,732) -- 100.00% Yes

Total 116,678 (8,051) 108,627
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d) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulties in meeting the obligations associated with its financial 

liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset and as a result of the default will be exposed to financial 

penalties – losses.

The Group’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet 

its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to 

the Group’s reputation.

The basis of liquidity management is a high quality system of cash flow planning. This is based on an annual cash flow plan 

which provides basic information about the expected development of financial flows in a given accounting period. In the 

course of the accounting period the annual cash flow plan is subsequently refined and complemented with quarterly plans 

incorporating changes that were not included in original plans. Own cash flow management is based on monthly cash flow 

plans that primarily reflect relevant data from accounting systems and other databases. 

Management of the Group evaluates concentrations of risk taking into account financial instruments that have similar 

characteristics and are affected similarly by changes in economic or other conditions. Shared characteristics identifying 

a concentration include a counterparty, currency or market. Interest bearing financial instruments disclosed in Note 27 are 

potentially subject to concentration risk which is managed by the Group in drawing loans with long maturities and having 

sufficient cash available. 

Information obtained from annual and quarterly plans serve as the input information for possible adjustment of its credit 

limits established with cooperating financial institutions. The Group has prepared credit limits and it has set up allowed debit 

balances on selected current accounts. High quality cash flow planning enables the Group to monitor its cash flow needs. Most 

important for the Group is to have sufficient funds on hand to cover operating expenses including debt service coverage for 

a period of 30 days in advance. In this matter, the Group prevents potential negative consequences of extreme situations that 

cannot be normally predicted.

The following are the remaining contractual maturities at the end of the reporting period of financial liabilities. The amounts 

disclosed in column contractual cash flows are gross and undiscounted, and include contractual interest payments and 

exclude the impact of netting agreements.

31 December 2020
Carrying 
amount

Total 
contractual 
cash flows

3 months 
or less

3-12 months 1-5 years
More than 

5 years

Non-derivative financial liabilities

Interest-bearing financial liabilities 630,037 711,864 9,142 131,566 422,838 148,318

Lease liabilities 95,116 192,346 1,419 4,289 22,553 164,085

Other financial liabilities -- -- -- -- -- --

Trade and other payables* 278,830 278,830 113,857 76,271 88,702 --

1,003,983 1,183,040 124,418 212,126 534,093 312,403

* Excluding advances received, other tax payables and deferred revenues

31 December 2020
Carrying 
amount

Total 
contractual 
cash flows

3 months 
or less

3-12 months 1-5 years
More than 

5 years

Derivative financial liabilities

Commodity futures 30,544 30,544 9,043 20,507 994 --

FX options 154 154 -- -- 154 --

30,698 30,698 9,043 20,507 1,148 --
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31 December 2019
Carrying 
amount

Total 
contractual 
cash flows

3 months 
or less

3-12 months 1-5 years
More than 

5 years

Non-derivative financial liabilities

Interest-bearing financial liabilities 625,441 743,462 14,804 143,089 539,773 54,796

Lease liabilities 98,705 202,685 1,418 4,255 22,666 174,346

Other financial liabilities 3,672 3,805 -- 3,805 -- --

Trade and other payables* 162,778 162,778 80,210 77,743 4,825 --

890,596 1,112,730 96,432 219,892 567,264 229,142

* Excluding advances received, other tax payables and deferred revenues 

31 December 2019
Carrying 
amount

Total 
contractual 
cash flows

3 months 
or less

3-12 months 1-5 years
More than 

5 years

Derivative financial liabilities

Commodity futures 8,703 8,703 8,471 232 -- --

FX Options 1,018 1,018 62 185 771 --

9,721 9,721 8,533 417 771 --

e) Market risk

The Group understands market risk as the risk that the Group’s income or the value of financial instruments owned by the 

Group will be negatively affected by changes in market parameters – for instance changes in FX rates, interest rates, prices of 

equity securities, or prices of commodities.

Potentially significant impacts of market risks for the Group can arise in relation to accepted loans and financial investments, 

to foreign currency receivables and payables and to fluctuation in prices of commodities.

Management of the Group evaluates concentrations of risk taking into account effects from changes in economic or other 

conditions. Shared characteristics identifying a concentration include a currency, commodity and sensitivity to fluctuation in 

interest rates. The specific risk concentrations are apparent from the individual categories of risk described below. 

 i) Currency risk

Currency risk is related namely to electricity, coal and emission allowances trading performed by the Sev.en Commodities AG. 

The commodities are mainly purchased in EUR and inputs for coal mining and electricity production are mainly denominated 

in CZK. Subsequent sales to traders and to end consumers are carried out in both EUR and CZK. Apart from electricity, coal 

and emission allowances trading performed, entities within the Group use financial instruments sensitive to currency risk. 

Herein arises an open position towards currency risk. The Company regularly assesses open positions, monitors development 

of EUR/CZK rate and where necessary performs hedging against currency risk with appropriate financial hedging instruments. 

Instructions for currency risk management, limits on the extent of open positions and other binding limits for electricity trading 

and currency risk management are implemented in management methodology.

The Group designated the spot element of forward foreign exchange contracts to hedge its currency risk and applies a hedge 

ration of 1:1. The forward element of forward exchange contracts are excluded from the designation of the hedging instrument 

and are separately accounted for as a cost of hedging, which is recognised in equity in a cost of hedging reserve. The 

Group’s policy is for the critical terms of the forward exchange contracts to align with the hedged item.

The Group determines the existence of the economic relationship between the hedging instrument and hedged item based 

on currency, amount and timing of their respective cash flows. The Group assesses whether the derivative designated in each 

hedging relationship is expected to be and has been effective in offsetting changes in cash flows of the hedged item using the 

hypothetical derivative method. 
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In these hedge relationships, the main sources of ineffectiveness are: 

 –  The effect of the counterparties and the Group’s own credit risk on the fair value of the forward foreign exchange 

contracts, which is not reflected in the change in the fair value of the hedged cash flows attributable to the change in 

exchange rated; and 

 – Changes in the timing of the hedged transaction.

The Group did not designate any derivatives used to manage exposure to currency risks as hedging instruments within 

a formal hedging relationship as of 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019.

 ii) Financial instruments exposed to currency risk

In thousands of EUR CZK EUR USD GBP Other Total

Cash and cash equivalents 45,875 26,708 827 3 206 73,619

Other investments 38,647 1,000 92,213 -- -- 131,860

Trade and other receivables 69,145 114,108 20 -- 30 183,303

Restricted cash 102,799 -- -- -- -- 102,799

Trade and other payables (247,958) (30,799) -- (8) (65) (278,830)

Interest-bearing financial liabilities (426,436) (203,601) -- -- -- (630,037)

Lease liabilities (95,116) -- -- -- -- (95,116)

Other financial liabilities (406) (30,292) -- -- -- (30,698)

Net exposure as at  
31 December 2020

(513,450) (122,876) 93,060 (5) 171 (543,100)

In thousands of EUR CZK EUR USD GBP Other Total

Cash and cash equivalents 100,978 20,671 13 -- 40 121,702

Other investments 44,227 1,828 22 18,628 -- 64,705

Trade and other receivables 43,379 65,248 -- -- -- 108,627

Restricted cash 104,791 -- -- -- -- 104,791

Trade and other payables (101,114) (61,540) (100) -- (24) (162,778)

Interest-bearing financial liabilities (472,467) (152,974) -- -- -- (625,441)

Lease liabilities (98,705) -- -- -- -- (98,705)

Other financial liabilities (4,912) (8,481) -- -- -- (13,393)

Net exposure as at  
31 December 2019

(383,823) (135,248) (65) 18,628 (16) (500,492)

The functional currencies for the Group companies are primarily CZK and EUR. Presentation currency of the Group is EUR.
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 iii) Sensitivity analysis

This analysis is based on a foreign currency exchange rate variance that the Group considered reasonable at the end of the 

reporting period. The analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant and ignores any 

impact of forecasted sales and purchases.

Total comprehensive income

31 December 2020 Strengthening Weakening

CZK (10% movement) (51,345) 51,345

USD (10% movement) 9,306 (9,306)

GBP (10% movement) (1) 1

Other (10% movement) 17 (17)

31 December 2019

CZK (10% movement) (38,382) 38,382

USD (10% movement) (7) 7

GBP (10% movement) 1,863 (1,863)

Other (10% movement) 2 (2)

 iv) Interest rate risk

The Group uses external funds for its financing purposes and faces interest rate risk. The Group has prepared scenarios to 

deal with unexpected developments in the financial and capital markets leading to an unforeseen increase in interest rates. 

If such a situation arises, elimination of interest expenses through an operative reduction in external funds financing in the 

framework of a revolving loan (natural hedging) and their substitution by the Group’s own resources (sale of selected financial 

assets) will be performed in combination with appropriate hedging financial instruments.

 v) Financial instruments exposed to interest rate risk

At the end of the reporting period the interest rate profile of the Group’s interest-bearing financial instruments was as follows.

2020 2019

Fixed rate instruments

Other investments 12,007 4,466

Provided loans 2 30,471

Lease receivables 468 743

Deposits provided 1,948 3,379

Guarantee received -- --

Loans and borrowings -- (427,065)

Lease liabilities (95,116) (98,705)

Interest-bearing financial liabilities (327,742) --

Total (408,433) (486,711)

Variable rate instruments

Other investments 3,491 3,601

Provided loans 113,784 --

Interest-bearing financial liabilities (302,295) (198,376)

Total (185,020) (194,775)
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 vi) Sensitivity analysis

Interest rate sensitivity
2020 2019

+100 bps -100 bps +100 bps -100 bps 

Fair value sensitivity

Fixed rate instruments (4,084) 4,084 (4,867) 4,867

Cash flow sensitivity

Variable rate instruments (1,850) 1,850 (1,948) 1,948

Fair value sensitivity analysis for fixed rate instruments

The Group does not account for any fixed rate financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, and the Group 

does not designate derivatives (interest rate swaps) as hedging instruments under a fair value hedge accounting model.

Cash flow sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments

This calculation includes instruments with a floating interest rate. For the following financial instruments, the impact of 

a change in interest rates on interest revenues/expenses from the instruments is calculated:

 • Variable coupon bonds purchased – based on PRIBOR

 • Bonds issued – variable IR – based on PRIBOR

 • Provided loans – variable IR based on PRIBOR or LIBOR

 • Drawn loans - variable IR based on PRIBOR or EUROBOR

f) Capital management

In terms of capital management, the Group’s objective is to ensure the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern while 

ensuring returns on capital for shareholder and benefits for other stakeholders and maintaining the optimal structure of 

capital in order to reduce the cost of capital. The goal of the Group’s capital management is to achieve a healthy balance of 

equity and liabilities that enables the development of individual companies within the Group based on their particular needs. 

The Group applies a reserved approach to external financing and the use of liabilities and its potential impact are examined in 

relation to the planned profit and target return on equity. The use of financial ratios corresponds with this reserved approach 

to the use of liabilities.

The Group supports management of equity and liabilities on the level of individual companies with focus on the individual 

needs of each company and its status within the Group. Methodical guidance is provided by specialized department of the 

parent company. The capital structure of individual companies is periodically evaluated by the Group and changes are made 

when required. Changes are made based on the development of business environment and development goals of individual 

companies. The consolidated capital structure is evaluated once a year.

Similarly to other companies in the sector, the Group monitors capital using the debt-to-capital ratio. This ratio is calculated 

as net debt divided by total capital. Net debt comprises total loans (including current and non-current loans and borrowings in 

the consolidated statement of financial position) less cash and cash equivalents. Total capital equals “equity” as presented in 

the consolidated balance sheet plus net debt. The capital structure is evaluated once a year.

g) Derivative assets and liabilities designated as cash flow hedges

The Group uses forward exchange contracts to hedge against the risk of changes in foreign exchange rates and electricity 

futures to hedge against changes in prices of electricity (purchased on European Energy Exchange AG – EEX). As there 

is a high correlation between the movement in prices of the hedged item (price of electricity produced and sold by 

the Group) and the hedging instrument (EEX commodity traded derivatives) the Group has concluded that there is an 

economic relationship and set the hedge ratio to 1:1 for the purpose of hedge accounting. Sources of hedge ineffectiveness 

would be movements in prices of electricity on the commodity exchange of the hedging instruments that would not 

have a corresponding opposite movement in the value of the electricity sold by the Group. As of and for the year ended 

31 December 2020 no ineffectiveness was recognized in relation to designated hedging relationships as the hedged item and 

hedging instrument share the same underlying price which results in the equal and opposite movement in prices of the hedged 

item and hedging instrument.
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As at 31 December 2020, the Group held the following instruments to hedge exposures to changes in future electricity prices:

Maturity*

In thousands of EUR 1 - 6 months 6 - 12 months
More than one 

year

Commodity prices risk

Electricity futures

Net exposure (volume of electricity multiplied by unit price) 122,813 118,673 92,298

Average hedged electricity price EUR / 1 MWh 40.23 40.23 46.21

Emission rights contracts

Net exposure (volume of EUAs multiplied by unit price) -- (128,048) (58,782)

Average hedged emission price EUR / 1 MT -- 20.83 28.34

* Maturity represents the period during which deliveries of electric energy are secured (an annual delivery contract secures the price of 

delivered energy evenly over the entire calendar year).

As at 31 December 2019, the Group held the following instruments to hedge exposures to changes in future electricity prices:

Maturity*

In thousands of EUR 1 - 6 months 6 - 12 months
More than one 

year

Commodity prices risk

Electricity futures

Net exposure (volume of electricity multiplied by unit price) 37,372 37,372 --

Average hedged electricity price EUR / 1 MWh 48.62 48.62 --

Emission rights futures

Net exposure (volume of EUAs multiplied by unit price) -- (103,269) --

Average hedged emission price EUR / 1 MT -- 24,50 --

* Maturity represents the period during which deliveries of electric energy are secured (an annual delivery contract secures the price of 

delivered energy evenly over the entire calendar year).
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As at 31 December 2020, the amounts at the reporting date relating to items designated as hedged items were as follows: 

31 December 2020

In thousands of EUR
Change in value used 
for calculating hedge 

ineffectiveness
Cash flow hedge reserve

Cost of hedging hedge 
reserve

Foreign currency risk

Forward exchange contracts

Sales of electricity -- -- --

Commodity prices risk

Electricity futures

Sales of electricity (76,849) (67,187) --

Emission rights futures

Purchases of emission rights 77,954 79,868 --

During the year ended 31 December 2020 the Group did not designate any new foreign exchange derivatives as hedging 

instruments. 

The fair value of electricity futures designated as hedging instruments as of 31 December 2020 of TEUR (67,187) and change in 

value of TEUR (76,849) represents the gross amount before deferred tax is recognized at a rate of 19%. 

As at 31 December 2019, the amounts at the reporting date relating to items designated as hedged items were as follows:

31 December 2019

In thousands of EUR
Change in value used 
for calculating hedge 

ineffectiveness
Cash flow hedge reserve

Cost of hedging hedge 
reserve

Foreign currency risk

Forward exchange contracts

Sales of electricity 36 -- --

Commodity prices risk

Electricity futures

Sales of electricity 12,849 9,662 --

During the year ended 31 December 2019 the Group did not designate any new foreign exchange derivatives as hedging 

instruments. 

The fair value of electricity futures designated as hedging instruments as of 31 December 2019 of TEUR 9,662 and change in 

value of TEUR 12,849 represents the gross amount before deferred tax is recognized at a rate of 19%.
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As at 31 December 2020, the amounts relating to items designated as hedging instruments and hedge ineffectiveness were as follows:

In thousands of EUR
Nominal 
amount

Carrying amount Line item in the statement 
of financial position where 
the hedging instrument is 

included

Change in the 
value of hedging 

instrument 
recognised in OCI

Assets Liabilities

Foreign currency risk

Sales of electricity -- -- --

Derivative financial 

instruments - assets / 

(liabilities)

--

Commodity prices risk

Sales of electricity 1) 333,784 (67,187)

Derivative financial 

instruments - assets / 

(liabilities)

(76,849)

Purchases of emission rights (186,831) 79,868

Derivative financial 

instruments - assets / 

(liabilities)

77,954

1)   As at 31 December 2020 the Company has received cash corresponding to the change in fair value of the commodity 

futures used for hedging, as a result the fair value is presented in the row Cash and cash equivalents of the statement of 

financial position (with a corresponding entry to Hedging reserve within Equity, net of deferred tax)

The nominal amount of TEUR 241,486 corresponds to the hedging of 6 TWh of electricity sales at an average price of EUR 40.23 

per 1 MWh for year 2021 and the nominal amount of TEUR 92,298 corresponds to the hedging of 2 TWh of electricity sales at an 

average price of EUR 46.21 per 1 MWh for year 2022.

The nominal amount of TEUR 128,048 corresponds to the hedging of 6,1 mil. MT of emission rights purchases at an average 

price of EUR 20.83 per MT for year 2021 and the nominal amount of TEUR 58,782 corresponds to the hedging of 2 mil. MT at an 

average price of EUR 28.34 per MT.

As at 31 December 2019, the amounts relating to items designated as hedging instruments and hedge ineffectiveness were as follows:

In thousands of EUR Nominal 
amount

Carrying amount Line item in the statement 
of financial position where 
the hedging instrument is 

included

Change in the 
value of hedging 

instrument 
recognised in OCI

Assets Liabilities

Foreign currency risk

Sales of electricity -- -- --

Derivative financial 

instruments - assets / 

(liabilities)

36

Commodity prices risk

Sales of electricity 1) 74,743 9,662 --

Derivative financial 

instruments - assets / 

(liabilities)

12,849

Purchase of emission rights 2) (103,269) 1,914 -- Trade and other receivables 1,914

1)  As at 31 December 2019 the Company has received cash corresponding to the change in fair value of the commodity 

futures used for hedging, as a result the fair value is presented in the row Trade and other receivables of the statement of 

financial position (with a corresponding entry to Hedging reserve within Equity, net of deferred tax)

The nominal amount of TEUR 74,743 corresponds to the hedging of 1,537,200 MWh of electricity at an average price of 

EUR 48,62 per 1 MWh.
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2)  As at 31 December 2019 the Company has received cash corresponding to the change in fair value of the commodity 

futures used for hedging, as a result the fair value is presented in the row Trade and other receivables of the statement of 

financial position (with a corresponding entry to Hedging reserve within Equity, net of deferred tax)

The nominal amount was TEUR 103,269 with an average price of EUR 24,50 per 1 MWh

In 2020 ineffective portion of changes in the fair value of the derivatives designed as hedging instruments in the amount of 

TEUR 988 was recognised in profit and loss (2019: TEUR 0). 

Deferred tax related to change in the value of hedging instruments of TEUR 208 was recognised in other comprehensive 

income.

31 LEASES

Leases as lessee

The right-of use asset and the related lease liability is recognized in relation to the rent of offices. Previously, the leases were 

classified as operating leases under IFRIC 4. 

The Group leases also cars with contract terms of one to two years. These leases are short-term and/or leases of low value 

items. The Group has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for these leases. 

Information about leases for which the Group is a lessee is presented below.

a) Right-of-use asset

2020
Right-of-use 

assets – operating lease
Coal mining 

deposits
Property under 

finance lease

Balance at 1 January 2,996 57,848 9,057

Acquisition through business combination 1,153 -- --

Depreciation charge for the year (658) (3,215) (891)

Effects of movements in foreign exchange rates (55) (1,865) (295)

Balance at 31 December 3,436 52,768 7,871

Acquisition through business combination in 2020 resulted from acquisition of Elektrárna Počerady, a.s. (refer to Note 2 (c) (i)). 

There were no other additions or disposals from right-of-use assets in the year ending 31 December 2020.

2019
Right-of-use 

assets – operating lease
Coal mining 

deposits
Property under 

finance lease

Balance at 1 January 2,732 58,763 9,307

Acquisition through business combination 756 -- --

Depreciation charge for the year (522) (1,853) (449)

Reversal of impairment loss -- 226 88

Effects of movements in foreign exchange rates 30 712 111

Balance at 31 December 2,996 57,848 9,057

Acquisition through business combination in 2019 resulted from acquisition of Teplárna Kladno s.r.o. (refer to Note 2 (c) (ii)). 

There were no other additions or disposals from right-of-use assets in the year ending 31 December 2019.
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b) Amounts recognised in profit or loss 

2020 2019

Interest on lease liabilities 3,377 3,493

Expenses related to short-term leases and leases of low-value assets 465 400

Total 3,842 4,393

c) Amounts recognised in cash flow 

2020 2019

Lease payments under IFRS 16 – for the principal portion of the lease liability 1,480 4,982

Lease payments under IFRS 16 – for the interest portion of lease liability* 3,377 498

Total cash outflow for leases 4,857 5,480

* In 2019, significant part of lease agreements relates to finance lease of coal mining deposits and related property from 
Palivový kombinát Ústí, státní podnik. Lease contracts of Vršanská uhelná a.s. and Coal Services a.s. terminate as at 31 December 2068, lease 
contracts of Severní energetická a.s. terminate as at 31 December 2032. As a result of the lease periods, part of the lease interest charged to 
current year profit or loss is capitalized to the principal portion of the lease liability.

d) Lease liabilities

As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, lease liabilities related to the right-of-use assets were payable as follows:

2020 2020 2020 2019 2019 2019

Future 
minimum 

lease 
payments

Interest

Present 
value of 

minimum 
lease 

payments

Future 
minimum 

lease 
payments

Interest

Present 
value of 

minimum 
lease 

payments

Less than 1 year 5,678 429 5,249 5,673 472 5,201

Between 1 and 5 years 22,553 9,331 13,222 22,666 9,319 13,347

More than 5 years 164,115 87,470 76,645 174,346 94,189 80,157

Total interest-bearing liabilities 192,346 97,230 95,116 202,685 103,980 98,705

Fair value of lease liabilities amounts to TEUR 94,524 (2019: TEUR 98,081).

Leases as lessor

During the year ended 31 December 2020, TEUR 202 (2019: TEUR 14) was recognised as a revenue and TEUR 494 

(2019: TEUR 1,916) was recognised as an income in profit or loss in respect of operating leases. Leases where the Group is the 

lessor are primarily leases of cars and other equipment. All the vehicles are insured and the Group could repossess vehicles in 

case of lessee default, i.e. the Group is not exposed to any significant unmanaged risks.

As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, the future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable leases were receivable as follows:

2020 2020 2020 2019 2019 2019

Future 
minimum 

lease 
payments

Interest

Present 
value of 

minimum 
lease 

payments

Future 
minimum 

lease 
payments

Interest

Present 
value of 

minimum 
lease 

payments

Less than 1 year 172 35 137 294 35 259

Between 1 and 5 years 370 38 332 533 49 484

More than 5 years -- -- -- -- -- --

Total 542 73 469 827 84 743
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32 CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS

Guarantees

In favour of Guarantor Amount Currency Due date

Ministry of Finance of the Czech Republic REKULTIVACE a.s. 9,211 TCZK 31. 12. 2021

Ministry of Finance of the Czech Republic REKULTIVACE a.s. 3,793 TCZK 31. 12. 2021

Ministry of Finance of the Czech Republic REKULTIVACE a.s. 5,382 TCZK 31. 12. 2021

Ministry of Finance of the Czech Republic REKULTIVACE a.s. 140 TCZK 31. 12. 2021

Ministry of Finance of the Czech Republic REKULTIVACE a.s. 4,425 TCZK 31. 12. 2021

Ministry of Finance of the Czech Republic REKULTIVACE a.s. 451 TCZK 02. 02. 2022

Ministry of Finance of the Czech Republic REKULTIVACE a.s. 198 TCZK 02. 02. 2022

Uniper Global Commodities SE Sev.en Commodities AG 5,000 TEUR 31. 01. 2022

EDF Trading Limited Sev.en Commodities AG 5,000 TEUR 30. 11. 2021

RWE Supply & Trading GmbH Sev.en Commodities AG 4,000 TEUR 30. 11. 2021

APCS Power Cl. And S. AG Sev.en Commodities AG 450 TEUR 31. 03. 2022

TenneT TSO Sev.en Commodities AG 375 TEUR 01. 12. 2023

OTE, a.s Sev.en Commodities AG 5,525 TEUR 28. 02. 2022

ČEZ, a.s. 1) multiple joint guarantors 95,256 TEUR 30. 11. 2023

financing bank 2) Sev.en Energy AG 15,813 TEUR 25. 05. 2037

Freepoint Commodities Europe LLP Sev.en EC, a.s. 1,000 TEUR 31. 12. 2021

REKULTIVACE a.s. has obtained bank guarantees in favour of the Ministry of Finance of the Czech Republic in connection with 

restoration engagements. Sev.en Commodities AG and Sev.en EC, a.s. have obtained bank guarantees in favour of various 

counterparties in connection with commodity trading. 

1)  As part of the acquisition of Elektrárna Počerady, a.s. by Vršanská uhelná a.s. on 31 December 2020 Sev.en Commodities 

AG and Indoverse (Czech) Coal Investments Limited became joint co-guarantors for the payment of the acquisition 

price of TEUR 95,256 (MCZK 2,500) for Elektrárna Počerady, a.s. that is due on 30 November 2023 should the acquirer, 

Vršanská uhelná a.s., not settle any portion of the consideration to the seller, ČEZ, a.s. This guarantee is offset by the fact 

that ČEZ, a.s. sells to Sev.en Commodities AG in the years 2021-2023 emission allowances to cover the approximate annual 

production of the Počerady power station but the emission allowances for the year 2023 will not be delivered until after 

the acquisition price is paid by Vršanká uhelná a.s. for the Počerady power station (or by the guarantors), i.e. the emission 

allowances serve as collateral. This collateral requires Sev.en Commodities AG in the event that the price of emission 

allowances on commodity exchanges in the 12 month period before 30 November 2023 due date of acquisition falls below 

TEUR 95,256 to provide additional security to ČEZ, a.s. (for example in the forms of collateral or bank guarantees).

2)  Represents guarantee of Sev.en Energy AG in favour of a bank that provided a loan to Sev.en Zeta a.s., a 100% owned 

subsidiary of Sev.en Energy AG. The guarantee is in the amount of the loan provided of TCZK 415,000 (TEUR 15,813 as of 

31 December 2020) based on the loan agreement from 19 June 2020.
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33 RELATED PARTIES

a) Compensation of key management personnel

Key management personnel compensation comprised:

2020 2019

Short-term employee benefits 479 440

Wages and salaries 1,326 1,241

Compulsory social security contributions 142 56

Other personnel expenses 15 7

Total 1,962 1,744

Key management personnel compensation consisted only of short-term employee benefits and associated taxes. There are no 

post-employment benefits, long term benefits, termination benefits nor share based payment schemes concluded.

b) Other related party transactions

All transactions with related parties (associates, joint-ventures and non-consolidated entities) were carried out based on the 

arm’s length principle. Transactions between the Group and related parties that occurred in the period are stated below:

 i) Sales and purchases – related parties

2020 2019

Revenue 5 8

Purchases of services, materials and consumables (209) --

Other operating income -- --

Other operating expense -- --

Finance income 4,259 917

Finance costs (6,133) (6,095)

Total (2,078) (5,170)

 ii) Receivables and payables – related parties

2020 2019

Trade and other receivables -- --

Trade and other payables 336 21,039

Total 336 21,039

 iii) Provided loans – related parties

2020 2019

Non-current loans provided to related parties 96,080 23,715

Current loans provided to related parties 17,704 --

Total 113,784 23,715

 iv) Interest-bearing financial liabilities – related parties

2020 2019

Non-current loans from related parties 129,442 106,791

Current loans from related parties 52,920 94,992

Total 182,362 201,783
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34 LITIGATIONS

In 2009 – 2020 the Group‘s entities were sued by third parties for various business reasons. All the litigations concluded in the 

Group’s favour. Only the following litigations were pending at the date of preparation of the financial statements.

a) KRÁLOVOPOLSKÁ RIA, a.s. vs Elektrárna Chvaletice a.s. 

On 9 January 2019, KRÁLOVOPOLSKÁ RIA, a.s. („KP RIA“) commenced with the International Court of Arbitration with the 

International Chamber of Commerce in Paris („ICC“) arbitrary proceedings claiming the payment of an amount TEUR 3,810 

(TCZK 100,000) with accessions, as part of the requested payment from the terminated contract for work – renovation of two 

blocks (B3 and B4) of the Chvaletice power plant. Elektrárna Chvaletice rejects the claim. 

On 15 April 2020 a third party acquired specific claims of KP RIA from bankruptcy proceedings (“New Claimant”). 

On 25 June 2020 the New Claimant has withdrawn the original claim filed with the ICC for TCZK 100,000 and instead 

on 26 June 2020 filed a new claim relating to the terminated contract for work and is claiming MCZK 1,236 from 

Elektrárna Chvaletice a.s. On 27 August 2020 Elektrárna Chvaletice a.s. made a submission to the ICC rejecting all claims of 

New Claimant. Between the June 26 2020 filing of the claim and the date of these financial statements both parties have made 

multiple submissions of documentation supporting their positions. Given that as of the date of these financial statements no 

decision was made by the arbiter the Group has no indication of a risk of future payouts to the claimant and therefore has not 

created any provision as of 31 December 2020. 

In connection with the disputed contract for work Elektrárna Chvaletice a.s. received from a guaranteeing bank compensation 

of TEUR 3,688 (TCZK 93,700) on 13 March 2019 which was accounted for as income of the year ended 31 December 2019. 

On 30 June 2020 the appeals court ruled in favour of the guaranteeing bank and cancelled the compensation payment of 

TEUR 3,688 (TCZK 93,700) plus interest and on 30 September 2020 Elektrárna Chvaletice a.s. returned to the bank an amount 

of TEUR 4,380 (TCZK 111,300). As no provision existed as of 31 December 2019, the return of the compensation represents an 

expense of the year ended 31 December 2020. The Group has filed an appeal on 24 November 2020 but as of the date of these 

financial statements no court ruling has been made.
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35 OTHER FACTS AND EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE 

a) Impact of Covid-19 

In 2021, as in the previous year, measures are in place to counter the spread of the Covid-19 pandemic. In addition to the 

general measures, internal measures have been adopted to ensure that the impact on the Group’s operation is minimal. 

Particular attention was focused on key staff such as the operators of power plants and other highly specialised employees.

The Group maintains sufficient levels of inventory in case of disruptions to supply chains as well as sufficient cash reserve to 

react to emerging issues as well as respond to market fluctuations.

The relevant levels of management within the Group actively monitor the development of the situation, the credit position of 

key business partners and customers and coordinate measures as required. 

The Group has not utilized any significant assistance or subsidies from the state other than minor compensation such as 

reimbursements for mandatory testing. 

As the operations of the Group are a component of the key state infrastructure the Group does not consider the likely 

development of the Covid-19 pandemic and associated governmental responses to represent a threat to the Company’s ability 

to continue as a going concern.

b) Subsequent events

Loans

As at 6 January 2021, the Group received a loan of TEUR 20,000 from a third party. The loan is payable as at 31 December 2022.

On 10 February 2021 the Group concluded a TERM FACILITY AGREEMENT (“Term Facility”) with an external bank for an 

amount of up to TUSD 100,000 (TEUR 82,466 using the exchange rate as of 10 February 2021). On 17 February 2021 the Group 

has drawn TUSD 42,707 (TEUR 35,415). The final maturity of the loan is within 1 year of its conclusion. The Term Facility contains 

several protective rights and limitations for the borrowers (such as limitation to make distributions if these would result in an 

inability to repay the borrowed funds). 

On 19 February 2021 a Group company concluded a 1 year overdraft facility (“Overdraft”) with a financing bank in the total 

amount of TCZK 500,000 (TEUR 19,264 translated by daily foreign exchange rate of the loan drawing of 22 February 2021).

The loan is payable as at 9 February 2022 and secured by a guarantee from Sev.en Energy AG in the amount of TCZK 500,000 

(TEUR 19,264).

On 30 April 2021 the maturity of the loan provided to Related party #2 (see Note 17) was prolonged to 31 December 2021.

On 17 May 2021 Related party #4 (see Note 17) has drawn the remaining TUSD 4,000 (TEUR 3,294 translated by the daily foreign 

exchange rate of that date) of the provided TUSD 90,000 (TEUR 74,118 translated by the 17 May 2021 exchange rate) term loan. 

As at 4 June 2021, the Group has concluded a new term loan with Third Party #7 in the amount of TCZK 1,410,000 (TEUR 55,414 

translated by the daily foreign exchange rate of 4 June 2021) and final maturity of 15 November 2026. During June 2021 in 

several drawings the Group has utilized TCZK 1,408,618 (TEUR 55,489 using the daily foreign exchange rates of the individual 

drawings) from this term loan and fully repaid the loan of Third Party #6.

On 9 June 2021 the Overdraft concluded on 19 February 2021 was increased to TCZK 1,000,000 (TEUR 39,409 using 

the exchange rate as of 9 June 2021) and the guarantee issued by Sev.en Energy AG was correspondingly increased to 

TCZK 1,000,000 (TEUR 39,409 using the exchange rate as of 9 June 2021). 

On 19 August 2021 the Overdraft originally concluded on 19 February 2021 was increased to TCZK 1,500,000 (TEUR 58,824 

using the exchange rate as of 19 August 2021) and the guarantee issued by Sev.en Energy AG was correspondingly increased 

to TCZK 1,500,000 (TEUR 58,824 using the exchange rate as of 19 August 2021) and extended till 20 August 2026. The debtor 

was changed from Sev.en Zeta a.s. to Sev.en Gamma a.s., the interest rate was reduced to 1M PRIBOR + 4,3% p.a. and the final 

maturity of the loan was increased to 20 August 2025.

On 20 August 2021 the maturity of the loan from Related Party #9 (see Note 27) has been extended to 30 June 2023. All other 

terms of the loan remain unchanged.

107Sev.en Energy AG Consolidated annual report of Sev.en Energy AG for the year ended 31 December 2020 (in thousands of EUR)



Group changes

On 11 February 2021 a new Group company, Ceilis Investments Limited, was incorporated in Cyprus. The share capital of the 

company as of the date of these consolidated financial statements is TCZK 524,513 (TEUR 20,015). The company did not carry 

out any independent business activity by the date of issueance of these consoliated financial statements. 

On 30 April 2021 Sev.en Energy AG sold its share in Sev.en Lambda Anstalt to 7 International Anstalt for TEUR 30.

On 17 May 2021 the Company sold its share in Sev.en Innovations a.s. to 7 Innovations Anstalt for CZK 1 (EUR 0.04).

Bank guarantees

On 29 March 2023 the Group obtained a bank guarantee amounting to TEUR 816 provided in connection with electricity 

trading in favour of Amprion which is in effect until 31 March 2024.

No indicators for events or conditions exist that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going 

concern. Management has assessed that it is appropriate to prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis. 

Group’s management also considers the development of the prices of key commodities, in particular electric energy end 

emission allowances, after 31 December 2020 to represent a non-adjusting subsequent event that does not require any 

adjustment in the financial statements as of 31 December 2020.

Other than above, the Company’s management is not aware of any other events that have occurred since the reporting date 

that would have any material impact on the financial statements as at 31 December 2020.
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Report of the Statutory Auditor on the Consolidated Financial Statements to the General Meeting 
of Shareholders of 
 
Sev.en Energy AG, Schaan 

As statutory auditor, we have audited the consolidated financial statements (consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of financial position, consolidated 
statement of changes in equity, consolidated statement of cash flows and notes; pages 12 to 
108) and the consolidated management report (pages 4 to 7) of Sev.en Energy AG for year 
ended 31 December 2020. 
 
These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the board of directors. Our 
responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our 
audit. We confirm that we meet the legal requirements concerning professional qualification and 
independence. 
 
Our audit was conducted in accordance with auditing standards promulgated by the 
Liechtenstein profession, which require that an audit be planned and performed to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements and the 
consolidated management report are free from material misstatement. We have examined on a 
test basis evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial 
statements. We have also assessed the accounting principles used, significant estimates made 
and the overall consolidated financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit 
provides a reasonable basis for our opinion. 
 
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial 
position, the results of operations and the cash flows in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as endorsed by the European Union (EU) and the additional 
requirements pursuant to Article 17a of the Ordinance to the Liechtenstein Persons and 
Company Act (PGR). Furthermore, the consolidated financial statements and the consolidated 
management report comply with Liechtenstein law and the company's articles of incorporation. 
 
The consolidated management report is consistent with the consolidated financial statements. 
In our opinion, the consolidated management report does not include material misleading 
information. 
 
We recommend that the consolidated financial statements submitted to you be approved. 
 
KPMG (Liechtenstein) AG 

Lars Klossack Benjamin Marte 
Chartered Accountant Chartered Accountant  
Auditor in Charge 

Vaduz, 30 August 2021 
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